
1 
 

 
BRUNSWICK TOWN COUNCIL 

Agenda 
June 6, 2016 

7:00 P.M. 
Council Chambers 

Town Hall 
85 Union Street 

 
Roll Call of Members 
 
Acknowledgement of Meeting Notice 
 
Pledge of Allegiance 
 
Adjustments to Agenda 
 
CONSENT AGENDA 

a) Approval of the Minutes of May 12, 2016 
b) Approval of the Minutes of May 16, 2016 
c) Approval of the Minutes of May 26, 2016 
d) Approval of a tax abatement relative to personal property for B & L Hardwood Floors 

 
Public Comments 
 
Correspondence 
 
COMMITTEE REPORTS 

• Bicycle and Pedestrian Advisory Committee 
• Brunswick Development Corporation 
• Human Rights Task Force 
• Recycling & Sustainability Committee 
• Rivers and Coastal Waters Commission 

 
MANAGER’S REPORT 
a) Bowdoin College - President Clayton Rose  
b) Project Tracking Report 
c) Election reminder for June 14th Primary and School Budget Validation Referendum 
d) School Project update 
e) Report on Pleasant Street traffic signals 
 
  



2 
 

 
PUBLIC HEARING 
 
65. The Town Council will hear public comments on special amusement license applications, 

and will take any appropriate action.  (Manager)  
 
Special Amusement 
MCM Corp     Fernando Saldano 
D/B/A: Pancho Villa 
164 Pleasant Street 
 
Lemongrass     Hung Alan Hoang 
D/B/A: Lemongrass 
212E Maine Street 

HEARING/ACTION 
 
66. The Town Council will hear public comments on amendments to the Zoning Ordinance 

relative to Chapter Four (Development Review), Sections 401 (Applicability) and 402 
(Development Review Classifications and Thresholds to Require Review of Filling and 
Earthmoving Activities within the NRPZ) on an emergency and regular basis, in addition 
to repealing the Moratorium on New Development in the Natural Resource Protection 
Zone as part of this public hearing, and will take any appropriate action. (Planning Board)   

HEARING/ACTION 
 
TABLED ITEM 
 
57. The Town Council will consider “A Resolution Expressing the Town Council’s Support 

for the Maine Department of Transportation’s Proposal to Replace the Frank J. Wood 
Bridge”, and will take any appropriate action.  (Manager)   

ACTION 
NEW BUSINESS 
 
67. The Town Council will consider adopting “An Ordinance Authorizing the Removal and 

Replacement of Exterior Trim Elements of the Brunswick Town Hall, with Total Project 
Costs Not to Exceed $200,000 (plus any other costs authorized hereunder), and Further 
Authorizing Issuance of Bonds and Notes in an Amount not to Exceed $200,000 (plus 
cost of issuance), plus any Additional Appropriation Authorized Hereunder,” and will 
take any appropriate action.  (Manager)    

ACTION 
 
68. The Town Council will consider setting a public hearing for June 20, 2016, on an 

amendment to the “First Amendment for the Brunswick Landing II Omnibus Municipal 
Development and Tax Increment Financing District,” and will take any appropriate 
action.  (Manager) 

ACTION 
 



3 
 

69. The Town Council will consider setting a public hearing for June 20, 2016, on an 
amendment to the “First Amendment for the Brunswick Executive Airport II Omnibus 
Municipal Development and Tax Increment Financing District,” and will take any 
appropriate action.  (Manager) 

ACTION 
 
70. The Town Council will hear information regarding the MRRA Credit Enhancement 

Agreement (CEA), and may take action at the June 20, 2016 meeting. (Manager) 
DISCUSSION 

 
71. The Town Council will consider appointments to the Town’s Boards and Committees, 

and will take any appropriate action.  (Appointments Committee) 
ACTION 

 
INDIVIDUALS NEEDING AUXILIARY AIDS FOR EFFECTIVE 

COMMUNICATION SHOULD CONTACT  
THE TOWN MANAGER’S OFFICE AT 725-6659 (TDD 725-5521) 

  



4 
 

Brunswick Town Council 
Agenda  

June 6, 2016 
Council Notes and Suggested Motions 

 
CONSENT AGENDA 

a) Approval of the Minutes of May 12, 2016:  A copy of the minutes is included in your 
packet. 

b) Approval of the Minutes of May 16, 2016:  A copy of the minutes is included in your 
packet. 

c) Approval of the Minutes of May 26, 2016:  A copy of the minutes is included in your 
packet. 

d) Approval of a tax abatement relative to personal property for B & L Hardwood Floors:  
This item is for the Council to approve a tax abatement for personal property assessed in 
error.  A copy of a memo from the Assessor is included in your packet. 

 
The Council has the option to remove any item from the Consent Agenda to be considered 
separately. 
 

Suggested motion: 
Motion to approve the Consent Agenda 

 
Public Comments 
 
COMMITTEE REPORTS 

• Bicycle and Pedestrian Advisory Committee 
• Brunswick Development Corporation 
• Human Rights Task Force 
• Recycling & Sustainability Committee 
• Rivers and Coastal Waters Commission 

 
Councilors representing the Council on the above committees that have recently met will 
provide brief updates.  If there are any Committee updates beyond those listed, Councilors 
may also share them with the Council and public. 
 
MANAGER’S REPORT 
 
A copy of a memo from Manager Eldridge providing an overview of the Manager’s Report is 
included in your packet. 
 

a) Bowdoin College -  President Clayton Rose:  President Rose will address the Council to 
discuss his first year at Bowdoin College and update the Council on what has been 
happening. 

  



5 
 

 
b) Project Tracking Report:  The Council will receive this monthly report on projects being 

tracked.  There has also been a desire to hold a workshop on the projects.  We are 
suggesting June 23rd, to be preceded by the year-end special meeting.  A copy of the 
project list is included in your packet. 

 
c) Election reminder for June 14th Primary and School Budget Validation Referendum:  

Absentee ballots are available in the Town Clerk’s office until Thursday, June 9th.  On 
Thursday, the office will be open until 7:00 p.m.  (Normal hours are 8:30 a.m. to 4:30 
p.m.) On June 14th the polls are open 7:00 a.m. to 8:00 p.m. at the Junior High School, 65 
Columbia Avenue.  There are two local questions on the ballot - one to vote on the school 
budget and the other to ask voters if they wish to continue or discontinue the referendum 
for at least the next three years.  

 
d) School Project update:  This item is to update the Council and public on the status of the 

proposed new school.  The School Board voted on May 24th to seek additional 
information from the architect.  With the time needed to receive information, there will 
not be adequate time to have all information prepared for a vote on the new school this 
November.  Additional timeframes will be forthcoming this summer. 

 
e) Report on Pleasant Street traffic signals:  This item is in response to a request from 

Councilor Perreault for additional information on the timing at the Pleasant Street traffic 
signals.  A copy of a memo with the summary information is included in your packet. 

 
PUBLIC HEARING 
 
65. This item is the required public hearing on special amusement license applications for 

Pancho Villa and Lemongrass.  Pancho Villa is requesting live bands and DJs. 
Lemongrass would like to have live soft music for special occasions such as private 
birthday parties.  Personal property taxes for both applicants are paid in full. Copies of 
the public hearing notice and the applications are included in your packet. 
 
Suggested motion: 
Motion to approve special amusement license applications for Pancho Villa, located at 
164 Pleasant Street and Lemongrass, located at 212E Maine Street. 

 
66. This item, sponsored by the Planning Board, is the required public hearing on proposed 

amendments to address State shoreland zoning requirements not included in the Zoning 
Ordinance.  The Council adopted an emergency moratorium preventing any development 
in the NRPZ so that the Planning Board and staff could develop amendments to bring the 
Zoning Ordinance into compliance with the State requirements.  After two workshops, 
the Planning Board approved the amendments being proposed.  With pending projects 
stalled by the moratorium, the Council in the public hearing notice advertised that the 
amendment be enacted on both an emergency and regular basis, so action can be taken on 
the 6th to repeal the moratorium and enact the amendments.  There is one additional step 
that needs to take place with the Zoning amendments after they are adopted, which is to 



6 
 

get approval from the DEP.  The repealing of the moratorium would be effective once 
that approval occurs.  Should DEP not approve the amendments, the moratorium may 
need to be extended.  Copies of an updated memo from the Planning Department, the 
emergency moratorium, the draft amendments, and a presentation are included in your 
packet. 

 
Suggested Motion: 

 
Option for the Council if they choose to vote this evening - suggested motion:  
Motion to suspend the Council Rules to allow the Council to vote on this item at this 
meeting. 

 
Suggested motion:  
Motion to adopt amendments to the Zoning Ordinance relative to Chapter Four 
(Development Review), Sections 401 (Applicability) and 402 (Development Review 
Classifications and Thresholds to Require Review of Filling and Earthmoving Activities 
within the NRPZ), on an emergency and regular basis, and to repeal the Moratorium on 
New Development in the Natural Resource Protection Zone.  Both sections of this motion 
will be effective immediately upon the approval of the Zoning ordinance changes by the 
Department of Environmental Protection as required by state law. 

 
TABLED ITEM 
 
57. This item, tabled at your last meeting, comes back for the Council to consider adopting a 

resolution regarding the Frank J. Wood Bridge.  After public outreach on the proposed 
bridge replacement, it was thought that the two towns may wish to go on record in 
support of MDOT’s recommendation.  It was also suggested that there be a joint design 
advisory committee to work with MDOT to incorporate enhancements and minor 
modifications to the design.  The resolution will be to support the MDOT’s selected 
option, with modifications as worked out by the design advisory committee and MDOT.  
There have been changes to the original draft resolution.  In particular, the draft in your 
packet adds an expression of the Town’s desire to be named as a “consulting party” in the 
process referred to as the Section 106 historic preservation review, required for projects 
that receive federal funding.  Copies of a memo from Manager Eldridge, the draft 
resolution and information on Section 106 are included in your packet. 

 
Suggested motion: 
Motion to adopt the revised “Resolution Expressing the Town Council’s Support for the 
Maine Department of Transportation’s Proposal to Replace the Frank J. Wood Bridge.” 

 
NEW BUSINESS 
 
67. This item comes back to the Council after the required public hearing held at the last 

meeting.  It is to consider adopting on “An Ordinance Authorizing the Removal and 
Replacement of Exterior Trim Elements of the Brunswick Town Hall, with Total Project 
Costs Not to Exceed $200,000 (plus any other costs authorized hereunder), and Further 



7 
 

Authorizing Issuance of Bonds and Notes in an Amount not to Exceed $200,000 (plus 
cost of issuance), plus any Additional Appropriation Authorized Hereunder.”  At the time 
the Town acquired the McLellan Building from Bowdoin College, it was clear that the 
Town would need to address the building’s trim, as most of it was, and remains, in poor 
condition.  In 2014, to better assess the potential cost of replacing the trim and repairing 
the damage, the trim on two first floor windows was replaced.  The wood was replaced 
with a composite material.  During installation, water damage and rot were discovered 
behind the trim, necessitating additional repairs to the sheathing and vapor barrier.  
Warren Construction Group, LLC (Warren Construction), replaced the window trim and 
developed a specification for repairing the other windows.  At this time staff is 
recommending this repair work be done this year, and be done through a bond ordinance.  
Copies of a memo from Manager Eldridge, a cost estimate draft ordinance, and photos 
are included in your packet. 

 
Suggested motion: 
Motion to adopt “An Ordinance Authorizing the Removal and Replacement of Exterior 
Trim Elements of the Brunswick Town Hall, with Total Project Costs Not to Exceed 
$200,000 (plus any other costs authorized hereunder), and Further Authorizing Issuance 
of Bonds and Notes in an Amount not to Exceed $200,000 (plus cost of issuance), plus 
any Additional Appropriation Authorized Hereunder.” 

 
68. This item is for the Council to consider setting a public hearing for June 20, 2016, on 

amendments to the “First Amendment for the Brunswick Landing II Omnibus Municipal 
Development and Tax Increment Financing District.” There is an extensive packet of 
information on this item.  The packet pages are numbered.  The relevant documents and 
corresponding page numbers can be found in the memo that starts on the first page of the 
TIF packet. Copies of information for items 68, 69 and 70 are combined in your packet. 

 
Suggested motion: 
Motion to set a public hearing for June 20, 2016, on amendments to the “First 
Amendment for the Brunswick Landing II Omnibus Municipal Development and Tax 
Increment Financing District.” 

 
69. This item is for the Council to consider setting a public hearing for June 20, 2016, on 

amendments to the “First Amendment for the Brunswick Executive Airport II Omnibus 
Municipal Development and Tax Increment Financing District.”  There is an extensive 
packet of information on this item.  The packet pages are numbered.  The relevant 
documents and corresponding page numbers can be found in the memo that starts on the 
first page of the TIF packet.  Copies of information for items 68, 69 and 70 are combined 
in your packet. 

 
Suggested motion: 
Motion to set a public hearing for June 20, 2016, on amendments to the “First 
Amendment for the Brunswick Executive Airport II Omnibus Municipal Development 
and Tax Increment Financing District,”  

  



8 
 

 
70. This item is for the Council to hear information regarding changes to the MRRA Credit 

Enhancement Agreement (CEA).  There will be no action this evening, but it will come 
back at the June 20th meeting for adoption.  There is an extensive packet of information 
on this item.  The packet pages are numbered.  The relevant documents and 
corresponding page numbers can be found in the memo that starts on the first page of the 
TIF packet. Copies of information for items 68, 69 and 70 are combined in your packet. 

 
Suggested motion: 
There is no motion required for this item at this meeting. 

 
71. At this time the Appointments Committee will make nominations to fill vacancies on 

Town Boards and Committees.  Copies of the Committee’s report and the applications 
are included in your packet. 

 
Suggested Motion: 
Nominations will be made, with no seconds required, and the Council will then vote on 
the nominations. 
 
Suggested Motion: 

 Motion to adjourn the meeting. 
 



 
 

 
CONSENT AGENDA - A 
BACK UP MATERIALS 



Draft 
BRUNSWICK TOWN COUNCIL 

Minutes – Special Meeting 
Budget Hearing 

May 12, 2016 
7:00 P.M. 

Council Chambers 
Town Hall 

85 Union Street 
 
Councilors Present: W. David Watson, Suzan Wilson, John M. Perreault, Daniel E. Harris, 

Jane F. Millett, Sarah E. Brayman, Kathy Wilson and Alison Harris 
 
Councilors Absent:  Stephen S. Walker 
 
Town Staff Present: John S. Eldridge, III, Town Manager; Fran Smith, Town Clerk; Derek 

Scrapchansky, Assistant Town Manager; Julia Henze, Finance Director; 
Tom Farrell, Parks and Recreation Director; Ken Brillant, Fire Chief; John 
Foster, Public Works Director; Richard Rizzo, Police Chief; Paul 
Perzanoski, Superintendent of Schools; Pender Makin, Assistant 
Superintendent of Schools; James Oikle, School Department Business 
Manager; Terry Goan, Police Officer; and TV video crew 

 
Chair Brayman called the meeting to order, asked for roll call, and acknowledged that the 
meeting was properly noticed. 
 
Chair Brayman led the Pledge of Allegiance.  
 
Adjustments to the Agenda None 
 
PUBLIC HEARINGS 
 
52. The Town Council will hear public comments regarding the proposed 2016-2017 

Municipal Budget, which includes the school budget portion of the overall 
municipal budget, and Capital Improvement Plan 2017-2021, and will take any 
appropriate action.  (Manager) 

 
Chair Brayman opened the public hearing. 
 
Manager Eldridge and Paul Perzanoski made a presentation on the proposed budget. 
 
The following people spoke on this item: 

• Richard Fisco, 2 Lincoln Street 
• Liz Doucett, Director of the Curtis Memorial Library 
• Jean Powers, 40 Redwood Lane 

 



Town Council Minutes 
May 12, 2016 
Page 2 
 
Chair Brayman closed the public hearing. 
 
Councilor Millett, Councilor K. Wilson, Chair Brayman, and Councilor S. Wilson spoke 
regarding this item. 
 
Councilor Perreault and Councilor Millett asked questions, to which Manager Eldridge 
responded. 
 
Councilor Watson moved, Councilor A. Harris seconded, to adjourn the meeting.  The 
motion carried with eight (8) yeas. 
 
The meeting adjourned at 7:35 p.m. 
 
PLEASE NOTE:  THESE MINUTES ARE ACTION MINUTES.  THE ENTIRE 
MEETING CAN BE VIEWED AT WWW.BRUNSWICKME.ORG.  
 
 
 
Frances M. Smith 
Town Clerk 
May 15, 2016 
 

June 6, 2016 
Date of Approval 

 
___________________________ 

Council Chair 
 



 
 

CONSENT AGENDA - B 
BACK UP MATERIALS 
 



Draft 
BRUNSWICK TOWN COUNCIL 

Minutes 
May 16, 2016 

7:00 P.M. 
Council Chambers 

Town Hall 
85 Union Street 

 
Councilors Present: W. David Watson, Stephen S. Walker, Suzan Wilson, John M. Perreault, 

Jane F. Millett, Sarah E. Brayman, Kathy Wilson, and Alison Harris 
 
Councilors Absent: Councilor Daniel E. Harris 
 
Town Staff Present: John S. Eldridge, III, Town Manager; Fran Smith, Town Clerk; Derek 

Scrapchansky, Assistant Town Manager; Linda Smith, Business 
Development Manager; John Foster, Public Works Director; Tom Farrell, 
Parks and Recreation Director; Jeff Hutchinson, Codes Enforcement Officer; 
Jared Woolston, Town Planner; Marc Hagan, Police Commander; Aaron 
Bailey, Police Officer; and TV video crew 

 
Chair Brayman called the meeting to order, asked for roll call, and acknowledged that the meeting 
was properly noticed. 
 
Chair Brayman led the Pledge of Allegiance.  
 
Adjustments to Agenda:  None 
 
CONSENT AGENDA  (This item was discussed at 7:02 p.m.)     
a) Approval of the minutes of May 2, 2016 
b) Approval of a tax abatement relative to a property identified as Map 4 Lot 37 
c) Approval of a tax abatement relative to personal property for Belle Fete LLC 
d) Approval of a request from the Brunswick Downtown Association to hold their annual 

Outdoor Arts Festival on August 20, 2016, and to waive the $500 fee  
e) Approval of a request from Brunswick Downtown Association to hold a Community 

Barbecue on the Town Mall on June 25, 2016, and to waive the $500 fee 
 
Councilor Perreault moved, Councilor Millett seconded, to approve the Consent Agenda.  
The motion carried with eight (8) yeas. 
 
(A copy of materials for CA-b, CA-c, CA-d, and CA-e will be attached the official minutes.) 
 
Public Comments  (This item was discussed at 7:04 p.m.)   
 
Stephen Loebs, 25 Monument Lane, spoke regarding his positive experience with the Planning 
Department when building his new home.   
 
(A copy of Mr. Loebs’ statement will be attached the official minutes.) 
 
Tasha Connors, Memorial Day Parade Committee Chair, spoke regarding the upcoming Memorial 
Day Parade. 



 

Town Council Minutes 
May 16, 2016 
Page 2 
 

 

Correspondence:  (This item was discussed at 7:11 p.m.)  
 
Councilor Perreault spoke regarding his conversation with a resident about how tree cutting 
contracts for Town trees are awarded.  Tom Farrell, Parks and Recreation Director, responded.  
Councilor Perreault also said he received complaints about traffic signals on Pleasant Street being 
on red even when there is no traffic coming from the other direction. He also apologized to Jean 
Powers for forgetting to bring her email that he told her he would read at this meeting. 
 
Chair Brayman read an email from a resident who would like to see vehicle registration reminders 
once again be mailed out. 
 
COMMITTEE REPORTS (This item was discussed at 7:20 p.m.)  

• Cable TV Committee 
• MPIC 
• Teen Center Advisory Committee 

 
Reports were given on the above committees. 
 
MANAGER’S REPORT 
a) Financial update (This item was discussed at 7:25 p.m.)     
 
Manager Eldridge provided this update. 
 
b) Revaluation update (This item was discussed at 7:26 p.m.)     
 
Manager Eldridge provided this update. 
 
c) Update on the Maine Natural Gas rate case (This item was discussed at 7:28 p.m.)     
 
Manager Eldridge provided this update. 
 
d) Special Permit for Wildflours Gluten-Free Bakery  (This item was discussed at 7:31 p.m.)     
 
Manager Eldridge provided this update. 
 
Councilor K. Wilson spoke regarding this item. 
 
(A copy of a memo and the Special Permit will be attached to the official minutes.) 
 
e) (ADDED) Internet sales exchange area available at the Police Station (This item was 

discussed at 7:32 p.m.)   
 
Marc Hagan, Police Commander, spoke regarding this item. 
  



 

Town Council Minutes 
May 16, 2016 
Page 3 
 

 

PUBLIC HEARING 
 
53. The Town Council will hear public comments on a special amusement license 

application, and will take any appropriate action.  (Manager)  (This item was discussed 
at 7:34 p.m.)     
Special Amusement 
BATS LLC     Timothy Troy Kavanaugh 
D/B/A: McAvoy’s On The Green 
165 River Road 

 
Chair Brayman opened the public hearing. 
 
Fran Smith, Town Clerk, spoke on this item, and responded to a question from Councilor Perreault.  
 
Chair Brayman closed the public hearing. 
 
Councilor Perreault moved, Councilor Millett seconded, to approve a special amusement 
license application for McAvoy’s On The Green, located at 165 River Road.  The motion 
carried with eight (8) yeas. 
 
54. The Town Council will hear public comments for “An Ordinance Authorizing the 

Removal and Replacement of Exterior Trim Elements of the Brunswick Town Hall, 
with Total Project Costs Not to Exceed $200,000 (plus any other costs authorized 
hereunder), and Further Authorizing Issuance of Bonds and Notes in an Amount not 
to Exceed $200,000 (plus cost of issuance), plus any Additional Appropriation 
Authorized Hereunder,” and will take any appropriate action.  (Manager)   (This item 
was discussed at 7:40 p.m.)     

 
Chair Brayman opened the public hearing. 
 
Manager Eldridge introduced this item and responded to questions from Councilor Millett.  
 
Councilor Perreault disclosed that he might be bidding on this project. 
 
Chair Brayman closed the public hearing. 
 
Councilor S. Wilson moved, Councilor Millett seconded, to suspend the Council Rules to 
allow the Council to vote on this item at this meeting.  The motion received five (5) yeas. 
Councilor Walker, Councilor Perreault, and Chair Brayman were opposed.  Since the yeas 
were not 2/3 of the Council, the motion failed. 
 
NEW BUSINESS 
 

55. The Town Council will consider recommendations from the Nathaniel Davis 
Fund Committee, and will take any appropriate action. (Manager)  (This item 
was discussed at 7:45 p.m.)     



 

Town Council Minutes 
May 16, 2016 
Page 4 
 

 

John Donovan, Chair of the Davis Fund Committee, made this presentation, and responded to 
questions from Councilor Perreault. 
 
Councilor Millett spoke regarding this item.  
 
Councilor Perreault moved, Councilor Millett seconded, to accept the recommendations 
for the Davis Fund’s 2015-2016 allocations as recommended by the Committee.  The 
motion carried with eight (8) yeas. 
 
(A copy of the committee minutes with recommendations will be attached to the official minutes.) 
 
56. The Town Council will consider setting a public hearing for June 6, 2016, on 

amendments to the Zoning Ordinance relative to Chapter Four (Development 
Review), Sections 401 (Applicability) and 402 (Development Review Classifications 
and Thresholds to Require Review of Filling and Earthmoving Activities within the 
NRPZ) on an emergency and regular basis, in addition to repealing the Moratorium 
on New Development in the Natural Resource Protection Zone as part of this public 
hearing, and will take any appropriate action. (Planning Board)  (This item was 
discussed at 7:55 p.m.)     

 
Manager Eldridge introduced this item. 
 
Jared Woolston, Town Planner, made a presentation regarding this item.  He responded to 
questions from Councilor Walker, Councilor Millett, Councilor Perreault, Councilor S. Wilson, and 
Chair Brayman. 
 
Manager Eldridge spoke regarding this item. 
 
Councilor Perreault, Councilor Walker, and Councilor S. Wilson spoke regarding this item. 
 
Jeff Hutchinson, Codes Officer, responded to questions from Councilor Millett and Councilor 
Walker. 
 
Bruce Myer, 521Gurnet Road, spoke regarding this item. 
 
MOTION: 
Councilor Perreault moved,  Councilor Watson seconded, to set a public hearing for June 6, 
2016, on amendments to the Zoning Ordinance relative to Chapter Four (Development 
Review), Sections 401 (Applicability) and 402 (Development Review Classifications and 
Thresholds to Require Review of Filling and Earthmoving Activities within the NRPZ), on an 
emergency and regular basis, and to repeal the Moratorium on New Development in the 
Natural Resource Protection Zone as part of this public hearing. 
 
Councilor Perreault and Councilor Millett spoke regarding the motion. 
 
 



 

Town Council Minutes 
May 16, 2016 
Page 5 
 

 

VOTE ON MOTION: 
Councilor Perreault moved, Councilor Watson seconded, to set a public hearing for June 6, 
2016, on amendments to the Zoning Ordinance relative to Chapter Four (Development 
Review), Sections 401 (Applicability) and 402 (Development Review Classifications and 
Thresholds to Require Review of Filling and Earthmoving Activities within the NRPZ), on an 
emergency and regular basis, and to repeal the Moratorium on New Development in the 
Natural Resource Protection Zone as part of this public hearing.  The motion carried with 
eight (8) yeas. 
 
57. The Town Council will consider “A Resolution Expressing the Town Council’s 

Support for the Maine Department of Transportation’s Proposal to Replace the 
Frank J. Wood Bridge,” and will take any appropriate action.  (Manager)  (This item 
was discussed at 9:06 p.m.)     

 
Manager Eldridge introduced this item and responded to questions from Councilor Walker and 
Councilor Watson.  
 
Councilor A. Harris, Councilor S. Wilson, and Councilor Perreault spoke regarding this item. 
 
Councilor Millett moved, Councilor A. Harris seconded, to adopt “A Resolution Expressing 
the Town Council’s Support for the Maine Department of Transportation’s Proposal to 
Replace the Frank J. Wood Bridge.”  (No vote taken as tabling motion put forth.) 
 
Councilor A. Harris, Councilor S. Wilson, and Councilor Perreault spoke regarding this item. 
 
Public comments: 
James Phinney Baxter White, Bridge Street, Topsham 
Bruce Myer, 521 Gurnet Road (A copy of his statement will be attached to the official 
minutes.) 
George Gilmore, Middle Bay Road 
Richard Fisco, 2 Lincoln Street 
Cathy Lamb, 331 Bunganuc Road 
Steve Stern, 295 Bunganuc Road 
 
Chair Brayman moved, Councilor Watson seconded, to table this item until the next 
meeting on June 6th. 
 
Chair Brayman, Councilor Walker, Councilor Millett, Councilor S. Wilson, and Councilor 
Perreault spoke to the tabling motion. 
 
VOTE ON TABLING MOTION: 
Chair Brayman moved, Councilor Watson seconded, to table this item until the next 
meeting on June 6th.  The motion carried with seven (7) yeas.  Councilor K. Wilson was 
opposed. 
 
 



 

Town Council Minutes 
May 16, 2016 
Page 6 
 

 

58. The Town Council will discuss the Municipal Budget and provide direction as to 
the final budget goal, and no action will be required. (Manager) (This item was 
discussed at 9:56 p.m.)  

 
Manager Eldridge made a presentation on where the budget is and responded to a question from 
Councilor Perreault. 
 
Councilor S. Wilson asked questions, to which Julie Henze responded. 
 
Councilor Millett, Councilor K. Wilson, Councilor Perreault, Councilor Walker, Councilor S. 
Wilson, Chair Brayman, and Councilor A. Harris spoke regarding this item. 
 
Manager Eldridge spoke and responded to questions from Councilor Watson.  
 
Public comments: 
Richard Fisco, 2 Lincoln Street 
 
Councilor Millett moved, Councilor K. Wilson seconded, to reduce the School Department’s 
budget an additional $85,000,  to be used to reduce the tax rate. 
 
Councilor Watson, Councilor Millett, Councilor K. Wilson, and Councilor Perreault spoke on the 
motion. 
 
VOTE: 
Councilor Millett moved, Councilor K. Wilson seconded, to reduce the School Department’s 
budget an additional $85,000, to be used to reduce the tax rate.  The motion carried with six 
(6) yeas.  Councilor Watson and Councilor Perreault were opposed. 
 
Councilor Watson moved, Councilor Walker seconded, to adjourn the meeting.  The motion 
carried with eight (8) yeas. 
 
The meeting adjourned at 10:36 p.m. 
 
PLEASE NOTE:  THESE MINUTES ARE ACTION MINUTES.  THE ENTIRE MEETING 
CAN BE VIEWED AT WWW.BRUNSWICKME.ORG.  
 
 
 
Frances M. Smith 
Town Clerk 
May 18, 2016 
 

June 6, 2016 
Date of Approval 

 



 

Town Council Minutes 
May 16, 2016 
Page 7 
 

 

___________________________ 
Council Chair 

 



 
 

 
CONSENT AGENDA - C 
BACK UP MATERIALS 



Draft 
BRUNSWICK TOWN COUNCIL 

Special Meeting Agenda 
May 26, 2016 

7:00 P.M. 
Council Chambers 

Town Hall 
85 Union Street 

 
Councilors Present: W. David Watson, Stephen S. Walker, Suzan Wilson, John M. Perreault, 

Daniel E. Harris, Jane F. Millett, Sarah E. Brayman, Kathy Wilson and 
Alison Harris 

 
Councilors Absent: None 
 
School Board Members Present: Richard P. Ellis, Brenda D. Clough, Teresa V. Gillis, Janet 

C. Connors, Joy Y. Prescott, and William H. Thompson  
 
Town Staff Present: John S. Eldridge, III, Town Manager; Fran Smith, Town Clerk; Derek 

Scrapchansky, Assistant Town Manager; Julie Henze, Finance Director; 
James Oikle, Business Manager of School Department; Richard Rizzo, 
Police Chief; Paul Perzanoski, Superintendent of Schools; Tom Farrell, 
Parks and Recreation Director; Terry Goan, Police Officer; and TV video 
crew. 

 
Chair Brayman called the meeting to order, asked the Town Clerk for roll call, and acknowledged 
that the meeting was properly noticed. 
 
Chair Brayman led the Pledge of Allegiance.  
 
Adjustments  
 
Chair Brayman wished to have the Council discuss the school budget prior to voting on the 
articles under item 59. 
 
Councilor Perreault moved, Councilor Watson seconded, to return the $85.000.00 that the 
Council had removed from the school budget. 
 
Councilor Millett spoke regarding this motion and her motion at the last meeting.  
 
All Councilors spoke regarding the motion.   
 
Public Comments: 
Richard Fisco, 2 Lincoln Street 
Jean Powers, 3 Redwood Lane 
Alan Yuodsnukis, 21 Peary Drive 
Brenda Clough, School Board member 
  



Town Council Minutes 
May 26, 2016 
Page 2 
 

 

Vote on motion: 
Councilor Perreault moved, Councilor Watson seconded, to return the $85.000.00 that the 
Council had removed from the school budget. The motion carried with five (5) yeas.  
Councilor Walker, Councilor S. Wilson, Councilor K. Wilson and Councilor A. Harris were 
opposed. 
 
NEW BUSINESS ITEMS: 
 
59. The Town Council will consider adopting the 2016-2017 School Budget Articles, and 

will take any appropriate action.  (Manager) 
 
Manager Eldridge introduced this item and read each article prior to a vote.   
 
REGION TEN TECHNICAL HIGH SCHOOL AND MERRYMEETING ADULT 
EDUCATION BUDGET ARTICLES 
 
ARTICLE 1.  Region Ten Technical High School Budget.   
Chair Brayman moved, Councilor Walker seconded, to approve the Region Ten Technical 
High School budget as proposed by the Cooperative Board of Region Ten in an amount not 
to exceed $2,232,068 with Brunswick’s assessment as part of the total appropriation to the 
Brunswick School Department being an amount not to exceed $832,627 for operating 
expenditures and $0 for debt service expenditures.  The motion carried with nine (9) yeas. 
 
ARTICLE 2.  Merrymeeting Adult Education Budget.   
Councilor Walker moved, Councilor A. Harris seconded, to approve the Merrymeeting 
Adult Education budget in an amount not to exceed $723,708 with Brunswick’s assessment 
as part of the total appropriation to the Brunswick School Department not to exceed 
$111,555.  The motion carried with nine (9) yeas. 
 
K-12 ARTICLES 
 
ARTICLE 3.  Local Contribution Required under EPS to Receive Full State Dollars; and 
State Subsidy.   
Councilor Walker moved, Councilor Perreault seconded, as part of the total appropriation 
to the Brunswick School Department:  To appropriate the sum of $27,604,006 toward the 
total cost of funding public education from kindergarten to grade 12 as described in the 
Essential Programs and Services Funding Act; and as part of the $27,604,006 to raise the 
sum of $16,627,943 as the Town’s contribution toward the total cost of funding public 
education from kindergarten to grade 12 as described in the Essential Programs and 
Services Funding Act in accordance with the Maine Revised Statutes, Title 20-A, section 
15688; and as part of the $27,604,006 to accept state subsidy anticipated in the amount of 
$10,976,063.  The motion carried with nine (9) yeas. 
 
ARTICLE 4.  Non-State-Funded Debt Service.   
Councilor Walker moved, Chair Brayman seconded, as part of the total appropriation to 
the Brunswick School Department:  To appropriate the sum of $198,250 and to raise the 
sum of $198,250 for the annual payments on debt service previously approved by the 



Town Council Minutes 
May 26, 2016 
Page 3 
 

 

legislative body for non-state-funded school construction projects, non-state-funded 
portions of school construction projects in addition to the funds appropriated as the local 
share of the school administrative unit’s contribution to the total cost of funding public 
education from kindergarten to grade 12.  The motion carried with nine (9) yeas.   
 
ARTICLE 5.  Additional Local Funds.   
Councilor Walker moved, Councilor Perreault seconded, as part of the total appropriation 
to the Brunswick School Department:  To raise and appropriate the sum of $6,946,023 in 
additional local funds, which exceeds the State’s Essential Programs and Services allocation 
model by $6,357,577.  The School Board recommends $6,946,023 in additional local funds 
which amount exceeds the State’s Essential Programs and Services allocation model by 
$6,357,577 for the following reasons:  The State’s EPS allocation in Transportation, 
Facilities Maintenance, Special Education, Extra-Curricular and Co-Curricular programs 
and instructional staffing are inadequate to fully fund the 2016-17 program approved by 
the school board in the proposed budget.  The motion carried with eight (8) yeas.  Councilor 
Watson was opposed. 
 
ARTICLE 6.  Other Funds.   
Councilor Walker moved, Councilor Perreault seconded, as part of the total appropriation 
to the Brunswick School Department:  To accept funds from other sources as estimated 
below and to appropriate the amount of $146,339.   
 
Tuition and other charges         83,339 
Miscellaneous          63,000 
                 $   146,339 
The motion carried with nine (9) yeas. 
 
ARTICLE 7.  Unexpended Balances.   
Councilor Millett moved, Councilor Perreault seconded, as part of the total appropriation 
to the Brunswick School Department:  To appropriate $2,599,363 from the existing, or 
estimated, unexpended balances of the Brunswick School Department.  Total to appropriate 
$2,599,363.  The motion carried with nine (9) yeas.  
 
Paul Perzanoski, Superintendent of Schools, responded to questions from Councilor Watson. 
 
ARTICLE 8.  Kindergarten to Grade 12 total Budget.   
Chair Brayman moved, Councilor Walker seconded, to authorize the Brunswick School 
Department to expend $37,493,981 for the fiscal year beginning July 1, 2016 and ending 
June 30, 2017 from the school administrative unit’s contribution to the total cost of funding 
public education from kindergarten to grade 12 as described in the Essential Programs and 
Services Funding Act, non-state-funded school construction projects, additional local funds 
for school purposes under the Maine Revised Statutes title 20-A section 15690, unexpended 
balances, tuition receipts, state subsidy, and other receipts for the support of schools.  The 
motion carried with nine (9) yeas. 
 
ADULT EDUCATION AND FOOD SERVICE 
 



Town Council Minutes 
May 26, 2016 
Page 4 
 

 

ARTICLE 9.  Adult Education.   
Councilor Walker moved, Councilor Perreault seconded, as part of the total appropriation 
to the Brunswick School Department:  To raise and appropriate $111,555 for adult 
education; with authorization to expend the herein appropriated $111,555 and any 
additional, incidental, or miscellaneous receipts in the interest and for the well-being of the 
adult education program.  The motion carried with nine (9) yeas. 
 
ARTICLE 10.  Food Service.   
Chair Brayman moved, Councilor K. Wilson seconded, as part of the total appropriation to 
the Brunswick School Department:  To raise and appropriate the sum of $90,000 in 
additional local dollars in support of the Brunswick School Nutrition Program, and to 
authorize expenditure of the herein appropriated $90,000 for the stated purpose. The 
motion carried with nine (9) yeas. 
 
ARTICLE 11.  Cost Center Allocation.  
Councilor Perreault moved, Councilor Walker seconded, pursuant to 20-A M.R.S.A., to 
authorize allocation of the school budget, $37,695,536 to the various cost centers as 
recommended by the Brunswick School Board May 25, 2016 as follows: 
 
Cost Center Summary   Amount Recommended by  Approved by 
Council 
Budget Category                       School Board   May 26, 2016 
 
Regular Instruction    $     16,235,966  $ 16,235,966  
Special Education    $       5,079,301  $   5,079,301 
Career and Technical Education  $          832,627  $      832,627 
Other Instruction    $          777,449  $      777,449 
Student and staff support   $       3,546,705  $   3,546,705 
System Administration   $          945,297  $      945,297 
School Administration   $       1,564,840  $   1,564,840 
Transportation and Buses   $       1,898,703  $   1,898,703 
Facilities Maintenance   $       4,925,581  $   4,925,581 
Debt Service and Other Commitments $       1,687,512  $   1,687,512 
Other      $                     0                       $                 0 
Total to June 14 Public Referendum  $     37,493,981  $ 37,493,981 
 
Food Service                  $            90,000  $        90,000 
Adult Education    $ 111,555  $      111,555 
 
Summary of Total Expenditures voted                 
By School Board May 25, 2016  $     37,695,536  $ 37,695,536 
 
The motion carried with eight (8) yeas.  Councilor Watson was opposed. 
 
Manager Eldridge responded to questions from Councilor Perreault and Councilor Watson. 
 
GRANTS, DONATIONS, AND OTHER REVENUES ARTICLE 



Town Council Minutes 
May 26, 2016 
Page 5 
 

 

 
ARTICLE 12.  Grants, Donations, and other revenues.   
Councilor Walker moved, Chair Brayman seconded, to authorize the Brunswick School 
Department to make application for grants and other revenues as opportunities may 
become available, to appropriate such revenues to the purpose for which received, and to 
authorize the Brunswick School Department to accept and expend any grant awards, 
donations, or other revenues that may be received.  The motion carried with nine (9) yeas. 
 
(A copy of the Articles, along with a signed Cost Center summary, will be attached to the official 
minutes.) 
 
60. The Town Council will consider a warrant for the School Budget Validation 

Referendum to be held on June 14, 2016, and will take any appropriate action. 
(Manager) 

 
Manager Eldridge introduced this item. 
 
Chair Brayman moved, Councilor Perreault seconded, to approve the Election Warrant for 
the School Budget Validation Referendum to be held on June 14, 2016.  The motion carried 
with nine (9) yeas. 
 
(A copy of the Warrant for the election will be attached to the official minutes.) 
 
61. The Town Council will consider adopting the “Budget Resolution for the July 1, 2016 

– June 30, 2017 Fiscal Year,” and will take any appropriate action. (Manager) 
 
Manager Eldridge introduced this item. 
 
Julie Henze, Finance Director, answered a question from Councilor Watson. 
 
Chair Brayman moved, Councilor Perreault seconded, to adopt the “Budget Resolution for 
the July 1, 2016 – June 30, 2017 Fiscal Year.”  The motion carried with eight (8) yeas. 
Councilor Watson was opposed. 
 
(A copy of the adopted resolution will be attached to the official minutes.) 
 
62. The Town Council will consider adopting the “Resolution for the Capital 

Improvements Program For the Fiscal Years Ending June 30, 2017 - 2021,” and will 
take any appropriate action.  (Manager) 

 
Manager Eldridge introduced this item.  
 
Councilor Millett moved, Councilor Walker seconded, to adopt the “Resolution for the 
Capital Improvements Program For the Fiscal Years Ending June 30, 2017 – 2021.”  The 
motion carried with nine (9) yeas. 
 
(A copy of the adopted resolution and CIP plan will be attached to the official minutes.) 



Town Council Minutes 
May 26, 2016 
Page 6 
 

 

 
63. The Town Council will consider adopting the “Supplemental Budget Resolution 

Appropriating $40,000 from the Unassigned Balance of the General Fund to Fund 
Capital Projects,” and will take any appropriate action. (Manager) 

 
Manager Eldridge introduced this item.  
 
Ms. Henze responded to questions from Councilor Perreault. 
 
Councilor Perreault, Councilor S. Wilson, and Councilor Watson spoke regarding this item. 
 
Councilor Walker moved, Councilor Watson seconded, to adopt the “Supplemental Budget 
Resolution Appropriating $40,000 from the Unassigned Balance of the General Fund to 
Fund Capital Projects.” The motion carried with seven (7) yeas.  Councilor Perreault and 
Councilor D. Harris were opposed. 
 
(A copy of the adopted resolution will be attached to the official minutes.) 
 
64. The Town Council will consider any other matters related to the adoption of the 

2016-2017 Budget and will take any appropriate action. (Manager)  
 
There were none. 
 
Councilor Watson moved, Councilor K. Wilson seconded, to adjourn the meeting.  The 
motion carried with nine (9) yeas.   
 
The meeting adjourned at 8:25 p.m. 
 
PLEASE NOTE:  THESE MINUTES ARE ACTION MINUTES.  THE ENTIRE 
MEETING CAN BE VIEWED AT WWW.BRUNSWICKME.ORG.  
 
 
Frances M. Smith 
Town Clerk 
May 28, 2016 
 

June 6, 2016 
Date of Approval 

 

___________________________ 
Council Chair 

 
 

 



 
 

 
CONSENT AGENDA - D 
BACK UP MATERIALS 





 

 

 

MANAGER’S REPORT 

MEMO 



Town of Brunswick, Maine 
	

OFFICE	OF	THE	TOWN	MANAGER	
	

O:\Council\Council	By	Year\Council	2016\Memo	Manager's	Report	060616.docx	

MEMORANDUM	
	
TO:	 Town	Council	
	
FROM:	 John	Eldridge	
	 Town	Manager	
	
DATE:	 June	1,	2016	
	
SUBJECT:	 Town	Manager’s	Report	(a)	–	(d)	
	
	
Below	is	a	brief	summary	of	items	included	in	the	June	6,	2016	Manager’s	Report.	
	
Clayton	Rose,	President	of	Bowdoin	College	(a)	
	
Bowdoin	College	President	Clayton	Rose	will	address	the	Council.		He	is	expected	to	speak	for	15‐20	
minutes.		President	Rose	is	nearing	completion	of	his	first	year	as	president	of	the	College.	
	
Project	Tracking	Report	(b)	
	
The	report,	tracking	the	projects	deemed	of	interest	to	the	Town	Council,	is	included	in	the	packet.		
The	“current	update”	field	identifies	the	last	activity	on	the	project.		The	Council	has	discussed	the	
desire	to	have	a	workshop	to	review	and	prioritize	these	projects.		June	23rd	has	been	suggested	as	
a	date	for	this	workshop.		Staff	would	also	like	the	Council	to	consider	a	workshop	to	discuss	
coordination	of	various	projects	among	Town	committees.	
	
Election	Reminder	–	June	14th	(c)	
	
This	is	to	remind	the	public	and	the	Town	Council	that	the	school	budget	validation	referendum	will	
be	held	on	Tuesday,	June	14th	in	conjunction	with	the	primary	election.		There	is	one	polling	place	
for	all	districts	–	the	Brunswick	Junior	High	School.		Polls	are	open	on	Tuesday,	June	14th	from	
7:00	AM	to	8:00	PM.			
	
In	addition	to	the	school	budget	validation	referendum,	voters	will	be	asked	a	second	school	related	
question	‐	whether	voters	wish	to	continue	the	school	budget	validation	referendum	process	for	an	
additional	three	years.	
	
School	Project	Update	(d)	
	
On	May	24th,	the	School	Department	directed	Portland	Design	Team	(PDT	)	to	respond	to	several	
requests.		PDT	indicated	that	it	would	need	5‐6	weeks	to	respond,	meaning	that	responses	are	not	
expected	until	late	June	or	early	July.		Given	the	nature	of	the	questions	and	requests,	there	will	not	
be	a	bond	referendum	this	November.		We	expect	the	School	Department	will	update	its	anticipated	
schedule	sometime	this	summer.	



MANAGER’S REPORT - A 
NO BACK UP MATERIALS 



 
 

 
MANAGER’S REPORT - B 
BACK UP MATERIALS 
 



T
ow

n	
of
	B
ru
ns
w
ic
k	
‐	O
pe
n	
Pr
oj
ec
ts
	(
Co
un
ci
l)

Ta
sk

 T
itl

e
Cl

as
s

Pr
io

rit
y

St
at

us
D

es
cr

ip
tio

n

Ca
pi

ta
l I

m
pr

ov
em

en
t P

la
n 

20
16

-2
01

7
91

Cu
rr

en
t U

pd
at

e:

CI
P 

de
liv

er
ed

 to
 T

ow
n 

Co
un

ci
l. 

 C
IP

 p
re

se
nt

at
io

n.
Co

un
ci

l a
do

pt
io

n 
M

ay
 2

6,
 2

01
6

Fi
na

l d
oc

um
en

t b
ei

ng
 p

rin
te

d

5/
27

/2
01

6

1 
- 

M
aj

or
0 

- 
Re

qu
ire

d
In

 P
ro

gr
es

s
Ad

op
t 2

01
6-

17
 C

IP

Co
m

m
en

ts
:

3/
21

/1
6 

 C
IP

 d
el

iv
er

ed
 to

 T
ow

n 
Co

un
ci

l 
M

un
ic

ip
al

 C
IP

 p
ro

je
ct

s 
ha

ve
 b

ee
n 

re
vi

ew
ed

 b
y 

Fi
na

nc
e 

Co
m

m
itt

ee
.

5/
12

/1
6 

Pu
bl

ic
 H

ea
rin

g;
 5

/2
6/

16
 A

do
pt

io
n

M
un

ic
ip

al
 B

ud
ge

t 2
01

6-
20

17
92

Cu
rr

en
t U

pd
at

e:

Co
un

ci
l a

do
pt

io
n 

M
ay

 2
6,

 2
01

6;
 S

ch
oo

l b
ud

ge
t v

al
id

at
io

n 
re

fe
re

nd
um

 Ju
ne

 1
4,

 2
01

6

5/
27

/2
01

6

1 
- 

M
aj

or
0 

- 
Re

qu
ire

d
In

 P
ro

gr
es

s
Ad

op
t 2

01
6-

17
 M

un
ic

ip
al

 B
ud

ge
t

Co
m

m
en

ts
:

Se
e 

at
ta

ch
ed

 b
ud

ge
t s

ch
ed

ul
e 

an
d 

do
cu

m
en

ts
.

Zo
ni

ng
 O

rd
in

an
ce

 R
e-

w
rit

e
7

Cu
rr

en
t U

pd
at

e:

ZO
RC

 d
ra

ft 
to

 P
la

nn
in

g 
Bo

ar
d 

on
 Ju

ne
 1

4t
h.

  E
xp

ec
te

d 
re

vi
ew

 
tim

e 
2 

m
on

th
s.

6/
1/

20
16

1 
- 

M
aj

or
2 

- 
H

ig
h

In
 P

ro
gr

es
s

Re
-w

rit
e 

of
 Z

on
in

g 
O

rd
in

an
ce

Co
m

m
en

ts
:

Se
e 

pr
oj

ec
t t

im
el

in
e.

M
RR

A
 T

ax
 A

pp
ea

l
2

Cu
rr

en
t U

pd
at

e:

TI
F 

am
en

dm
en

ts
 s

en
t t

o 
D

EC
D

 fo
r r

ev
ie

w
.

CE
A 

in
 d

ra
ft 

fo
rm

; I
te

m
 fo

r 6
/6

/1
6 

Co
un

ci
l m

tg
, t

o 
be

 a
pp

ro
ve

d 
in

 c
on

ju
nc

tio
n 

w
ith

 D
ev

el
op

m
en

t P
ro

gr
am

 A
m

en
dm

en
ts5/

27
/2

01
6

1 
- 

M
aj

or
2 

- 
H

ig
h

In
 P

ro
gr

es
s

M
RR

A 
Ta

x 
Ap

pe
al

 C
as

e 

Co
m

m
en

ts
:

Se
tt

le
m

en
t R

ea
ch

ed
.  

Im
pl

em
en

t v
ia

 n
ew

 D
ev

el
op

m
en

t 
Pr

og
ra

m
s

N
ee

d 
to

 s
ch

ed
ul

e 
PH

 o
n 

pr
og

ra
m

 a
m

en
dm

en
ts

.
N

eg
ot

ia
te

 th
e 

cr
ed

it 
en

ha
nc

em
en

t a
gr

ee
m

en
t.

6/
2/

20
16

 1
2:

04
:0

1 
PM

Pa
ge

 1
 o

f 1
3



Ta
sk

 T
itl

e
Cl

as
s

Pr
io

rit
y

St
at

us
D

es
cr

ip
tio

n

G
ra

ha
m

 R
oa

d 
La

nd
fil

l
4

Cu
rr

en
t U

pd
at

e:

Co
m

pl
et

io
n 

of
 s

ol
id

 w
as

te
 a

lte
rn

at
iv

es
 re

po
rt

 fr
om

 W
oo

da
rd

 a
nd

 
Cu

rr
an

 a
w

ai
tin

g 
re

sp
on

se
 fr

om
 M

D
EP

.  
Co

nv
er

sa
tio

ns
 o

n-
go

in
g 

w
ith

 M
D

EP
.

4/
28

/2
01

6

1 
- 

M
aj

or
2 

- 
H

ig
h

In
 P

ro
gr

es
s

So
lid

 W
as

te
 C

om
m

itt
ee

 R
ev

ie
w

 o
f L

an
df

ill
 O

pt
io

ns
So

lid
 W

as
te

 P
la

n 
st

ar
t d

at
e

Co
m

m
en

ts
:

So
lid

 W
as

te
 C

om
m

itt
ee

 P
la

n 
to

 R
em

ai
n 

O
pe

n 
or

 C
lo

se
Le

gi
sl

at
io

n 
pa

ss
ed

 e
xt

en
di

ng
 re

im
bu

rs
em

en
t w

in
do

w

St
at

e 
Re

vo
lv

in
g 

Lo
an

 F
un

d
11
7

Cu
rr

en
t U

pd
at

e:

O
rd

in
an

ce
 a

do
pt

ed
 3

/2
1/

16
.

M
M

BB
 a

pp
lic

at
io

n 
ap

pr
ov

ed
.

Lo
an

 c
lo

si
ng

 s
ch

ed
ul

ed
 fo

r J
ul

y,
 2

01
6

5/
27

/2
01

6

1 
- 

M
aj

or
2 

- 
H

ig
h

In
 P

ro
gr

es
s

Fu
nd

 Im
pr

ov
em

en
ts

 a
t J

un
io

r H
ig

h 
an

d 
Co

ffi
n 

Sc
ho

ol
s

Co
m

m
en

ts
:

D
O

E 
ha

s 
ap

pr
ov

ed
 B

ru
ns

w
ic

k 
fo

r f
un

di
ng

.
Br

un
sw

ic
k 

ha
s 

no
tif

ie
d 

M
M

BB
 a

nd
 n

ee
ds

 to
 fi

le
 a

n 
ap

pl
ic

at
io

n
Sc

ho
ol

 B
oa

rd
 a

pp
ro

ve
d 

pr
oj

ec
ts

 a
nd

 b
or

ro
w

in
g

Bo
rr

ow
in

g 
O

rd
in

an
ce

 M
us

t B
e 

Ad
op

te
d 

by
 T

ow
n 

Co
un

ci
l -

 
sc

he
du

le
 fo

r 3
/7

/1
6.

So
la

r I
ns

ta
lla

tio
n 

at
 R

ec
 C

en
te

r
32

Cu
rr

en
t U

pd
at

e:

N
ew

 p
ric

in
g 

re
ce

iv
ed

 o
n 

3/
2.

  E
va

lu
at

in
g.

Co
m

pl
ic

at
io

ns
 w

ith
 ro

of
 m

ou
nt

in
g 

de
si

gn
 h

av
e 

fo
rc

ed
 

re
ev

al
ua

tio
n.

  S
ch

ed
ul

in
g 

w
ill

 n
ow

 b
e 

di
ffi

cu
lt 

fo
r r

oo
fe

rs
.

4/
28

/2
01

6

1 
- 

M
aj

or
2 

- 
H

ig
h

O
n 

H
ol

d
Ex

pl
or

e 
So

la
r I

ns
ta

lla
tio

n 
at

 R
ec

re
at

io
n 

Ce
nt

er

Co
m

m
en

ts
:

Se
e 

at
ta

ch
ed

 m
em

os
 a

nd
 G

an
tt

 c
ha

rt
.

Se
e 

at
ta

ch
ed

 p
ro

je
ct

 d
et

ai
ls

.

6/
2/

20
16

 1
2:

04
:0

2 
PM

Pa
ge

 2
 o

f 1
3



Ta
sk

 T
itl

e
Cl

as
s

Pr
io

rit
y

St
at

us
D

es
cr

ip
tio

n

Re
va

lu
at

io
n

18

Cu
rr

en
t U

pd
at

e:

D
at

a 
Co

lle
ct

or
's

 w
or

ki
ng

 in
 th

e 
Ri

ve
r R

oa
d 

ar
ea

 5
/2

7/
20

16
N

ot
ic

e 
of

 R
ev

al
ua

tio
n 

Po
st

er
 s

ho
ul

d 
go

 u
p 

ar
ou

nd
 th

e 
fir

st
 w

ee
k 

of
 Ju

ne
.

5/
27

/2
01

6

1 
- 

M
aj

or
2 

- 
H

ig
h

In
 P

ro
gr

es
s

Co
m

m
en

ts
:

Fi
el

d 
w

or
ks

 b
eg

in
s 

w
ith

 M
ap

 1
 (R

iv
er

 R
oa

d)
 a

re
a 

4/
24

/2
01

6
Vi

de
o 

sh
ot

 fi
el

d 
w

or
k 

re
le

as
ed

 4
/2

8/
20

16
Re

va
lu

at
io

n 
da

ta
ba

se
 c

re
at

ed
 o

n 
3/

24
/2

01
6

St
ar

t U
p 

M
ee

tin
g 

Sc
he

du
le

d 
fo

r 3
/1

4/
20

16
Co

nt
ra

ct
 S

ig
ne

d 
(3

/9
/2

01
6)

Co
nt

ra
ct

 A
w

ar
de

d 
to

 K
RT

 (3
/1

/2
01

6)
Re

sp
on

se
s 

to
 R

FP
 b

ei
ng

 re
vi

ew
ed

.
RF

P 
Is

su
ed

 
In

cl
ud

ed
 in

 2
01

5-
20

16
 C

IP
Pr

ep
ar

e 
RF

P
Pr

ep
ar

e 
Bo

nd
 O

rd
in

an
ce

M
ar

e 
Br

oo
k 

W
at

er
sh

ed
 P

ro
je

ct
11
1

Cu
rr

en
t U

pd
at

e:

Co
ns

ul
ta

nt
 s

el
ec

te
d:

  F
B 

En
vi

ro
nm

en
ta

l w
/ 

St
an

te
c.

Si
x 

m
on

th
 re

po
rt

 to
 M

PA
P 

(R
ut

a 
D

en
is

) 1
2/

31
/2

01
5 

(a
tt

ac
he

d)
Te

ch
ni

ca
l A

dv
is

or
y 

Co
m

m
itt

ee
 m

ee
tin

g 
(1

 o
f 3

) 1
/2

2/
20

16
Pr

oj
ec

t w
eb

pa
ge

 c
re

at
ed

: 
ht

tp
://

w
w

w
.b

ru
ns

w
ic

km
e.

or
g/

de
pa

rt
m

en
ts

/p
la

nn
in

g-
de

ve
lo

pm
en

t/
m

bw
sa

/ 
Te

ch
ni

ca
l A

dv
is

or
y 

Co
m

m
itt

ee
 m

ee
tin

g 
(2

 o
f 3

) 4
/2

7/
20

16
D

EP
/F

B 
En

vi
ro

nm
en

ta
l/T

ow
n 

Pl
an

ne
r c

on
fe

re
nc

e 
ca

ll 
5/

13
/2

01
6

5/
28

/2
01

6

1 
- 

M
aj

or
3 

- 
N

or
m

al
In

 P
ro

gr
es

s
In

ve
st

ig
at

e 
he

al
th

 o
f i

m
pa

ire
d 

st
re

am

Co
m

m
en

ts
:

St
re

ss
or

 a
na

ly
si

s/
G

ap
 a

na
ly

si
s 

co
m

pl
et

e
Sa

m
pl

in
g 

In
sp

ec
tio

n 
Pl

an
 (S

IP
) d

ra
ft

ed
. 

St
an

te
c 

in
pu

t r
eq

ui
re

d 
pr

io
r t

o 
fin

al
iz

in
g 

SI
P 

fo
r T

AC
 re

vi
ew

. 
6/

1/
20

16
Pu

bl
ic

 m
ee

tin
g 

to
 b

e 
sc

he
du

le
d 

af
te

r S
IP

 fi
na

liz
ed

.
D

EP
 to

 p
er

fo
rm

 fi
el

d 
as

se
ss

m
en

t i
n 

co
nj

un
ct

io
n 

w
ith

 
FB

/S
ta

nt
ec

.  
D

EP
 w

ill
 c

on
st

ru
ct

 b
ug

 e
nc

lo
su

re
s 

an
d 

to
w

n 
st

af
f m

ay
 a

ss
is

t 
w

ith
 B

ow
do

in
 fe

llo
w

 in
 c

on
st

ru
ct

in
g 

en
cl

os
ur

es
, a

nd
 

m
on

ito
rin

g 
en

cl
os

ur
es

 in
-s

tr
ea

m
 fo

r 7
-1

0 
da

ys
.

6/
2/

20
16

 1
2:

04
:0

2 
PM

Pa
ge

 3
 o

f 1
3



Ta
sk

 T
itl

e
Cl

as
s

Pr
io

rit
y

St
at

us
D

es
cr

ip
tio

n

Ce
nt

ra
l F

ire
 S

ta
tio

n
95

Cu
rr

en
t U

pd
at

e:

N
ee

d 
to

 re
vi

ew
 o

pt
io

ns
 to

 s
ite

 n
ew

 s
ta

tio
n 

pe
r C

IP

5/
9/

20
16

1 
- 

M
aj

or
3 

- 
N

or
m

al
Re

qu
es

te
d

Re
vi

ew
 O

pt
io

ns
 fo

r N
ew

 S
ta

tio
n

Co
m

m
en

ts
:

N
ee

d 
to

 fi
nd

 a
 lo

ca
tio

n 
fo

r n
ew

 s
ta

tio
n.

Pa
ra

pe
t n

ee
ds

 re
pa

ir
Fl

oo
r n

ee
ds

 re
pa

ir 
(L

in
co

ln
 H

an
ey

 R
ep

or
t)

Bu
ild

in
g 

en
ve

lo
pe

 is
 le

ak
in

g

M
as

te
r P

la
n 

Im
pl

em
en

ta
tio

n 
Co

m
m

itt
ee

39

Cu
rr

en
t U

pd
at

e:

Se
e 

M
PI

C 
m

ee
tin

g 
m

in
ut

es
 fo

r d
et

ai
ls

.

3/
1/

20
16

1 
- 

M
aj

or
3 

- 
N

or
m

al
In

 P
ro

gr
es

s
Im

pl
em

en
t D

ow
nt

ow
n 

an
d 

Pl
ea

sa
nt

 S
tr

ee
t M

as
te

r 
Pl

an

Co
m

m
en

ts
:

Se
e 

M
as

te
r P

la
n 

Ti
m

el
in

e
Re

vi
ew

 F
un

di
ng

 O
pp

or
tu

ni
tie

s
Ph

as
e 

as
 a

pp
ro

pr
ia

te

Co
ok

's
 C

or
ne

r R
oa

d 
Im

pr
ov

em
en

ts
 

an
d 

TI
F

3

Cu
rr

en
t U

pd
at

e:

Pl
an

ni
ng

 to
 m

ee
t w

ith
 k

ey
 p

ro
pe

rt
y 

ow
ne

rs
.

Pr
op

er
ty

 s
ol

d 
to

 K
at

z.
  P

re
lim

in
ar

y 
co

nv
er

sa
tio

ns
 a

bo
ut

 
im

pr
ov

em
en

ts
 a

t C
oo

k'
s 

Co
rn

er
.

3/
30

/2
01

6

1 
- 

M
aj

or
5 

- 
D

ef
er

D
ef

er
re

d
Co

ok
's

 C
or

ne
r R

oa
d 

Im
pr

ov
em

en
ts

; c
on

ne
ct

io
n 

of
 

G
ur

ne
t R

d 
to

 W
al

-M
ar

t

Co
m

m
en

ts
:

Pr
ep

ar
e 

en
gi

ne
er

in
g 

an
al

ys
is

 a
nd

 c
os

t e
st

im
at

es
Co

or
di

na
te

 e
xt

in
gu

is
hm

en
t o

f c
ro

ss
 e

as
em

en
ts

D
ev

el
op

 T
IF

 fu
nd

in
g 

m
od

el
D

ev
el

op
 b

on
d 

or
di

na
nc

e

D
ef

er
re

d 
du

e 
to

 p
en

di
ng

 s
al

e 
of

 D
D

R 
pr

op
er

tie
s

6/
2/

20
16

 1
2:

04
:0

2 
PM

Pa
ge

 4
 o

f 1
3



Ta
sk

 T
itl

e
Cl

as
s

Pr
io

rit
y

St
at

us
D

es
cr

ip
tio

n

Fr
ee

po
rt

 D
is

pa
tc

h 
Co

nt
ra

ct
10
8

Cu
rr

en
t U

pd
at

e:

N
eg

ot
ia

tin
g 

co
nt

ra
ct

 e
xt

en
si

on
.

G
ra

nt
ed

 te
m

po
ra

ry
 e

xe
m

pt
io

n 
w

hi
le

 in
 n

eg
ot

ia
tio

ns
.

6/
1/

20
16

2 
- 

La
rg

e
2 

- 
H

ig
h

In
 P

ro
gr

es
s

N
eg

ot
ia

te
 a

n 
Ex

te
ns

io
n 

to
 th

e 
Co

nt
ra

ct

Co
m

m
en

ts
:

Th
e 

co
nt

ra
ct

 e
xp

ire
s 

on
 Ju

ne
 3

0,
 2

01
6.

Em
er

so
n 

St
at

io
n 

Re
pa

irs
83

Cu
rr

en
t U

pd
at

e:

W
or

k 
st

ar
te

d 
5/

23
.  

Pr
og

re
ss

in
g 

ni
ce

ly
.

6/
1/

20
16

2 
- 

La
rg

e
2 

- 
H

ig
h

In
 P

ro
gr

es
s

M
ak

e 
Im

pr
ov

em
en

ts
 to

 H
VA

C 
Sy

st
em

Co
m

m
en

ts
:

O
ue

lle
t A

ss
oc

ia
te

s 
th

e 
or

ig
in

al
 c

on
tr

ac
to

r r
ev

ie
w

ed
 a

nd
 h

ad
 

Jo
hn

so
n 

an
d 

Jo
rd

an
 th

e 
H

VA
C 

co
nt

ra
ct

or
 in

 to
 re

vi
ew

 a
ls

o.
  

Jo
hn

so
n 

an
d 

Jo
rd

an
 d

id
 m

ak
e 

so
m

e 
re

pa
irs

 o
n 

th
ei

r o
w

n.
Th

er
e 

w
as

 m
on

ey
 a

pp
ro

ve
d 

ba
se

d 
on

 th
e 

W
rig

ht
-P

ie
rc

e 
re

po
rt

.  
Th

er
e 

w
as

 a
 d

el
ay

 in
 p

ut
tin

g 
ou

t t
he

 R
FP

 u
nt

il 
O

ct
ob

er
 

of
 2

01
5.

  N
o 

RF
P'

s 
w

er
e 

re
ce

iv
ed

.  
O

n 
th

e 
To

w
n 

M
an

ag
er

s 
re

qu
es

t I
 th

en
 c

ho
se

 o
ne

 c
on

tr
ac

to
r-

 Jo
hn

so
n 

an
d 

Jo
rd

an
 to

 
co

m
e 

in
 a

nd
 s

ub
m

it 
a 

pr
op

os
al

.  
J&

J i
s 

cu
rr

en
tly

 in
 th

e 
pr

oc
es

s 
of

 p
ut

tin
g 

to
ge

th
er

 th
ei

r p
ro

po
sa

l.

M
RR

A
 T

IF
 R

eq
ue

st
s 

(C
EA

)
1

Cu
rr

en
t U

pd
at

e:

Ite
m

 o
n 

6/
6/

16
 C

ou
nc

il 
ag

en
da

 to
 s

et
 P

ub
lic

 H
ea

rin
g 

fo
r 

6/
20

/2
01

6.
 M

at
er

ia
ls

 fo
r p

ac
ke

t e
xt

en
si

ve
; i

n 
Co

m
m

on
s 

dr
iv

e 
un

de
r T

IF
 /

 Ju
ne

 6
, 2

01
6 

fo
ld

er

6/
2/

20
16

2 
- 

La
rg

e
2 

- 
H

ig
h

In
 P

ro
gr

es
s

Am
en

d 
de

ve
lo

pm
en

t p
ro

gr
am

s, 
es

ta
bl

is
h 

cr
ed

it 
en

ha
nc

em
en

t a
gr

ee
m

en
t w

ith
 M

RR
A

Co
m

m
en

ts
:

Am
en

dm
en

t o
f d

ev
el

op
m

en
t p

ro
gr

am
s 

an
d 

cr
ed

it 
en

ha
nc

em
en

t a
gr

ee
m

en
t w

ith
 M

RR
A 

ba
se

d 
on

 M
O

A
 s

ig
ne

d 
10

/7
/1

5.
To

w
n 

Co
un

ci
l a

pp
ro

va
l r

eq
ui

re
d.

  D
ev

el
op

m
en

t p
ro

gr
am

 
am

en
dm

en
t a

ls
o 

re
qu

ire
s 

D
EC

D
 a

pp
ro

va
l.

6/
2/

20
16

 1
2:

04
:0

2 
PM

Pa
ge

 5
 o

f 1
3



Ta
sk

 T
itl

e
Cl

as
s

Pr
io

rit
y

St
at

us
D

es
cr

ip
tio

n

St
re

et
lig

ht
 P

ol
ic

y 
an

d 
Re

du
ct

io
n 

Pl
an

26

Cu
rr

en
t U

pd
at

e:

D
ra

ft
 o

f s
tr

ee
t l

ig
ht

in
g 

po
lic

y 
in

 d
ev

el
op

m
en

t.

6/
1/

20
16

2 
- 

La
rg

e
2 

- 
H

ig
h

D
ef

er
re

d
D

ev
el

op
 S

tr
ee

tli
gh

t r
ed

uc
tio

n 
pl

an

Co
m

m
en

ts
:

D
ev

el
op

 s
tr

ee
t l

ig
ht

 p
ol

ic
y 

ba
se

d 
on

 tr
af

fic
 a

nd
 p

ed
es

tr
ia

n 
sa

fe
ty

.
Pr

el
im

in
ar

y 
to

 s
tr

ee
t l

ig
ht

 re
du

ct
io

n 
pl

an
. 

Su
m

m
ar

y 
of

 c
os

t/
be

ne
fit

s
Po

lic
y 

on
 p

la
ce

m
en

t o
f s

tr
ee

tli
gh

ts
Tr

ia
l s

ec
tio

ns
 o

f t
ow

n.

M
er

e 
Po

in
t W

as
te

w
at

er
 D

is
tr

ic
t

71

Cu
rr

en
t U

pd
at

e:

JA
F 

an
d 

Le
nn

y 
Bl

an
ch

et
te

, B
SD

 m
et

 w
ith

 R
ic

ha
rd

 B
ur

ns
 &

 
St

od
da

rd
 S

m
ith

 fr
om

 S
ea

Po
in

t L
an

di
ng

 o
n 

M
ay

 1
0,

 2
01

6 
an

d 
JA

F 
pr

es
en

te
d 

th
em

 w
ith

 a
 d

ra
ft

 b
ud

ge
t a

nd
 p

ro
po

se
d 

ne
w

 fe
es

 fo
r 

al
l 3

3 
us

er
s. 

 JA
F 

fo
llo

w
ed

 u
p 

an
d 

pr
ov

id
ed

 w
ha

t t
he

 e
xi

st
in

g 
an

d 
ne

w
 ra

te
s 

w
ou

ld
 b

e 
fo

r e
ac

h 
m

em
be

r. 
 T

od
d 

Sm
ith

 a
gr

ee
d 

to
 

se
nd

 o
ut

 th
e 

pr
op

os
ed

 n
ew

 ra
te

s 
al

on
g 

w
ith

 th
e 

ba
ck

 u
p 

in
fo

rm
at

io
n 

pr
ov

id
ed

 to
 a

ll 
m

em
be

rs
 fo

r r
ev

ie
w

 a
nd

 c
om

m
en

t. 
 

Ex
pe

ct
 to

 c
on

ta
ct

 T
od

d 
Sm

ith
 in

 la
st

 h
al

f o
f J

un
e 

fo
r a

n 
up

da
te

 
an

d 
to

 p
os

si
bl

y 
sc

he
du

le
 a

 p
ub

lic
 m

ee
tin

g 
w

ith
 a

ll 
m

em
be

rs
 

in
vi

te
d 

to
 a

tt
en

d.

5/
31

/2
01

6

2 
- 

La
rg

e
2 

- 
H

ig
h

In
 P

ro
gr

es
s

Ad
dr

es
s 

Se
ve

ra
l I

ss
ue

s 
Re

la
tin

g 
to

 th
e 

M
P 

W
as

te
w

at
er

 D
is

tr
ic

t

Co
m

m
en

ts
:

Re
vi

ew
 a

nn
ua

l o
pe

ra
tin

g 
co

st
s; 

au
di

t t
he

 b
ill

in
g 

un
its

; i
de

nt
ify

 
ca

pi
ta

l r
ep

la
ce

m
en

t c
os

ts
; i

de
nt

ify
 s

ol
ut

io
n 

fo
r h

ol
di

ng
 ta

nk
; 

an
d 

pr
op

os
e 

ne
w

 ra
te

s.
Ev

al
ua

te
 e

xi
st

in
g 

fie
ld

s 
an

d 
pu

m
ps

.
 2.

  F
ie

ld
 R

ep
la

ce
m

en
t

 3.
 F

ee
 C

ha
rg

e

Sh
or

el
an

d 
St

ab
ili

za
tio

n
12
6

Cu
rr

en
t U

pd
at

e:
5/

10
/2

01
6

2 
- 

La
rg

e
2 

- 
H

ig
h

Re
qu

es
te

d
D

ev
el

op
 S

ho
re

la
nd

 S
ta

bi
liz

at
io

n 
Re

gu
la

tio
ns

Co
m

m
en

ts
:

D
ev

el
op

 R
eg

ul
at

io
ns

 fo
r S

ho
re

la
nd

 S
ta

bi
liz

at
io

n 
Pr

oj
ec

t.

Ka
th

le
en

 L
ay

de
n 

M
ai

ne
 C

oa
st

al
 P

ro
gr

am
.  

G
ra

nt
 p

os
si

bi
lit

y.

6/
2/

20
16

 1
2:

04
:0

2 
PM

Pa
ge

 6
 o

f 1
3



Ta
sk

 T
itl

e
Cl

as
s

Pr
io

rit
y

St
at

us
D

es
cr

ip
tio

n

So
la

riz
e 

Br
un

sw
ic

k
60

Cu
rr

en
t U

pd
at

e:

St
af

f w
or

ki
ng

 w
ith

 R
&

S 
Co

m
m

itt
ee

 o
n 

pr
oj

ec
t c

lo
se

-o
ut

 re
po

rt
 

to
 T

ow
n 

Co
un

ci
l.

6/
2/

20
16

2 
- 

La
rg

e
2 

- 
H

ig
h

In
 P

ro
gr

es
s

D
ev

el
op

 a
nd

 im
pl

em
en

t S
ol

al
riz

e 
Br

un
sw

ic
k 

Pr
og

ra
m

Co
m

m
en

ts
:

Pr
oj

ec
t e

xc
ee

de
d 

ta
rg

et
 o

f T
ie

r 5
 2

00
 k

w
 d

is
co

un
t; 

ac
tu

al
 s

ig
n 

up
 to

 d
at

e 
=

 4
50

 k
W

. P
ro

gr
am

 e
xt

en
de

d 
to

 e
nd

 o
f M

ay
 2

01
6.

 
Re

cy
cl

in
g 

&
 S

us
ta

in
ab

ili
ty

 C
om

m
itt

ee
 C

ha
ir,

 M
ik

e 
W

ils
on

, 
re

pr
es

en
tin

g 
Br

un
sw

ic
k 

at
 M

ai
ne

 A
ss

oc
ia

tio
n 

of
 P

la
nn

er
s 

5-
20

-
20

16
 w

or
ks

ho
p.

 S
ee

 a
tt

ac
hm

en
t.

Re
ve

nu
es

 a
nd

 F
ee

s
89

Cu
rr

en
t U

pd
at

e:

Fe
e 

sc
he

du
le

 fo
rm

at
 a

pp
ro

ve
d 

by
 T

ow
n 

Co
un

ci
l N

ov
 2

01
5

A
m

bu
la

nc
e 

an
d 

Cl
er

ks
' f

ee
s 

cu
rr

en
tly

 u
nd

er
 re

vi
ew

5/
27

/2
01

6

2 
- 

La
rg

e
2 

- 
H

ig
h

In
 P

ro
gr

es
s

Re
vi

ew
 o

f A
ll 

Fe
es

 a
nd

 C
ha

rg
es

Co
m

m
en

ts
:

Re
vi

ew
 a

nd
 u

pd
at

e 
al

l f
ee

s, 
fin

es
 a

nd
 c

ha
rg

es
 in

 T
ow

n 
O

rd
in

an
ce

:
1.

  F
ire

 D
ep

t -
 u

pd
at

ed
 fe

es
 a

pp
ro

ve
d 

by
 C

ou
nc

il 
2/

1/
16

2.
  A

m
bu

la
nc

e 
fe

es
 -

 Ju
ne

 2
01

6
3.

  T
ow

n 
Cl

er
k 

- 
Ju

ly
 2

01
6

4.
  P

ub
lic

 W
or

ks
 -

 p
os

si
bl

e 
st

or
m

 d
ra

in
 c

on
ne

ct
io

n 
fe

e
5.

  C
od

es
 E

nf
or

ce
m

en
t -

 s
ch

ed
ul

e 
re

vi
ew

6.
  P

ol
ic

e 
D

ep
t -

 s
ch

ed
ul

e 
re

vi
ew

O
ce

an
 A

cc
es

s
57

Cu
rr

en
t U

pd
at

e:
1/

20
/2

01
6

2 
- 

La
rg

e
3 

- 
N

or
m

al
Re

qu
es

te
d

Ex
pl

or
e 

Ad
di

tio
na

l O
pp

or
tu

ni
tie

s 
fo

r O
ce

an
 A

cc
es

s

Co
m

m
en

ts
:

M
ul

ti-
un

it 
ap

ar
tm

en
t i

ns
pe

ct
io

ns
58

Cu
rr

en
t U

pd
at

e:

Co
nt

ac
te

d 
Bi

dd
ef

or
d 

Co
de

s 
D

ep
ar

tm
en

t. 
 T

he
y 

ha
ve

 a
 n

ew
 

po
si

tio
n 

th
at

 is
 fu

nd
ed

 th
ro

ug
h 

th
e 

bu
dg

et
.  

N
ot

hi
ng

 n
ew

 h
er

e 
in

 T
ow

n.

6/
1/

20
16

2 
- 

La
rg

e
3 

- 
N

or
m

al
D

ef
er

re
d

Ex
pl

or
e 

fe
e 

ba
se

d 
ap

ar
tm

en
t i

ns
pe

ct
io

ns
.  

D
ra

ft
 

or
di

na
nc

e.

Co
m

m
en

ts
:

In
 th

e 
qu

eu
e 

si
nc

e 
20

11
.  

Re
qu

es
t b

y 
th

e 
Co

un
ci

l t
o 

ex
pl

or
e 

m
ul

ti 
un

it 
ap

ar
tm

en
t b

ui
ld

in
g 

in
sp

ec
tio

ns
.

6/
2/

20
16

 1
2:

04
:0

2 
PM

Pa
ge

 7
 o

f 1
3



Ta
sk

 T
itl

e
Cl

as
s

Pr
io

rit
y

St
at

us
D

es
cr

ip
tio

n

PI
LO

T
12
3

Cu
rr

en
t U

pd
at

e:
5/

7/
20

16

2 
- 

La
rg

e
3 

- 
N

or
m

al
Re

qu
es

te
d

In
ve

st
ig

at
e 

PI
LO

Ts
 th

ro
ug

ho
ut

 M
ai

ne
 a

nd
 o

th
er

 
st

at
es

Co
m

m
en

ts
:

Re
vi

ew
 th

e 
us

e 
of

 P
IL

O
Ts

Re
cr

ea
tio

n 
Ce

nt
er

 Im
pr

ov
em

en
ts

10
4

Cu
rr

en
t U

pd
at

e:

Ca
pi

ta
l b

ud
ge

t i
nc

lu
de

s 
fu

nd
in

g 
fo

r p
la

nn
in

g.

6/
1/

20
16

2 
- 

La
rg

e
3 

- 
N

or
m

al
In

 D
ev

el
op

m
D

es
ig

n 
Re

cr
ea

tio
n 

Ce
nt

er
 Im

pr
ov

em
en

ts

Co
m

m
en

ts
:

Re
qu

ire
s 

ar
ch

ite
ct

 to
 d

es
ig

n 
co

de
 c

om
pl

ia
nt

 c
or

rid
or

s 
an

d 
ot

he
r b

ui
ld

in
g 

us
es

.

W
eb

si
te

 U
pg

ra
de

s
94

Cu
rr

en
t U

pd
at

e:

Re
qu

es
te

d 
no

t y
et

 a
ut

ho
riz

ed

2/
1/

20
16

2 
- 

La
rg

e
3 

- 
N

or
m

al
Re

qu
es

te
d

St
ud

y 
an

d 
M

ak
e 

Re
co

m
m

en
de

d 
Im

pr
ov

em
en

ts

Co
m

m
en

ts
:

St
ud

y 
Re

co
m

m
en

de
d 

Im
pr

ov
em

en
ts

.
So

ci
al

 M
ed

ia
Te

xt
s

N
ew

 M
ea

do
w

s 
Re

st
or

at
io

n
99

Cu
rr

en
t U

pd
at

e:

Re
ce

nt
 c

al
l f

ro
m

 A
CO

E 
as

ki
ng

 if
 B

ru
ns

w
ic

k 
w

is
he

d 
to

 s
ta

y 
on

 li
st

 
fo

r p
ot

en
tia

l f
un

di
ng

.

Se
t u

p 
m

ee
tin

g 
w

ith
 W

es
t B

at
h 

Ad
m

in
is

tr
at

or

5/
9/

20
16

2 
- 

La
rg

e
3 

- 
N

or
m

al
Re

qu
es

te
d

Re
m

ov
e 

th
e 

"d
am

" 
on

 B
at

h 
ro

ad
.  

Re
m

ov
e 

th
e 

la
ke

 
an

d 
re

st
or

e.

Co
m

m
en

ts
:

AO
CE

 h
as

 B
ru

ns
w

ic
k 

on
 th

e 
lis

t f
or

 p
ot

en
tia

l f
un

di
ng

.

6/
2/

20
16

 1
2:

04
:0

2 
PM

Pa
ge

 8
 o

f 1
3



Ta
sk

 T
itl

e
Cl

as
s

Pr
io

rit
y

St
at

us
D

es
cr

ip
tio

n

Ri
ve

rw
al

k
38

Cu
rr

en
t U

pd
at

e:

N
o 

re
ce

nt
 a

ct
iv

ity
.  

At
te

m
pt

in
g 

to
 c

oo
rd

in
at

e 
w

ith
 

re
pl

ac
em

en
t/

re
ha

b 
of

 F
ra

nk
 W

oo
d 

Br
id

ge
.

1/
20

/2
01

6

2 
- 

La
rg

e
5 

- 
D

ef
er

D
ef

er
re

d
Im

pl
em

en
ta

tio
n 

of
 R

iv
er

w
al

k 
Pl

an
.

Co
m

m
en

ts
:

Im
pl

em
en

ta
tio

n 
of

 R
iv

er
w

al
k 

Pl
an

.
Ch

ec
k 

w
ith

 M
D

O
T 

on
 F

un
di

ng
.

M
ee

tin
g 

M
in

ut
es

 &
 In

de
xi

ng
30

Cu
rr

en
t U

pd
at

e:

H
av

e 
se

ve
ra

l p
ro

po
sa

ls
.  

N
ar

ro
w

ed
 to

 3
 a

nd
 w

ill
 b

e 
se

tt
in

g 
up

 
se

co
nd

 d
is

cu
ss

io
n 

w
ith

 v
en

do
r a

ft
er

 e
le

ct
io

n

6/
1/

20
16

3 
- 

M
ed

iu
m

2 
- 

H
ig

h
In

 P
ro

gr
es

s
Re

vi
ew

 a
nd

 R
ec

om
m

en
d 

M
in

ut
es

 In
de

xi
ng

Co
m

m
en

ts
:

Fr
an

 S
m

ith
 a

nd
 B

ry
an

 C
ob

b 
to

 in
ve

st
ig

at
e 

di
ffe

re
nt

 w
ay

s 
to

 
im

pr
ov

e 
th

e 
se

ar
ch

ab
ili

ty
 o

f m
ee

tin
gs

 a
nd

 m
in

ut
es

; t
o 

m
ak

e 
re

co
m

m
en

da
tio

n.

Ca
bl

e 
TV

 F
ra

nc
hi

se
 N

eg
ot

ia
tio

ns
29

Cu
rr

en
t U

pd
at

e:

M
od

el
 fr

an
ch

is
e 

ag
re

em
en

t t
o 

re
pl

ac
e 

Br
un

sw
ic

k 
ag

re
em

en
t.

6/
1 

D
is

cu
ss

io
n 

w
ith

 Ja
y 

So
m

er
s 

on
 d

ar
k 

fib
er

 re
qu

es
t.

6/
1/

20
16

3 
- 

M
ed

iu
m

2 
- 

H
ig

h
In

 P
ro

gr
es

s
N

eg
ot

ia
te

 N
ew

 F
ra

nc
hi

se
 A

gr
ee

m
en

t

Co
m

m
en

ts
:

12
/2

1/
20

15
 -

 C
ou

nc
ilo

r W
at

so
n 

su
gg

es
te

d 
th

at
 in

co
m

in
g 

Co
un

ci
lo

r A
lis

on
 H

ar
ris

 w
ou

ld
 b

e 
a 

lo
gi

c 
ch

oi
ce

 to
 re

pl
ac

e 
ou

tg
oi

ng
 C

ou
nc

ilo
r R

ic
ha

rd
so

n 
on

 th
e 

ne
go

tia
tin

g 
te

am
.

 7/
27

/2
01

5 
- 

Jo
hn

 E
ld

rid
ge

 n
eg

ot
ia

te
d 

an
 e

xt
en

si
on

 fo
r t

hr
ee

 
ye

ar
s 

to
 M

ar
ch

 3
1,

 2
01

7 
an

d 
no

tif
ie

d 
Co

un
ci

l i
n 

an
 e

m
ai

l.
 Th

e 
Ca

bl
e 

Fr
an

ch
is

e 
N

eg
ot

ia
tio

n 
Su

bc
om

m
itt

ee
 c

on
si

st
s 

of
 B

en
 

D
uf

fy
 (C

iti
ze

n 
Re

p)
, D

av
id

 W
at

so
n 

(T
ow

n 
Co

un
ci

l R
ep

 1
), 

 Jo
hn

 
Ri

ch
ar

ds
on

 (T
ow

n 
Co

un
ci

l R
ep

 2
), 

Br
ya

n 
Co

bb
 (I

T/
Ca

bl
e 

M
an

ag
er

), 
Jo

hn
 E

ld
rid

ge
 (T

ow
n 

M
an

ag
er

), 
D

er
ek

 S
cr

ap
ch

an
sk

y 
(A

ss
is

ta
nt

 T
ow

n 
M

an
ag

er
).

6/
2/

20
16

 1
2:

04
:0

2 
PM

Pa
ge

 9
 o

f 1
3



Ta
sk

 T
itl

e
Cl

as
s

Pr
io

rit
y

St
at

us
D

es
cr

ip
tio

n

To
w

n 
H

al
l T

rim
 W

or
k

15

Cu
rr

en
t U

pd
at

e:

Es
t. 

$2
00

K
Pr

es
en

ta
tio

n 
to

 T
ow

n 
Co

un
ci

l 5
/5

/1
6;

Pu
bl

ic
 H

ea
rin

g 
5/

16
/1

6;
 B

on
d 

O
rd

in
an

ce
 a

pp
ro

va
l v

ot
e 

6/
6/

16

6/
1/

20
16

3 
- 

M
ed

iu
m

2 
- 

H
ig

h
In

 P
ro

gr
es

s
D

ev
el

op
 S

pe
ci

fic
at

io
ns

 a
nd

 B
id

 P
ro

je
ct

Bo
nd

 O
rd

in
an

ce
 fo

r F
un

di
ng

Co
m

m
en

ts
:

D
ev

el
op

in
g 

sp
ec

ifi
ca

tio
ns

.
D

ev
el

op
in

g 
bo

nd
 o

rd
in

an
ce

.
M

et
 w

ith
 Jo

hn
 F

os
te

r, 
TM

, a
nd

 re
p 

fo
r W

ar
re

n 
Co

ns
tr

uc
tio

n 
to

 
di

sc
us

s 
sc

op
e 

of
 w

or
k 

an
d 

su
gg

es
tio

ns
 fo

r b
id

 p
ro

ce
ss

.
Es

tim
at

e 
pr

ov
id

ed
 b

y 
To

w
n 

En
gi

ne
er

 fo
r c

om
pl

et
e 

R&
R 

of
 T

rim
.

Po
w

er
Po

in
t a

nd
 b

on
d 

or
di

na
nc

e 
de

ve
lo

pe
d 

fo
r c

ou
nc

il 
ap

pr
ov

al
. (

5/
5/

16
 p

ac
ke

t)

Pl
ea

sa
nt

 a
nd

 M
ill

 S
t P

ro
pe

rt
y 

Ac
qu

is
iti

on
59

Cu
rr

en
t U

pd
at

e:

Fi
ni

sh
in

g 
VR

AP
 a

nd
 e

nv
iro

nm
en

ta
l c

ov
en

an
ts

.
Ex

pe
ct

ed
 to

 c
lo

se
 b

y 
Ju

ly
 1

st
.

Co
nt

ac
te

d 
by

 M
D

O
T 

ab
ou

t p
os

si
bl

e 
in

te
rs

ec
tio

n 
im

pr
ov

em
en

ts
.

6/
1/

20
16

3 
- 

M
ed

iu
m

2 
- 

H
ig

h
In

 P
ro

gr
es

s
Pr

op
er

ty
 A

cq
ui

si
tio

n

Co
m

m
en

ts
:

P&
S 

re
ac

he
d 

w
ith

 C
um

be
rla

nd
 F

ar
m

s.
VR

AP
 a

pp
lic

at
io

n 
su

bm
itt

ed
.

D
ec

la
ra

tio
n 

of
 C

ov
en

an
ts

 b
ei

ng
 re

vi
ew

ed
.

D
ow

ne
as

te
r I

dl
in

g
31

Cu
rr

en
t U

pd
at

e:

N
o 

re
ce

nt
 a

ct
iv

ity
.  

N
N

EP
RA

 b
el

ie
ve

s 
th

e 
la

yo
ve

r f
ac

ili
ty

 w
ill

 
re

so
lv

e 
th

is
 is

su
e.

1/
20

/2
01

6

3 
- 

M
ed

iu
m

2 
- 

H
ig

h
D

ef
er

re
d

Re
du

ce
 Id

le
 T

im
e 

fo
r D

ow
ne

as
te

r

Co
m

m
en

ts
:

M
ee

t w
ith

 N
N

EP
RA

 a
nd

 A
m

tr
ak

.
Ex

pl
or

e 
O

pt
io

ns
.

 N
ee

d 
to

 d
is

cu
ss

 c
ol

d 
w

ea
th

er
 o

pt
io

ns
.

An
ti-

id
lin

g 
bi

ll 
in

 le
gi

sl
at

ur
e.

  M
ee

t w
ith

 N
N

EP
RA

 a
nd

 A
m

tr
ak

.

6/
2/

20
16

 1
2:

04
:0

2 
PM

Pa
ge

 1
0 

of
 1

3



Ta
sk

 T
itl

e
Cl

as
s

Pr
io

rit
y

St
at

us
D

es
cr

ip
tio

n

Ri
ve

rs
id

e 
Ce

m
et

er
y

70

Cu
rr

en
t U

pd
at

e:

W
or

ki
ng

 w
ith

 T
ow

n 
At

to
rn

ey
 o

n 
es

ta
bl

is
hi

ng
 s

uc
ce

ss
or

 to
 

Ri
ve

rs
id

e 
As

so
ci

at
io

n.
  R

eq
ue

st
ed

 T
ow

n 
At

to
rn

ey
 to

 d
et

er
m

in
e 

ho
w

 to
 le

ga
lly

 tr
an

sf
er

 re
sp

on
si

bi
lit

y 
an

d 
ow

ne
rs

hi
p 

to
 a

no
th

er
 

as
so

ci
at

io
n/

en
tit

y.
  A

ls
o 

re
qu

es
te

d 
to

 d
et

ai
l t

he
 p

ro
ce

ss
 o

f 
tr

an
sf

er
 a

nd
 th

e 
st

ep
s 

ne
ce

ss
ar

y 
fo

r a
n 

or
ga

ni
za

tio
n 

to
 a

ss
um

e 
cu

st
od

y 
(to

 in
cl

ud
e 

as
se

ts
) a

nd
 c

om
m

en
ce

 o
pe

ra
tio

ns
.

5/
4/

20
16

3 
- 

M
ed

iu
m

2 
- 

H
ig

h
In

 P
ro

gr
es

s
Re

-e
st

ab
lis

h 
Ri

ve
rs

id
e 

Ce
m

et
er

y 
Co

rp
or

at
io

n

Co
m

m
en

ts
:

Re
vi

ew
 th

e 
le

ga
l o

pt
io

ns
 w

ith
 T

ow
n 

At
to

rn
ey

.  
Ti

m
e 

co
ns

um
in

g 
an

d 
po

te
nt

ia
lly

 e
xp

en
si

ve
 p

ro
ce

ss
.

Si
m

ps
on

's
 P

oi
nt

96

Cu
rr

en
t U

pd
at

e:

W
ai

tin
g 

on
 d

ec
is

io
n 

fr
om

 IF
W

3/
1/

20
16

3 
- 

M
ed

iu
m

2 
- 

H
ig

h
O

n 
H

ol
d

O
pe

n 
Ac

ce
ss

 to
 P

ro
pe

lle
r D

riv
en

 B
oa

ts

Co
m

m
en

ts
:

Re
qu

es
t m

ad
e 

to
 IF

W

Co
un

ci
l R

ul
es

 C
om

m
itt

ee
97

Cu
rr

en
t U

pd
at

e:

A
ss

t T
ow

n 
M

an
ag

er
 m

et
 w

ith
 C

ou
nc

ilo
r A

lli
so

n 
H

ar
ris

 o
n 

14
 A

pr
 

20
16

.  
Ag

re
ed

 to
 b

eg
in

 re
vi

ew
in

g 
ru

le
s 

to
 d

et
er

m
in

e 
ho

w
 to

 
m

ak
e 

th
e 

la
ng

ua
ge

 m
or

e 
cl

ea
r a

nd
 u

nd
er

st
an

da
bl

e.
  T

he
 n

ex
t 

st
ep

 is
 to

 re
du

ce
 re

du
nd

an
cy

 fr
om

 w
ith

in
 th

e 
do

cu
m

en
t.4/

15
/2

01
6

3 
- 

M
ed

iu
m

2 
- 

H
ig

h
Re

qu
es

te
d

Ru
le

s 
Co

m
m

itt
ee

 to
 R

ev
ie

w
 a

nd
 U

pd
at

e 
Co

un
ci

l R
ul

es

Co
m

m
en

ts
:

D
ra

ft
 a

 c
om

m
itt

ee
 c

ha
rg

e
Ch

ar
ge

 w
rit

te
n;

 c
om

m
itt

ee
 a

pp
oi

nt
ed

.

BH
S 

Tr
ac

k
63

Cu
rr

en
t U

pd
at

e:

H
un

tr
es

s 
Sp

or
ts

 L
an

ds
ca

pe
 A

rc
hi

te
ct

s 
an

d 
Pl

an
ne

rs
 h

as
 

de
ve

lo
pe

d 
pl

an
s 

fo
r t

he
 4

00
 m

et
er

 tr
ac

k 
an

d 
fie

ld
 re

no
va

tio
ns

 a
t 

BH
S.

 P
ro

je
ct

 s
pe

ci
fic

at
io

ns
 w

er
e 

re
vi

ew
ed

 w
ith

 S
ch

oo
l 

D
ep

ar
tm

en
t r

ep
re

se
nt

at
iv

es
 a

nd
 to

w
n 

re
pr

es
en

ta
tiv

es
 o

n 
5/

17
/1

6.

6/
1/

20
16

3 
- 

M
ed

iu
m

3 
- 

N
or

m
al

In
 P

ro
gr

es
s

As
si

st
 in

 d
ev

el
op

m
en

t o
f s

pe
ci

fic
at

io
ns

 fo
r B

H
S 

tr
ac

k

Co
m

m
en

ts
:

Pr
oj

ec
t i

s 
in

 th
e 

Sc
ho

ol
 D

ep
ar

tm
en

t's
 C

IP

6/
2/

20
16

 1
2:

04
:0

2 
PM

Pa
ge

 1
1 

of
 1

3



Ta
sk

 T
itl

e
Cl

as
s

Pr
io

rit
y

St
at

us
D

es
cr

ip
tio

n

Fr
an

k 
W

oo
d 

Br
id

ge
37

Cu
rr

en
t U

pd
at

e:

M
D

O
T 

pr
es

en
te

d 
re

co
m

m
en

da
tio

n 
in

 p
re

se
nt

at
io

n 
to

 B
ru

ns
w

ic
k 

To
w

n 
Co

un
ci

l o
n 

4/
19

, t
o 

St
ak

eh
ol

de
rs

 o
n 

4/
25

 a
nd

 to
 g

en
er

al
 

pu
bl

ic
 o

n 
4/

27
. O

n 
To

w
n 

Co
un

ci
l a

ge
nd

a 
fo

r 6
/6

/2
01

6.

6/
2/

20
16

3 
- 

M
ed

iu
m

3 
- 

N
or

m
al

In
 P

ro
gr

es
s

M
D

O
T 

Pr
oj

ec
t R

ep
la

ce
m

en
t o

r R
eh

ab
ili

ta
tio

n

Co
m

m
en

ts
:

Po
ss

ib
le

 c
on

ne
ct

io
n 

to
 R

iv
er

w
al

k 
an

d 
M

ai
ne

 S
tr

ee
t p

ro
je

ct
s.

Ex
te

nd
ed

 R
R 

Q
ui

et
 Z

on
es

9

Cu
rr

en
t U

pd
at

e:

Pr
oj

ec
t o

n 
ho

ld
 p

en
di

ng
 n

ew
 tr

ai
n 

sc
he

du
le

s.

1/
20

/2
01

6

3 
- 

M
ed

iu
m

5 
- 

D
ef

er
D

ef
er

re
d

St
ud

y 
al

te
rn

at
iv

es
 fo

r Q
ui

te
 Z

on
es

Co
m

m
en

ts
:

Co
ns

ul
ta

nt
s 

to
 m

ak
e 

re
co

m
m

en
da

tio
ns

Bu
s 

Tr
an

sp
or

ta
tio

n
61

Cu
rr

en
t U

pd
at

e:

Co
ns

id
er

in
g 

TI
G

ER
 g

ra
nt

 fo
r n

ex
t y

ea
r. 

 W
ill

 re
qu

ire
 e

xp
en

di
tu

re
 

to
 p

re
pa

re
 a

pp
lic

at
io

n 
an

d 
su

pp
or

tin
g 

m
at

er
ia

ls
.

4/
28

/2
01

6

3 
- 

M
ed

iu
m

5 
- 

D
ef

er
D

ef
er

re
d

Re
vi

ew
 o

pt
io

ns
 fo

r b
us

 tr
an

sp
or

ta
tio

n 
to

 P
or

tla
nd

Co
m

m
en

ts
:

Ex
pl

or
e 

M
et

ro
 e

xp
an

si
on

 a
nd

 fu
nd

in
g.

Bi
ke

 P
at

h 
Ex

te
ns

io
n

21

Cu
rr

en
t U

pd
at

e:

Po
te

nt
ia

l f
or

 g
ra

nt
 fu

nd
in

g 
to

 b
e 

ex
pl

or
ed

.

4/
28

/2
01

6

3 
- 

M
ed

iu
m

5 
- 

D
ef

er
D

ef
er

re
d

Ex
te

ns
io

n 
to

 B
at

h 
(p

la
nn

in
g 

fu
nd

s)

Ch
ec

k 
w

ith
 D

an
 S

te
w

ar
t o

n 
fu

nd
in

g.

Pr
ep

ar
e 

fo
r T

IG
ER

 g
ra

nt
s 

in
 2

01
6.

Co
m

m
en

ts
:

6/
2/

20
16

 1
2:

04
:0

2 
PM

Pa
ge

 1
2 

of
 1

3



Ta
sk

 T
itl

e
Cl

as
s

Pr
io

rit
y

St
at

us
D

es
cr

ip
tio

n

TV
3 

W
eb

si
te

, V
O

D
, &

 P
ro

gr
am

m
in

g
12

Cu
rr

en
t U

pd
at

e:

Im
pr

ov
em

en
ts

 m
ad

e.
  C

on
tin

ue
 to

 e
va

lu
at

e.

1/
20

/2
01

6

4 
- 

Sm
al

l
3 

- 
N

or
m

al
In

 P
ro

gr
es

s
TV

3 
W

eb
si

te
 Im

pr
ov

em
en

ts

Co
m

m
en

ts
:

TV
3 

W
eb

si
te

 Im
pr

ov
em

en
ts

Im
pr

ov
e 

re
lia

bi
lit

y 
of

 s
tr

ea
m

in
g

 St
re

am
in

g 
re

lia
bi

lit
y 

an
d 

VO
D

 im
pr

ov
ed

H
um

an
 R

ig
ht

s 
Ta

sk
 F

or
ce

64

Cu
rr

en
t U

pd
at

e:

Ta
sk

 fo
rc

e 
co

nt
in

ue
s 

to
 m

ee
t

M
ee

tin
g 

w
ith

 c
hu

rc
he

s 
sc

he
du

le
d 

fo
r 6

/3

6/
1/

20
16

4 
- 

Sm
al

l
3 

- 
N

or
m

al
In

 P
ro

gr
es

s
As

si
gn

 ta
sk

 fo
rc

e 
to

 lo
ok

 in
to

 is
su

es
 o

f r
ac

e 
an

d 
ge

nd
er

.

Co
m

m
en

ts
:

Ta
sk

 fo
rc

e 
es

ta
bl

is
he

d.
Co

ns
id

er
in

g 
m

em
be

rs
hi

p 
an

d 
st

ra
te

gy

Co
m

pl
et

e 
St

re
et

s 
Po

lic
y

65

Cu
rr

en
t U

pd
at

e:

Re
vi

ew
ed

 d
ra

ft
 B

BP
AC

 p
ol

ic
y 

an
d 

m
et

 w
ith

 C
ha

ir.
  D

ra
ft

in
g 

a 
pr

op
os

ed
 p

ol
ic

y.

3/
20

/2
01

6

4 
- 

Sm
al

l
3 

- 
N

or
m

al
Re

qu
es

te
d

D
ev

el
op

 C
om

pl
et

e 
St

re
et

s 
Po

lic
y

Co
m

m
en

ts
:

Po
lic

y 
sh

ou
ld

 b
e 

ad
vi

so
ry

 fo
r T

ow
n 

re
co

ns
tr

uc
tio

n 
pr

oj
ec

ts
.

Am
bu

la
nc

e 
Fe

es
 U

pd
at

e
11
2

Cu
rr

en
t U

pd
at

e:

Fi
re

 D
ep

ar
tm

en
t a

nd
 F

in
an

ce
 D

ep
ar

tm
en

t h
av

e 
re

vi
ew

ed
 fe

es
 

an
d 

N
o-

Tr
an

sp
or

ts
. E

xp
ec

t r
ec

om
m

en
da

tio
n 

by
 Ju

ne
.

6/
1/

20
16

4 
- 

Sm
al

l
3 

- 
N

or
m

al
Re

qu
es

te
d

U
pd

at
e 

th
e 

Am
bu

la
nc

e 
Fe

es

Co
m

m
en

ts
:

Co
ns

id
er

 o
ne

 fr
ee

 n
on

-t
ra

ns
po

rt
.

To
ta

l
44

6/
2/

20
16

 1
2:

04
:0

2 
PM

Pa
ge

 1
3 

of
 1

3



 
 

 
MANAGER’S REPORT - C 
NO BACK UP MATERIALS 



 
 

 
MANAGER’S REPORT - D 
NO BACK UP MATERIALS 
 



 
 

MANAGER’S REPORT - E 
BACK UP MATERIALS 
 



Town of Brunswick, Maine 
	

OFFICE	OF	THE	TOWN	MANAGER	
	
	

O:\Council\Council	By	Year\Council	2016\Memo	Pleasant	Street	Signal	Sync	060616.docx	

MEMORANDUM	
	
TO:	 Town	Council	
	
FROM:	 John	Eldridge	
	 Town	Manager	
	
DATE:	 June	1,	2016	
	
SUBJECT:	 Pleasant	Street	Traffic	Signals	
	
	
Below	is	a	summary	of	traffic	signal	coordination	that	was	installed	in	December	2012	and	has	
remained	unchanged	since	fine‐tuning	and	as	documented	on	As‐Built	plans	of	December	11,	2013:	
	
November	1st	–	May	31st	
	

 7:35am‐8:30am	Monday‐Friday	(75	second	cycle	for	all	Pleasant	St.	signals	except	
Stanwood/Mill	that	runs	150	seconds)	

 2:35pm‐5:15pm	Monday‐Friday	(80	second	cycle	for	all	Pleasant	St.	signals	except	
Stanwood/Mill	that	runs	160	seconds)	

 11:15am‐2:00pm	Saturday	(80	second	cycle	for	all	Pleasant	St.	signals	except	
Stanwood/Mill	that	runs	160	seconds)	

 Free/on‐demand	operations	using	variable	minimum	and	maximum	green	time	settings	all	
other	times	of	the	day	during	the	weekday	and	Saturday	and	all	24	hours	of	Sunday.	

	
June	1st	–	October	31st	
	

 7:35am‐8:30am	Monday‐Friday	(75	second	cycle	for	all	Pleasant	St.	signals	except	
Stanwood/Mill	that	runs	150	seconds)	

 2:35pm‐5:15pm	Monday‐Thursday	(80	second	cycle	for	all	Pleasant	St.	signals	except	
Stanwood/Mill	that	runs	160	seconds)	

 11:35am‐1:15pm	Friday	(80	second	cycle	for	all	Pleasant	St.	signals	except	Stanwood/Mill	
that	runs	160	seconds)	

 2:35pm‐6:00pm	Friday	(80	second	cycle	for	all	Pleasant	St.	signals	except	Stanwood/Mill	
that	runs	160	seconds)	

 11:15am‐5:30pm	Saturday	(80	second	cycle	for	all	Pleasant	St.	signals	except	
Stanwood/Mill	that	runs	160	seconds)	

 11:15am‐1:30pm	Sunday	(75	second	cycle	for	all	Pleasant	St.	signals	except	Stanwood/Mill	
that	runs	150	seconds)	

 1:30pm‐3:00pm	Sunday	(80	second	cycle	for	all	Pleasant	St.	signals	except	Stanwood/Mill	
that	runs	160	seconds)	

 3:00pm‐5:00pm	Sunday	(75	second	cycle	for	all	Pleasant	St.	signals	except	Stanwood/Mill	
that	runs	150	seconds)	

 Free/on‐demand	operations	using	variable	minimum	and	maximum	green	time	settings	all	
other	times	of	the	day	during	the	weekday	and	weekends.	

	



ITEM 65
BACK UP MATERIALS 















ITEM 66
BACK UP MATERIALS 



 
June 2, 2016 

 

To:  Town Council 

From:  Anna Breinich, FAICP and Jared Woolston, Town Planner 

Subject: Zoning Ordinance Amendment Request:  Chapter Four (Development Review), 

Sections 401 (Applicability) and 402 (Development Review Classifications and 

Thresholds to Require Review of Filling and Earthmoving Activities within the 

NRPZ 

 

SHORELAND ZONING BACKGROUND:  Pursuant to 38 M.R.S.A. sections 435-449, the 

Mandatory Shoreland Zoning Act, requires all municipalities to adopt, administer, and enforce 

ordinances which regulate land use activities within 250 feet of great ponds, rivers, freshwater 

and coastal wetlands, including all tidal waters; and within 75 feet of streams as defined. The Act 

also requires the Board of Environmental Protection to establish minimum guidelines for such 

ordinances.   Accordingly, the Department of Environmental Protection (DEP) Rule, Chapter 

1000: Guidelines for Municipal Shoreland Zoning Ordinances, adopted by the Board on February 

14, 1990 and amended July 14, 1992, August 7, 1994, February 6, 1999, February 13, 2000, May 

1, 2006 and January 26, 2015 contains those guidelines for municipal shoreland ordinances. The 

Act requires that municipalities adopt shoreland zoning ordinances consistent with, or no less 

stringent than, those minimum guidelines. 

 

EMERGENCY MORATORIUM:  A review of the Town of Brunswick’s shoreland zoning 

ordinance for activities within the so-called, Natural Resource Protection Zone (NRPZ), revealed 

an inconsistency with Chapter 1000, specifically, that the requirement for town review and 

approval of activities involving filling and earthmoving within the NRPZ is not part of 

Brunswick’s zoning ordinance.   

 

As a result, during their March 21, 2016 meeting, the Brunswick Town Council approved an 

emergency moratorium on new development within the Natural Resource Protection Zone 

(NRPZ) involving filling and earthmoving for 90-days.  The moratorium is attached.   

 

The moratorium is set to expire on Tuesday, July 19, 2016.  The ordinance amendments 

would not become effective for 30-days from the date of Town Council adoption unless they are 

adopted as an emergency action to be effective on the day of adoption.  The DEP must approve 

the amendment and that process may take 45-days from the date the Department receives it.   

 

PROPOSED AMENDMENT:  On April 12, 2016, and April 22, 2016 the Planning Board held 

workshops to consider an amendment to the NRPZ.  Most recently the Town Council discussed 

the proposed amendment to the NRPZ and set a public hearing date at a meeting on May 16, 

2016.  During the meetings staff received comments from the Planning Board, the Town Council 

and members of the public regarding the proposed review process, and associated thresholds for 

filling and earthmoving activities within the NRPZ.  Specifically, the originally proposed 

 
 

 

 

 

TOWN OF BRUNSWICK, MAINE 
 

INCORPORATED 1739 
 

DEPARTMENT OF PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT 

85 UNION STREET 

BRUNSWICK, ME  04011 
 

 
 

 

ANNA M. BREINICH, FAICP PHONE: 207-725-6660 

DIRECTOR OF PLANNING & DEVELOPMENT FAX: 207-725-6663 



thresholds and associated review process were considered too comprehensive for small projects, 

and could be reviewed under a simple process comparable to the town’s building permit review, 

or septic system review.  Based on feedback from the first workshop, the amendment was revised 

by staff to require Code Enforcement Officer (CEO) review and written approval for filling and 

earthmoving activities within most areas of the NRPZ, except for activities affecting the most 

sensitive natural resources contained within the NRPZ.  For activities affecting the most sensitive 

areas of the NRPZ, the development review threshold is at filling and earthmoving activities in 

excess of 10 cubic yards. 

 

The following thresholds for filling and earthmoving activities were presented to the Town 

Council on May 16, 2016, and were considered acceptable by DEP staff pending town 

acceptance, and formal review and approval by the DEP:  CEO review and approval for <10 

cubic yards of filling and earthmoving within areas that are equivalent to Resource Protection 

Districts per 06-096, Ch. 1000, and within 75 feet from streams (as defined by Brunswick Zoning 

Ordinance), >10-100 cubic yards review and approval by Staff Review Committee (SRC), and 

>100 cubic yards review and approval by Planning Board.  All other filling and earthmoving 

within the Natural Resource Protection Zone (NRPZ) will be reviewed and approved only by the 

CEO.   

 

On April 14, 2016, and subsequently on May 24, 2016 staff from the Department of Planning and 

Development (and Codes) discussed draft NRPZ language regarding filling and earthmoving with 

DEP staff within the Shoreland Zoning unit.  In the most recent discussion, staff from the 

Shoreland Zoning unit indicated that Brunswick’s Staff Review Committee (SRC) may be an 

acceptable review entity for all filling and earthmoving activities for activities that would require 

Planning Board review and approval in accordance with the Ch. 1000 ‘use table’.  This guidance 

would allow the Council to revise the proposed review entity of Planning Board (as drafted) for 

activities in excess of 100 cubic yards of filling and earthmoving.  Additionally, staff from the 

DEP indicated that the Council may choose to adopt a provision where up to 10 cubic yards of 

filling and earthmoving requires no review if performed in accordance with the NRPZ standards 

and outside of areas equivalent to Resource Protection District, or Stream Protection District (i.e.  

Brunswick’s Zoning Ordinance at Section 211.2.A.1(b-g); and within 75 feet from streams).  

These two (2) possible revisions to the proposed ordinance amendment that were discussed with 

DEP staff on May 24, 2016 are not included in the proposed amendment language but may be 

used as guidance for the Council adoption process. 

 

The intent of the proposed amendment is to assign a review entity for filling and earthmoving that 

is consistent with the Ch. 1000 “use table”.  In Ch. 1000, there is an allowance for filling and 

earthmoving within certain areas of the Shoreland Zone to go without review for activities 

involving less than 10 cubic yards.  However, Brunswick’s NRPZ ordinance does not provide the 

flexibility to allow no review for filling and earthmoving since it does not have the equivalent 

districts within the NRPZ (i.e. Limited Residential District, Limited Commercial District, General 

Development District, Commercial Fisheries/Maritime Activities District).  As drafted, all filling 

and earthmoving within the NRPZ (even if less than 10 cubic yards) will require town review and 

approval by the CEO, Staff Review Committee, or Planning Board.   

 

After corresponding with DEP, the staff understands that Brunswick’s ‘stream’ definition and 

associated 75-foot setback is equivalent to a ‘stream protection district’ in Ch. 1000; and areas 



defined in our NRPZ
1
 at Section 211.2.A.1(b-g) are equivalent to a ‘resource protection district’ 

in Ch. 1000.  In accordance with the Ch. 1000 ‘use table’, areas equivalent to ‘stream protection 

district’ and ‘resource protection district’ will require development review if over 10 cubic yards 

(less than 10 cubic yards is CEO approval only).  As written, all filling and earthmoving activities 

within the NRPZ that are not adjacent to streams, or within areas equivalent to resource 

protection districts must be reviewed and approved in writing by the CEO in accordance with the 

requirements of the NRPZ.     

 

The draft amendment to Section 401 (Applicability) and Section 402 (Development Review 

Classifications and Thresholds) is enclosed.  Additionally, to address the requests for more 

information from representatives of the Town Council at the May 10, 2016 Planning Board 

meeting, the Department of Planning and Development developed a presentation for the Town 

Council for the purpose of demonstrating the extent of Brunswick’s Natural Resource Protection 

Zone (NRPZ), and the areas of the NRPZ that will be subject to the proposed Zoning Ordinance 

amendment which is provided as an enclosure to this memorandum.  The presentation that was 

made at the May 16, 2016 Town Council meeting has been shortened by the staff and provided 

for the June 6, 2016 Public Hearing and Town Council meeting.    

 

 

 

 

Attachments: Moratorium; Draft Zoning Ordinance Amendment: Sections 401 and 402; 

Presentation: NRPZ / Ch. 1000: Guidelines for Municipal Shoreland Zoning Ordinances  
 

                                                 
1
 Revised from 211.2.A.1(a-g), to 211.2.A.1(b-g) by the Town Planner, and accepted by 

the Planning Board on May 10, 2016 to indicate areas described in Brunswick’s NRPZ 

that are equivalent to the Ch. 1000 “Resource Protection District”.  
 



C:\Users\jerdman\AppData\Local\Microsoft\Windows\Temporary Internet Files\Content.Outlook\TI7C6VVT\Shoreland Zone Moratorium 3-
21-2016 NOT IN CODE.docxO:\Word\Ordinances\Code Supplement 28 starting June 2015\Shoreland Zone Moratorium 3-21-2016.docx 

 
ADOPTED MORATORIUM ON NEW 

DEVELOPMENT IN THE NATURAL RESOURCE 
PROTECTION ZONE (NRPZ) 

 
Public Hearing – 03/21/2016 

Adopted – 03/21/2016 
Effective – 04/20/2016 

 
 WHEREAS, two (2) shoreline stabilization projects that involve filling and earth moving of 
10 cubic yards or more are currently underway within the Town of Brunswick’s Natural Resource 
Protection Zone (NRPZ) as defined at Section 211 of the Brunswick Zoning Ordinance; and 
 
 WHEREAS, it has been determined that land use standards for filling and earth moving 
activities within the NRPZ that are required under State law affecting shoreland zoning within the 
Town of Brunswick have inadvertently not been included in the Brunswick Zoning Ordinance despite 
approval of the Ordinance by the State of Maine Department of Environmental Protection; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Brunswick Zoning Ordinance is currently inadequate to meet minimum State 
law requirements for shoreland zoning; and 
 
 WHEREAS, additional filling and earth moving activities within the NRPZ is anticipated; and 
 
 WHEREAS, allowing additional filling and earth moving activities to go forward within the 
NRPZ without adequate regulations affects life, health and property in the Town of Brunswick; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Brunswick Zoning Ordinance is inadequate to prevent serious public harm 
from new filling and earth moving activities; and 
 
. WHEREAS, the Brunswick Town Council adopted an “Emergency on Moratorium on New 
Development in the Natural Resource Protection Zone” on March 7, 2016, with an immediate 
affective date; 
 
 NOW THEREFORE, be it ordained by the Town Council of Brunswick that no filling and 
earth moving activity within the NRPZ shall be reviewed, allowed or permitted by Town Staff, the 
Planning Board or under any other authority pursuant to the Brunswick Zoning Ordinance unless the 
activity is currently underway and approved by the Maine Department of Environmental Protection, 
or associated with an activity that is currently subject to Development Review pursuant to Section 
402 of the Brunswick Zoning Ordinance, or within areas where principal and accessory structures are 
allowed with a building permit from the Town of Brunswick unless located within 125 feet, 
horizontal distance, of the normal high water line of a river or within 125 feet, horizontal distance, of 
the upland edge of a coastal or fresh water wetland or 75 feet, horizontal distance, of the normal high 
water line of a stream.  This does not prevent the Code Enforcement Officer or Planning Board from 
allowing such activities if necessary to prevent immediate and irreparable environmental harm. 
 
 This Moratorium shall be in effect for 90 days from the date from its effective date. (which 
will be July 19, 2016) 
 



CHAPTER FOUR:  DEVELOPMENT REVIEW   
 

Development review includes Subdivision and Site Plan review, and certain changes of use and other 

procedures as outlined in Section 402.    No development shall be approved unless it complies with all 

review criteria and findings indicated in Section 411.   

 

All time frames for development review expressed in this chapter are maximums.  The Town's staff and 

reviewing entities shall make every effort to conduct reviews as expeditiously as possible.  

 

401  Applicability 
 

401.1 The following outlines the applicability for Development Review: 

 

 A. Development review does not apply to: 

 

 1) Aa single or two family dwelling. 

 2) Uuses or structures that are accessory to a single or two family dwelling. 

 3) Aagricultural land management practices, including farm and woods roads 

developed in accordance with “Maine Erosion and Sedimentation Control Handbook for 

Construction:  Best Management Practices”, as amended (Amended  9/3/02 R) 

 4) Uunpaved trails and paths developed in accordance with Maine Erosion and 

Sedimentation Control Handbook for Construction:  Best Management Practices, as 

amended.  (Groups or individuals planning such trails and paths are encouraged to 

consult with the Planning Department prior to construction) (Amended 9/3/02 R) 

 5) Filling and earthmoving activities within the Natural Resource Protection Zone 

(NRPZ) provided the Code Enforcement Officer issues a written approval for the more 

than 10 cubic yards of filling and earthmoving on a lot activity in accordance with the 

“Additional Requirements for the Shoreland Area” at Section 211.2 et al., and that all 

filling and earthmoving activities within the NRPZ of more than 10 cubic yards on a lot 

are not located within 75 feet from a stream or within areas described at Section 

211.2.A.1(b-g).   

65) The initial non-military re-occupancy of a building in the BNAS Reuse District 

existing as of the July 20, 2009 adoption of this provision provided all of the 

following are met:  

a) The new use is a permitted use in the Reuse Land / Use District in 

which it is located, per the BNAS Reuse Master Plan, approved December 

2007,  

b) The re-occupancy maintains the pre-existing pattern of use of the site 

including the general location of the building and parking and service 

areas,  

c) The usable floor area of the building is not increased by more than two 

thousand (2,000) square feet, within the existing building footprint,  

d) The amount of impervious surface on the project site is not increased by 

more than two thousand (2,000) square feet,  

Formatted: Strikethrough

Comment [JW1]: Revised by Town Planner as 
described at Town Council meeting on 5/16/2016 

Comment [JW2]: Revised by Town Planner as 
described at Town Council meeting on 5/16/2016 

Formatted: Strikethrough

Comment [JW3]: Revised by Town Planner and 

accepted by Planning Board on 5/10/2016 



 
e) There is adequate parking available for the new use in accordance with 

Section 512,  

f) The re-occupancy of the building will not change the primary use of the 

building from residential to non-residential or from non-residential to 

residential,  

g) The initial non-military re-occupancy of a building shall not be 

considered a change of use even if it does not meet the vacancy time 

limits of Section 702.1. All subsequent re-occupancy of buildings in the 

BNAS Reuse District shall be subject to the change of use review 

requirements of Sections 402 and 702 of this ordinance as applicable, 

and (Amended 7/20/09R) 

 

76) The change of use of a building in the BNAS Reuse District with less than 10,000 

square feet of floor area following its initial non-military occupancy provided that 

the new use does not significantly intensify the use of the property compared to its 

previous use. A new use that increases the required off-street parking in 

accordance with Sections 512.1 or 512.2 by more than twenty percent (20%) or 

that increases the number of peak hour vehicle trips based upon the current 

edition of the ITE Trip Generation Manual, as amended, by more than twenty 

percent (20%) or that meets any of the review thresholds of Section 702.3 shall be 

considered to significantly intensify the use. If the Codes Enforcement Officer 

determines that there will be a significant intensification of the use, the activity 

shall be deemed to be a minor development subject to development review in 

accordance with Section 402.1.  (Amended 7/20/09R) 

 

            B. Activities not subject to development review still require appropriate permits issued by 

the Codes Enforcement Officer and/or the Village Review Board if the property is in the 

Village Review Zone. 

 

 C. All activities listed in Section 402 shall be subject to Development Review. 

 

            D. Projects subject to development review shall be divided into two classes, Major and 

Minor.  Minor projects shall be reviewed by the Staff Review Committee.  Major projects 

shall be reviewed by the Planning Board. 

 

            E. Thresholds for development review apply only to new, or “add-on” construction, except 

as indicated in Section 402.  Floor area and impervious surface area are calculated on a 

net basis.  The floor area and the impervious surface area (roof) of a building each 

contribute separately to the cumulative total of the two.  (Amended 6/19/00 R)   

 

             F. If development is proposed on two or more lots and the Director of Planning and 

Development finds that the development functions as a single project, thresholds for 

development review shall be applied to the project as though the lots on which it is 

located were single lots. (Amended 9/4/01 R) 

 

 



 

 

402 Development Review Classification and Thresholds 

 

402.1 Activities Subject to Minor Review 
The following activities shall be subject to Minor Development Review by the Staff Review 

Committee: 

A. Any development activity or combination of activities that, within any five year period 

results in the construction of the following: 

 

1. In all zoning districts except for those indicated in Sections 402.1 A.2 and 402.1 

A.3: (Amended 7/20/09R) 

a. Between 1,000 and 4,999 square feet of new floor area;  

 (Amended 6/19/00 R) 

   b. Between 1,000 and 4,999 square feet of new impervious surface, or 

c. A cumulative total of between 1,500 and 7,499 square feet of floor area 

and impervious surface. (Amended 6/19/00 R) 

 

2. In the MU4 (Fox Run), CC (Cook’s Corner Center), I2 (Church Road Industrial 

Park), I3 (Bath Road Industrial), I4 (Exit 22), HC2 (Inner Bath Road): 

a. Between 2,000 and 9,999 square feet of new floor area;  

 (Amended 6/19/00 R) 

b. Between 2,000 and 9,999 square feet or more of new impervious surface; 

or 

c. A cumulative total of between 3,000 and  14,999 square feet or more of 

floor area and impervious surface. (Amended 6/19/00 R) 

 

3. In the BNAS Reuse District:  

a. Between 2,000 and 9,999 square feet of new floor area;  

b. Between 2,000 and 9,999 square feet of new impervious surface; or  

c. A cumulative total of between 3,000 and 19,999 square feet of new floor 

area and impervious surface. (Amended 7/20/09R) 

 

B. Any use that involves the construction of one drive-up window. 

C. Marine Activities that involve the creation of less than 5,000 square feet of new 

impervious surface. 

D. Construction of a multi-family dwelling unit in all zoning districts except the BNAS 

Reuse District, containing between 3 and 5 units that does not create a subdivision.  In the 

BNAS Reuse District, activities involving the construction of multi-family dwellings 

with up to ten (10) units that do not create a subdivision are classified as Minor Projects. 

(Amended 7/20/09) 

E.  Development subject to Special Permit (Section 701) that results in the creation of less 

than 5,000 square feet of new impervious surface.  

F. Construction within the Natural Resources Protection Zone subject to the provisions of 

section 211.2.A.3, 304.6.D.4., 304.4.B or 304.7 (Amended 9/4/01 R, 10/15/01 R) 

G. Establishment or expansion of a Neighborhood Store.  (Amended 7/5/05 R) 

H. Change of use of a building within the BNAS Reuse District that affects10,000 to 19,999 

square feet of floor area, pursuant to Section 702. (Amended 7/20/09R) 

H.I. I. Filling and earthmoving activities of more than 10 cubic yards and less than or 



equal to 100 cubic yards on a lot and within 75 feet from a stream or within areas of the 

Natural Resource Protection Zone (NRPZ) described at Section 211.2.A.1(b-g). 

 

402.2 Activities Subject to Major Review 
The following activities shall be subject to Major Development Review by the Planning Board: 

 

A. The creation of a Subdivision as defined by 30-A M.R.S.A. Section 4401, as amended. 

B. Any development activity, or combination of activities that, within any five year period 

results in the construction of the following: 

 

                        1. In all zoning districts except for those indicated in Sections 402.2 B.2 and 402.2 

B.3: (Amended 7/20/09R) 

a. 5,000 square feet or more of new floor area; (Amended 6/19/00 R) 

b. 5,000 square feet or more of new impervious surface, or 

                                    c. A cumulative total of 7,500 square feet or more of floor area and 

impervious surface. (Amended 6/19/00 R) 

 

2. In the MU4 (Fox Run), CC (Cook’s Corner Center), I2 (Church Road Industrial 

Park), I3 (Bath Road Industrial), I4 (Exit 22), HC2 (Inner Bath Road): 

   a. 10,000 square feet or more of new floor area;(Amended 6/19/00 R) 

   b. 10,000 square feet or more of new impervious surface; or 

                                    c. A cumulative total of 15,000 square feet or more of floor area and 

impervious surface. (Amended 6/19/00 R) 

 

3.        In the BNAS Reuse Zoning District:  

a. 10,000 square feet or more of new floor area;  

b. 10,000 square feet or more of new impervious surface; or  

c. A cumulative total of 20,000 square feet or more of new floor area and 

impervious surface. (Amended 7/20/09R) 

 

 C. Any use that involves the construction of 2 or more drive-up windows. 

            D. Changes of use that affect 10,000 square feet or more of floor area, pursuant to Section 

702, or 20,000 square feet or more of floor area in the BNAS Reuse District. (Amended 

7/20/09R) 

            E. Changes of use that involve conversion of a single or two-family home to any other use 

in Town Residential and Residential Districts. 

 F. The development or expansion of a Mobile Home Park, pursuant to Section 212. 

            G. Development subject to Special Permit (Section 701) that involves creation of 5,000 

square feet or more of new impervious surface. 

 H. Mineral Extraction, pursuant to Section 306.6.  

            I. The addition or expansion of a canopy for a gasoline sales station, pursuant to Section 

306.14. 

J. Any activity in the BNAS Reuse District that is located within two hundred (200) 

feet of the district boundary that would otherwise be classified as a minor project. 

(Amended 7/20/09R) 

K. Any activity in the BNAS Reuse District that generates more than one hundred (100) 

peak hour vehicle trips, based upon the current edition of the ITE Trip Generation 

Manual, as amended, unless the activity is part of an approved subdivision or common 

development plan in which traffic was addressed as part of the approved plan. 

Comment [JW4]: Revised by Town Planner and 
accepted by Planning Board on 5/10/2016 



(Amended 7/20/09R) 

L. Filling and earthmoving activities of more than 100 cubic yards on a lot and within 75 

feet from a stream or within areas of the Natural Resource Protection Zone (NRPZ) 

described at Section 211.2.A.1(b-g). 

 

 

 

Comment [JW5]: Revised by Town Planner and 
accepted by Planning Board on 5/10/2016 



  

 

NRPZ and Ch. 1000: Resource Protection District & Stream Protection District 

Comparison 

 

NRPZ Section 211.2.A.1(b-g) 

 

211.2.A.1 No new principal or accessory structures, except structures which require 

direct access to the water as an operational necessity (including but not limited to piers, 

docks, retaining walls and public waterfront trails,but excluding recreational boat storage 

buildings) shall be located within any of the following areas: 

a. Areas within one hundred twenty-five (125) feet, horizontal distance, of the normal 

high water line of a river; or within one hundred twenty-five (125) feet, horizontal 

distance, of the upland edge of a coastal or freshwater wetland; or within seventy-five 

(75) feet, horizontal distance, of the normal high water line of a stream. (Amended 

11/18/02 R, 6/15/09 R) 

 

b. Areas within 250 feet, horizontal distance, of the upland edge of freshwater wetlands, 

salt marshes and salt meadows, and wetlands associated with great ponds and rivers, 

which are rated as "moderate" or "high" value waterfowl and wading bird habitat, 

including nesting and feeding areas, by the Maine Department of Inland Fisheries and 

Wildlife (MDIF&W) as of December 31, 2008, as depicted on a Geographic Information 

System (GIS) data layer maintained by MDIF&W or MDEP, and as shown on the 

Brunswick Official Zoning Map. These areas are defined as "Resource Protection Areas" 

and include areas which development would adversely affect water quality, productive 

habitat, biological ecosystems, or scenic and natural values (see also section 211.2.A.3). 

(Amended 5/17/99 E/R, 6/15/09 R) 

c. Water and wetland setback measurements shall be taken from the top of a coastal bluff 

such as those that have been identified on Coastal Bluff maps as being “highly unstable” 

or “unstable” by the Maine Geological Survey pursuant to its “Classification of Coastal 

Bluffs” and published on the most recent Coastal Bluff map, and as depicted on the 

Brunswick GIS. If the applicant and the permitting official(s) are in disagreement as to 

the specific location of a “highly unstable” or “unstable” bluff, or where the top of the 

bluff is located, the applicant may at his or her expense, employ a Maine Registered 

Professional Engineer, a Maine Certified Soil Scientist, or a Maine State Geologist to 

make a determination. (Section inserted 6/15/09 R) 44 

d. Flood plains adjacent to tidal waters, rivers and flood plains along artificially formed 

great ponds along rivers, defined by the 100-year flood plain as designated on the Federal 

Emergency Management Agency's (FEMA) Flood Insurance Rate Maps or Flood Hazard 

 
 

 

 

 

TOWN OF BRUNSWICK, MAINE 
 

INCORPORATED 1739 
 

DEPARTMENT OF PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT 

85 UNION STREET 

BRUNSWICK, ME  04011 
 

 
 

 

ANNA M. BREINICH, FAICP PHONE: 207-725-6660 

DIRECTOR OF PLANNING & DEVELOPMENT FAX: 207-725-6663 

Comment [JW1]: Equivalent to Ch. 1000 
“Resource Protection District” 

Comment [JW2]: Equivalent to Ch. 1000 
“Stream Protection District” 



Boundary Maps Flood Boundary and Floodway Maps or the flood of record. (Amended 

6/15/09 R) 

e. Areas of two (2) or more contiguous acres with sustained slopes of 20% or greater. 

f. Areas of two (2) or more contiguous acres of wetlands which are not part of a 

freshwater or coastal wetland and which are not surficially connected to a river, tidal 

waters or stream during the period of normal high water. (Amended 11/18/02 R, 6/15/09 

R) 

g. Land along rivers subject to severe bank erosion, undercutting, or river bed movement 

and lands adjacent to tidal waters which are subject to severe erosion or mass movement, 

such as steep coastal bluffs. 

 

 

Ch. 1000 Resource Protection District 
A. Resource Protection District. The Resource Protection District includes areas in which 

development would adversely affect water quality, productive habitat, biological 

ecosystems, or scenic and natural values. This district shall include the following areas 

when they occur within the limits of the shoreland zone, exclusive of the Stream 

Protection District, except that areas which are currently developed and areas which meet 

the criteria for the Limited Commercial, General Development I, or Commercial 

Fisheries/Maritime Activities Districts need not be included within the Resource 

Protection District. 

 

(1) Floodplains along rivers and floodplains along artificially formed great ponds along 

rivers, defined by the 100 year floodplain as designated on the Federal Emergency 

Management Agency's (FEMA) Flood Insurance Rate Maps or Flood Hazard 

Boundary Maps, or the flood of record, or in the absence of these, by soil types 

identified as recent floodplain soils. This district shall also include 100 year 

floodplains adjacent to tidal waters as shown on FEMA's Flood Insurance Rate Maps 

or Flood Hazard Boundary Maps. 

 

(2) Areas of two or more contiguous acres with sustained slopes of 20% or greater. 

 

(3) Areas of two (2) or more contiguous acres supporting wetland vegetation and hydric 

soils, which are not part of a freshwater or coastal wetland as defined, and which are 

not surficially connected to a water body during the period of normal high water. 

 

NOTE: These areas usually consist of forested wetlands abutting water bodies and non-

forested wetlands. 

 

(4) Land areas along rivers subject to severe bank erosion, undercutting, or river bed 

movement, and lands adjacent to tidal waters which are subject to severe erosion or 

mass movement, such as steep coastal bluffs. 

 

NOTE: Municipalities may also include the following other areas which have been 

recommended for protection in the comprehensive plan of the municipality, or as 

otherwise endorsed for protection by the municipal legislative body, such as: 

 

 A. Other important wildlife habitat; 

 

Comment [JW3]: Brunswick Zoning Ordinance 
Section 211.2.A.1(d) 

Comment [JW4]: Brunswick Zoning Ordinance 
Section 211.2.A.1(e) 

Comment [JW5]: Brunswick Zoning Ordinance 
Section 211.2.A.1(f) 

Comment [JW6]: Brunswick Zoning Ordinance 
Section 211.2.A.1(c) and 211.2.A.1(g) 



 B. Natural sites of significant scenic or esthetic value; 

 

 C. Areas designated by federal, state or municipal governments as natural areas 

of significance to be protected from development; and 

 

 D. Other significant areas which should be included in this district to fulfill the 

purposes of this Ordinance, such as, but not limited to, existing public access 

areas and certain significant archaeological and historic sites deserving of 

long-term protection as determined by the municipality after consultation 

with the Maine Historic Preservation Commission. 

 

 E. Areas within 250 feet, horizontal distance, of the upland edge of freshwater 

and/or coastal wetlands, which are rated "moderate" or "high" value 

waterfowl and wading bird habitat, including nesting and feeding areas, by 

the Maine Department of Inland Fisheries and Wildlife (MDIF&W). These 

areas are generally depicted on a Geographic Information System (GIS) data 

layer. 

 

Ch. 1000 Stream Protection District 
G. Stream Protection District. The Stream Protection District includes all land areas within 

seventy-five (75) feet, horizontal distance, of the normal high-water line of a stream, 

exclusive of those areas within two-hundred and fifty (250) feet, horizontal distance, of 

the normal high-water line of a great pond, or river, or within two hundred and fifty (250) 

feet, horizontal distance, of the upland edge of a freshwater or coastal wetland. Where a 

stream and its associated shoreland area are located within two-hundred and fifty (250) 

feet, horizontal distance, of the above water bodies or wetlands, that land area shall be 

regulated under the terms of the shoreland district associated with that water body or 

wetland. 

 

 

 

 

 

Comment [JW7]: Brunswick Zoning Ordinance 
Section 211.2.A.1(b) 

Comment [JW8]: Brunswick Zoning Ordinance 
all “streams” 



 Ch. 1000: Table 1. LAND USES IN THE 
SHORELAND ZONE

1. Non-intensive recreational uses not requiring structures such as hunting, fishing and hiking
yes yes yes yes yes yes

2. Motorized vehicular traffic on existing roads and trails yes yes yes yes yes yes

3. Forest management activities except for timber harvesting & land management roads yes yes yes yes yes yes

4. Timber harvesting yes CEO yes yes yes yes

5. Clearing or removal of vegetation for activities other than timber harvesting CEO CEO1 yes yes yes yes

6. Fire prevention activities yes yes yes yes yes yes

7. Wildlife management practices yes yes yes yes yes yes

8. Soil and water conservation practices yes yes yes yes yes yes

9. Mineral exploration no yes2 yes2 yes2 yes2 yes2

10. Mineral extraction including sand and gravel extraction no PB3 PB PB PB PB

11. Surveying and resource analysis yes yes yes yes yes yes

12. Emergency operations yes yes yes yes yes yes

13. Agriculture yes PB yes yes yes yes

14. Aquaculture PB PB PB yes yes yes

15. Principal structures and uses
A. One and two family residential, including driveways PB4 PB9 CEO CEO CEO no

B. Multi-unit residential no no PB PB PB no

C. Commercial no no10 no10 PB PB PB5

D. Industrial no no no no PB PB5

E. Governmental and institutional no no PB PB PB PB5

F. Small non-residential facilities for educational, scientific, or nature interpretation purposes PB4 PB CEO CEO CEO PB5

16. Structures accessory to allowed uses PB4 PB CEO CEO yes yes

17. Piers, docks, wharfs, bridges and other structures and uses extending over or below the 
normal high-water line or within a wetland
a. Temporary
b. Permanent

CEO11
PB

CEO11
PB

CEO11
PB

CEO11
PB

CEO11
PB

CEO11
PB5

18. Conversions of seasonal residences to year-round residences LPI LPI LPI LPI LPI no

19. Home occupations PB PB PB CEO yes yes

20. Private sewage disposal systems for allowed uses LPI LPI LPI LPI LPI LPI

21. Essential services PB6 PB6 PB PB PB PB

A. Roadside distribution lines (34.5kV and lower) CEO6 CEO6 yes12 yes12 yes12 yes12

B. Non-roadside or cross-country distribution lines involving ten poles or less in the shoreland 
zone

PB6 PB6 CEO CEO CEO CEO

C. Non-roadside or cross-country distribution lines involving eleven or more poles in the 
shoreland zone

PB6 PB6 PB PB PB PB

D. Other essential services PB6 PB6 PB PB PB PB

22. Service drops, as defined, to allowed uses yes yes yes yes yes yes

23. Public and private recreational areas involving minimal structural development PB PB PB CEO CEO CEO5

24. Individual, private campsites CEO CEO CEO CEO CEO CEO

25. Campgrounds no no7 PB PB PB no

26. Road construction PB no8 PB PB PB PB5

27. Land management roads yes PB yes yes yes yes

28. Parking facilities no no7 PB PB PB PB5

29. Marinas PB no PB PB PB PB

30. Filling and earth moving of <10 cubic yards CEO CEO yes yes yes yes

31. Filling and earth moving of >10 cubic yards PB PB CEO CEO CEO CEO
32. Signs yes yes yes yes yes yes

33. Uses similar to allowed uses CEO CEO CEO CEO CEO CEO

34. Uses similar to uses requiring a CEO permit CEO CEO CEO CEO CEO CEO

35. Uses similar to uses requiring a PB permit PB PB PB PB PB PB

LAND USES DISTRICT
SP RP LR LC GD CFMA



 

Pursuant to 06-096, Ch. 1000: All land use activities, as indicated in Table
1, Land Uses in the Shoreland Zone, shall conform with all of the
applicable land use standards in *Section 15.

Ch. 1000: Table of Land Uses

Key to Table 1:

Yes - Allowed (no permit required but the use must comply with all applicable land use standards.)

No - Prohibited

PB - Allowed with permit issued by the Planning Board.

CEO - Allowed with permit issued by the Code Enforcement Officer

LPI - Allowed with permit issued by the Local Plumbing Inspector

Abbreviations (Districts):

RP - Resource Protection GD - General Development I and General Development II

LR - Limited Residential CFMA - Commercial Fisheries/Maritime Activities

LC - Limited Commercial SP - Stream Protection

*06-096, Ch. 1000 §15 “Land Use Standards”

Ch. 1000: Filling and Earthmoving

Filling and 

earth moving 

of <10 cubic 

yards

CEO CEO yes yes yes yes

Filling and 

earth moving 

of >10 cubic 

yards

PB PB CEO CEO CEO CEO

LAND
USES

DISTRICT

SP RP LR LC GD CFMA



6/2/2016

1

NRPZ Amendment

• What is proposed?

• Mandatory Shoreland Zoning 

• Brunswick’s Zoning Ordinance  

• Chapter 1000 and NRPZ: Equivalent Protection

What is proposed?

• CEO written approval pursuant to Section 211 of Brunswick’s Zoning 
Ordinance for filling and earthmoving in all areas of the NRPZ with no 
threshold limits except for within 75 feet of streams; or within areas 
equivalent to a Ch. 1000 Resource Protection District, specifically:  
b. Town mapped moderate to high value wetlands
c. Maine Geological Survey mapped highly unstable and unstable bluffs
d. 100 Year floodplains adjacent to river & tidal areas
e. Greater than two (2) acres of steep slopes (>20%)
f. Greater than two (2) acres of wetlands
g. River and coastal land subject to severe erosion

• In areas described above CEO approval will be limited to less than 10 cubic 
yards of filling and earthmoving

• Development review will be required for exceeding 10 cubic yards 
adjacent to streams, and areas listed above (b‐g)
– Staff Review Committee (SRC) may review up to 100 cubic yards
– Planning Board may review more than 100 cubic yards  



6/2/2016

2

NRPZ:  Filling and Earthmoving

• The proposed amendment only applies to filling 
and earthmoving activities within the Natural 
Resource Protection Zone (NRPZ);

• As proposed, all filling and earthmoving within 
areas of the NRPZ that are not located in areas 
equivalent to Ch. 1000’s “Resource Protection 
District” or “Stream Protection District” are 
subject only to Code Enforcement Officer (CEO) 
review and written approval in accordance with 
Section 211 et al.  

NRPZ – Tidal Areas



6/2/2016

3

NRPZ ‐ River

NRPZ – “Moderate” to “High” Value 
Wetlands



6/2/2016

4

NRPZ – Unstable/Highly Unstable 
Bluffs, and Steep Slopes (>20%)

Note: As with the steep slopes depicted above, the 100 year floodplain restrictions within 
the NRPZ are only applied to the extent of the 100 year floodplain.  The principal 
and accessory structure setback is measured from the edge of the river, or coastal wetlands.  

NRPZ ‐ Stream



6/2/2016

5

Why?

Mandatory Shoreland Zoning Act

• Statute:  38 M.R.S.A. sections 435‐449 

• Requires all municipalities to adopt, administer, and 
enforce ordinances which regulate land use activities 
within 250 feet of great ponds, rivers, freshwater and 
coastal wetlands, including all tidal waters; and within 
75 feet of streams as defined. 

• Board of Environmental Protection (“board”) 
established minimum guidelines for ordinances by 
Department of Environmental Protection (DEP) Rule 
– 06‐096, Chapter 1000



6/2/2016

6

Brunswick’s Shoreland Zoning

• Brunswick’s Shoreland Zoning Ordinance may be no 
less restrictive than Ch. 1000;

• Brunswick does not require review of filling and 
earthmoving activities within the NRPZ unless ancillary 
to a permitted activity (Example: earthwork associated 
with constructing a single family house);

• Ch. 1000 requires municipalities to review filling and 
earthmoving activities within the Shoreland Zone;

• Brunswick’s Zoning Ordinance is therefore less 
restrictive than Ch. 1000.

Town of Brunswick
Review Authority

• Code of Ordinances: Sec. 5‐51. ‐ Building code  

– Applies to constructing buildings, structures, and 
demolition

– Reviewed by Code Enforcement Officer (CEO) or 
designee

• Brunswick Zoning Ordinance

– Zoning Districts and Overlay Zones
• Zoning Districts = Chapter 2, Sections 201‐208, Appendices III, 
IV, and V 

• Overlay Zones = Chapter 2, Sections 209‐217 



6/2/2016

7

Brunswick’s Overlay Zones

1. Coastal Protection Zone 
2. Aquifer Protection Zone 
3. Natural Resource Protection Zone
4. Medical Use Zone
5. Mobile Home Park Zone
6. Telecommunications Zone 
7. BNAS Flight Path Zone 
8. Village Review Zone 
9. Rural Brunswick Smart Growth

Section 211: Natural Resource 
Protection Zone (NRPZ)

• NRPZ consists of the following areas:

– Shoreland Area:

• land within 250 feet of rivers, and wetlands; 

• within 75 feet of streams

– Special Flood Hazard Area 

• FEMA 100 Year Flood



6/2/2016

8

Brunswick’s Current Zoning Ordinance
NRPZ

• The Code Enforcement Officer (CEO) or Local 
Plumbing Inspector (LPI) reviews and approves 
most activities within the NRPZ; 

• CEO/LPI approval may be required for many 
activities such as the construction of a new 
structure, or the installation of a new septic 
system;

• Activities described above and within areas 
described at Section 211.2.A.1(a‐g) are either 
prohibited or development review (Staff Review 
Committee (SRC) or Planning Board)

NRPZ 
211.2.A.1(a)

a. Areas within one hundred twenty‐five (125) 
feet, horizontal distance, of the normal high 
water line of a river; 

‐or within one hundred twenty‐five (125) feet, 
horizontal distance, of the upland edge of a 
coastal or freshwater wetland; 

‐or within seventy‐five (75) feet, horizontal 
distance, of the normal high water line of a 
stream. (Amended 11/18/02 R, 6/15/09 R)



6/2/2016

9

Pursuant to 06‐096, Ch. 1000: All land use activities, as indicated in Table
1, Land Uses in the Shoreland Zone, shall conform with all of the
applicable land use standards in *Section 15.

Ch. 1000: Table of Land Uses

Key to Table 1:

Yes ‐ Allowed (no permit required but the use must comply with all applicable land use standards.)

No ‐ Prohibited

PB ‐ Allowed with permit issued by the Planning Board.

CEO ‐ Allowed with permit issued by the Code Enforcement Officer

LPI ‐ Allowed with permit issued by the Local Plumbing Inspector

Abbreviations (Districts):

RP ‐ Resource Protection GD ‐ General Development I and General Development II

LR ‐ Limited Residential CFMA ‐ Commercial Fisheries/Maritime Activities

LC ‐ Limited Commercial SP ‐ Stream Protection

*06‐096, Ch. 1000 §15 “Land Use Standards”

Ch. 1000: Table 1. LAND USES IN THE 
SHORELAND ZONE

1. Non‐intensive recreational uses not requiring structures such as hunting, fishing and hiking
yes yes yes yes yes yes

2. Motorized vehicular traffic on existing roads and trails yes yes yes yes yes yes

3. Forest management activities except for timber harvesting & land management roads yes yes yes yes yes yes

4. Timber harvesting yes CEO yes yes yes yes

5. Clearing or removal of vegetation for activities other than timber harvesting CEO CEO1 yes yes yes yes

6. Fire prevention activities yes yes yes yes yes yes

7. Wildlife management practices yes yes yes yes yes yes

8. Soil and water conservation practices yes yes yes yes yes yes

9. Mineral exploration no yes2 yes2 yes2 yes2 yes2

10. Mineral extraction including sand and gravel extraction no PB3 PB PB PB PB

11. Surveying and resource analysis yes yes yes yes yes yes

12. Emergency operations yes yes yes yes yes yes

13. Agriculture yes PB yes yes yes yes

14. Aquaculture PB PB PB yes yes yes

15. Principal structures and uses
A. One and two family residential, including driveways PB4 PB9 CEO CEO CEO no

B. Multi‐unit residential no no PB PB PB no

C. Commercial no no10 no10 PB PB PB5

D. Industrial no no no no PB PB5

E. Governmental and institutional no no PB PB PB PB5

F. Small non‐residential facilities for educational, scientific, or nature interpretation purposes PB4 PB CEO CEO CEO PB5

16. Structures accessory to allowed uses PB4 PB CEO CEO yes yes

17. Piers, docks, wharfs, bridges and other structures and uses extending over or below the 
normal high‐water line or within a wetland
a. Temporary
b. Permanent

CEO11
PB

CEO11
PB

CEO11
PB

CEO11
PB

CEO11
PB

CEO11
PB5

18. Conversions of seasonal residences to year‐round residences LPI LPI LPI LPI LPI no

19. Home occupations PB PB PB CEO yes yes

20. Private sewage disposal systems for allowed uses LPI LPI LPI LPI LPI LPI

21. Essential services PB6 PB6 PB PB PB PB

A. Roadside distribution lines (34.5kV and lower) CEO6 CEO6 yes12 yes12 yes12 yes12

B. Non‐roadside or cross‐country distribution lines involving ten poles or less in the shoreland 
zone

PB6 PB6 CEO CEO CEO CEO

C. Non‐roadside or cross‐country distribution lines involving eleven or more poles in the 
shoreland zone

PB6 PB6 PB PB PB PB

D. Other essential services PB6 PB6 PB PB PB PB

22. Service drops, as defined, to allowed uses yes yes yes yes yes yes

23. Public and private recreational areas involving minimal structural development PB PB PB CEO CEO CEO5

24. Individual, private campsites CEO CEO CEO CEO CEO CEO

25. Campgrounds no no7 PB PB PB no

26. Road construction PB no8 PB PB PB PB5

27. Land management roads yes PB yes yes yes yes

28. Parking facilities no no7 PB PB PB PB5

29. Marinas PB no PB PB PB PB

30. Filling and earth moving of <10 cubic yards CEO CEO yes yes yes yes

31. Filling and earth moving of >10 cubic yards PB PB CEO CEO CEO CEO
32. Signs yes yes yes yes yes yes

33. Uses similar to allowed uses CEO CEO CEO CEO CEO CEO

34. Uses similar to uses requiring a CEO permit CEO CEO CEO CEO CEO CEO

35. Uses similar to uses requiring a PB permit PB PB PB PB PB PB

LAND USES DISTRICT
SP  RP LR LC GD CFMA



6/2/2016

10

Ch. 1000: Filling and Earthmoving

Filling and 
earth moving 
of <10 cubic 
yards

CEO CEO yes yes yes yes

Filling and 
earth moving 
of >10 cubic 
yards

PB PB CEO CEO CEO CEO

LAND
USES

DISTRICT

SP  RP LR LC GD CFMA

Stream Protections

• Stream protections in the Shoreland Zone are 
based on the stream definition:

– Ch. 1000: “Stream” and Stream Protection District

– Ch. 1000:“Tributary Stream”

– Brunswick’s Zoning Ordinance: “Stream”

• Equivalent to Ch. 1000 Stream Protection District



6/2/2016

11

Brunswick Zoning Ordinance:
NRPZ “Stream”

STREAM ‐ A channel between defined banks created by the action of surface water and has two (2) or more of 
the following characteristics. 

A. It contains or is known to contain flowing water continuously for a period of at least 6 months of the 
year under normal seasonal rainfall conditions. 

B. The channel bed is primarily composed of mineral material such as sand, scoured silt, gravel, clay, or 
other parent material that has been deposited or scoured by water. 

C. The channel contains aquatic animals such as fish, aquatic insects or mollusks in the water or, if no surface 
water is present, within the stream bed. 

D. The channel contains aquatic vegetation and is essentially devoid of upland vegetation. 

This definition is based on physical characteristics that in case of development need to be field verified. 

The Town has attempted to map streams throughout the community to serve as an initial guide for land 
owners and developers. This information is available in the Town Planning and Codes Enforcement Offices, but 
should not be considered a substitute for field verification. 

Bordering freshwater wetlands that are not separated from the stream channel by a distinct change in 
elevation (such as hillside groundwater seeps) or barrier, and wetlands that are subject to periodic flooding or 
soil saturation as a result of high stream flows are considered part of the stream. Where these wetlands are 
present, the normal high water line of the stream is measured from the upland / wetland transition of 
bordering wetlands subject to periodic 11c stream water flooding or saturation, or where changes in wetland 
vegetation, soil characteristics, or topography clearly demonstrate wetland hydrology not associated with 
associated with periodic flood flows. 

Natural and artificial impoundments at the source and along the course of the stream are considered to be part 
of the stream. Stream does not mean a ditch or other drainage way constructed, or constructed and 
maintained, solely for the purpose of draining storm water or a grassy swale. (Amended 11/18/02 R) 

NRPZ Equivalent to 
Ch. 1000 Resource Protection District

• NRPZ Section 211.2.A.1(b‐g)
b. Town mapped moderate to high value wetlands

c. Maine Geological Survey mapped highly 
unstable and unstable bluffs

d. 100 Year floodplains adjacent to river & tidal 
areas

e. Greater than two (2) acres of steep slopes 
(>20%)

f. Greater than two (2) acres of wetlands

g. River and coastal land subject to severe erosion



6/2/2016

12

One more time…  What is proposed?

• CEO written approval pursuant to Section 211 of Brunswick’s Zoning 
Ordinance for filling and earthmoving in all areas of the NRPZ with no 
threshold limits except for within 75 feet of streams; and within areas 
equivalent to a Ch. 1000 Resource Protection District, specifically:  
b. Town mapped moderate to high value wetlands
c. Maine Geological Survey mapped highly unstable and unstable bluffs
d. 100 Year floodplains adjacent to river & tidal areas
e. Greater than two (2) acres of steep slopes (>20%)
f. Greater than two (2) acres of wetlands
g. River and coastal land subject to severe erosion

• In areas described above CEO approval will be limited to less than 10 cubic 
yards of filling and earthmoving

• Development review will be required for exceeding 10 cubic yards 
adjacent to streams, and areas listed above (b‐g)
– Staff Review Committee (SRC) may review up to 100 cubic yards
– Planning Board may review more than 100 cubic yards  



ITEM 57
BACK UP MATERIALS 



Town of Brunswick, Maine 
	

OFFICE	OF	THE	TOWN	MANAGER	
	
	

O:\Council\Council	By	Year\Council	2016\Memo	Frank	Wood	Bridge	060116.docx	

MEMORANDUM	
	
TO:	 Town	Council	
	
FROM:	 John	Eldridge	
	 Town	Manager	
	
DATE:	 June	1,	2016	
	
SUBJECT:	 Frank	J.	Wood	Bridge	
	
	
At	your	last	meeting,	we	presented	a	draft	resolution	which,	if	adopted,	would	express	the	Town	
Council’s	support	for	the	Maine	Department	of	Transportation’s	(MDOT)	recommendation	for	the	
replacement	of	the	Frank	J.	Wood	Bridge.		MDOT	concluded	that	replacement	was	preferable	to	
rehabilitation	for	the	reasons	set	forth	in	the	draft	resolution.	
	
Attached	is	a	revised	draft	resolution.		In	particular,	this	draft	adds	an	expression	of	the	Town’s	
desire	to	be	named	as	a	“consulting	party”	in	the	process	referred	to	as	the	Section	106	historic	
preservation	review,	required	for	projects	that	receive	federal	funding.		Section	106	of	the	National	
Historic	Preservation	Act	of	1966	(NHPA)	requires	that	federal	agencies	take	into	account	the	
effects	of	their	undertakings	on	historic	properties,	and	affords	the	Advisory	Council	on	Historic	
Preservation	(ACHP)	a	reasonable	opportunity	to	comment.		Information	taken	from	the	ACHP	
website,	summarizing	the	section	106	process,	is	also	attached.	
	
Recall	that	the	resolution	proposes	to	establish	a	Design	Advisory	Committee	(DAC)	to	work	with	
the	MDOT	to	optimize	the	final	design	of	a	new	bridge.		Staff	has	reached	out	to	various	committees	
and	has	identified	several	individuals	who	are	willing	to	serve	on	the	DAC.	
	
Since	the	resolution	was	introduced,	the	Brunswick	Development	Corporation	(BDC)	and	the	
Southern	Midcoast	Maine	Chamber	(SMMC)	voted	to	support	the	project.		The	BDC’s	letter	of	
support	and	the	SMCC’s	resolution	are	attached.		We	expect	others	will	attend	your	June	6th	meeting	
to	speak	to	the	resolution	proposed	for	the	Brunswick	Town	Council.	
	
We	understand	that	the	Topsham	Board	of	Selectmen,	at	its	June	2nd	meeting,	will	be	considering	a	
resolution	similar	to	the	one	proposed	for	Brunswick.	
	
Finally,	we	would	be	happy	to	respond	to	any	questions	the	Council	may	have.	
	
	
Attachments	



 

O:\Council\Council	Resolutions\Frank	Wood	Bridge	Resolution.docx	

TOWN	OF	BRUNSWICK,	MAINE	
TOWN	COUNCIL	

	
A	Resolution	Expressing	the	Town	Council’s	Support	for	the	Maine	Department	of	

Transportation’s	Proposal	to	Replace	the	Frank	J.	Wood	Bridge	
	
	

WHEREAS,	the	Brunswick	Town	Council	acknowledges	and	respects	the	long	service	of	the	Frank	J.	
Wood	Bridge	(the	Bridge),	the	main	link	spanning	the	Androscoggin	River	between	the	lower	
village	of	Topsham	and	downtown	Brunswick;	and	
	
WHEREAS,	the	Maine	Department	of	Transportation	(MDOT)	investigated	both	rehabilitation	and	
replacement	of	the	Bridge;	and	
	
WHEREAS,	among	MDOT’s	considerations	were	the	following	factors:	
	

 accelerating	deterioration	in	the	condition	of	the	existing	bridge	
 increasing	maintenance	and	inspection	costs	associated	with	a	rehabilitated	bridge	
 adverse	impacts	to	local	businesses	arising	from	repeated,	lengthy	closures	required	for	

rehabilitation		
 significantly	longer	life	span	of	and	lower	life‐cycle	costs	of	a	new	bridge	
 safer	transportation	facilities	for	pedestrians	and	bicyclists	

	
WHEREAS,	after	its	investigation	and	analysis,	MDOT	recommended	replacement	with	a	new	
bridge	to	be	located	upstream	of	the	current	Bridge;	and		
	
WHEREAS,	MDOT	is	encouraging	the	communities	to	participate	in	the	final	design	of	the	
replacement	to	ensure	that	it	best	meets	the	needs	of	all	who	will	use	the	bridge;	
	
NOW	THEREFORE,	BE	IT	RESOLVED,	that	the	Brunswick	Town	Council	supports	the	replacement	
of	the	Frank	J.	Wood	Bridge	with	a	new	bridge	that	includes	improved	safety	and	access	for	all	
users,	including	pedestrians	and	bicyclists.			
	
BE	IT	FURTHER	RESOLVED,	that	to	ensure	that	the	final	design	for	a	new	bridge	best	meets	the	
public’s	transportation	needs	while	incorporating,	to	the	extent	technically	and	financially	feasible,	
the	aesthetic	and	functional	preferences	of	both	Topsham	and	Brunswick,	the	Brunswick	Town	
Council	agrees	to	appoint	members	to	a	joint	Brunswick/Topsham	Design	Advisory	Committee	to	
work	with	the	MDOT	to	optimize	the	final	design	of	a	new	bridge.			
	
BE	IT	FURTHER	RESOLVED,	that	pursuant	to	36	CFR	§	800.2(c)(3)1,	a	representative	of	a	local	
government	with	jurisdiction	over	the	area	in	which	the	effects	of	an	undertaking	may	occur	is	
entitled	to	participate	as	a	consulting	party.		The	Town	of	Brunswick	ask	that	its	status	as	an	
entitled	consulting	party	be	reorganized	and	hereby	appoints	Linda	Smith,	Director	of	Economic	
Development,	to	be	the	Town’s	representative	in	the	§	106	process	for	the	Frank	J.	Wood	Bridge.	
	
	
	
	
                                                            
1	CFR	–	Code	of	Federal	Regulations	











Southern	Midcoast	Maine	Chamber	
	
RESOLUTION	REGARDING	THE	TOPSHAM‐BRUNSWICK	BRIDGE	
	
Adopted:	May	26,	2016	
	
	
	
WHEREAS:		The	Directors	of	the	Southern	Midcoast	Maine	Chamber	of	Commerce	acknowledge	and	
respect	the	long	service	of	the	Frank	J.	Wood	Bridge,	but	also	express	the	following	very	strong	
concerns	regarding	continued	reliance	on	this	84‐year‐old	bridge:	
	

 Accelerating	deterioration	in	the	condition	of	the	existing	bridge	
 Increasing	maintenance	and	inspection	costs	associated	with	a	rehabilitated	bridge	
 Very	substantial	adverse	impacts	to	local	businesses	arising	from	the	repeated,	lengthy	

closures	required	for	rehabilitation	of	the	existing	bridge	
 Much	lower	life‐cycle	costs	of	a	new	bridge	
 Significantly	improved	and	safer	transportation	facilities	provided	by	a	new	bridge	for	all	

users,	including	pedestrians	and	bicyclists	
 The	fact	that	the	bridge	would	still	need	to	be	replaced	–	at	even	higher	cost	–	at	the	end	of	

the	limited	additional	useful	life	resulting	from	a	rehabilitation	
 The	recommendation	of	the	Maine	Department	of	Transportation	that	the	existing	bridge	be	

replaced,	based	upon	more	than	a	year	of	careful	consideration	of	all	alternatives,	including	
rehabilitation	

	
BE	IT	RESOLVED,	THEREFORE:	That	the	Directors	of	the	Southern	Midcoast	Maine	Chamber	of	
Commerce	fully	support	the	replacement	of	the	Frank	J.	Wood	Bridge	with	a	new	bridge	that	
includes	improved	access	and	safety	for	all	users,	including	pedestrians	and	bicyclists,	and	
minimizes	the	current	and	future	financial	impacts	on	our	communities.	Furthermore,	to	ensure	
local	input	on	the	design	of	the	bridge,	the	Directors	encourage	the	Towns	of	Brunswick	and	
Topsham	to	establish	a	joint	Design	Advisory	Committee	to	work	with	the	Maine	Department	of	
Transportation	to	optimize	the	final	design	for	the	new	bridge.		
	
	
	
http://www.midcoastmaine.com/blog/post/southern‐midcoast‐maine‐chamber‐resolution‐
regarding‐the‐topsham‐brunswick‐bridge‐adopted‐may‐26‐2016	
	



ITEM 67
BACK UP MATERIALS 



Town of Brunswick, Maine 
 

OFFICE OF THE TOWN MANAGER 
 
 

MEMORANDUM 
 
TO: Town Council 
 
FROM: John Eldridge 
 Town Manager 
 
DATE: May 12, 2016 
 
SUBJECT: Town Hall Trim Repairs 
 
 
 
Attached is a revised estimate for the Town Hall Trim replacement project.  Since the last Town 
Council meeting, we have had the exterior doors re-evaluated and we are no longer recommending 
replacement of all the exterior doors.  However, we have included an allowance for plywood 
replacement and increased the amount we recommended for contingency.  We are hopeful that 
much of the allowance and contingency will not be needed.  That depends on the damage that is 
uncovered once the work begins.  We also intend to use a portion of the contingency to assist in the 
management/inspection of the project. 
 
Also attached is the proposed bond ordinance and public hearing notice.  While we are still 
recommending that the project be funded with debt, we will reevaluate funding sources prior to the 
issuance of debt, should another source be deemed to be more desirable.   
 
Finally, we have also prepared a brief presentation that follows the format we are now using for 
presenting capital projects.  We look forward to your questions on the 16th.  
 
 
Attachments 



Print Date:  May 12, 2016

Item Type Window Size Quantity Unit Total Cost

A Window A 8' x 8' 17   ea. 10,730.82$         
B Window B 4.34 x 4' 20   ea. 5,445.35$           
C Window C 2 x 6' 2   ea. 1,507.57$           
D Window D 4 x 6' 32   ea. 11,706.67$         
E Window E 4 x 4.34' 8   ea. 2,078.44$           
F Window F 4.34 x 5' 30   ea. 7,254.47$           
G Window G 5 x 9' 2   ea. 822.12$              
H Window H 5 x 9' 2   ea. 700.92$              
J Window J 4 x 4' 2   ea. 914.83$              
K Gable Trim/Rake 292   l.f. 9,770.32$           
L Fascia/No Soffit 260   l.f. 6,389.76$           
M Trim @ Flare 248   l.f. 8,412.16$           
N Horizontal Trim 2360   s.f. 36,500.08$         
O Replace Trim Around 5 Doors 5   ea. 5,000.00$           
P Allowance for Replacing Plywood 400   s.f. 10,000.00$         
Q Manlift Rental 4  months 6,400.00$           
R Misc. Fasteners L.S. 800.00$              
S Replace Six Panel Door 1   ea. 3,300.00$           
T Replace Hollow Metal Frame w/SS 1   ea. 3,500.00$           

Overhead & Profit 23,622.03$         
Total Estimated Construction Cost 154,855.54$       

Contingency 25% 38,713.88$         
Total Estimated Project Cost 193,569.42$       

Recommended Project Budget: 194,000.00$       

Scope of Project:  Replace trim around all windows and doors, including panels on all 
three floors of building with AZEK™ or equal composite wood.

Updated Town Hall Trim Replacement Estimate
85 Union Street

Estimate by Warren Construction Group and John 
Foster, Town Eng.



TOWN OF BRUNSWICK, MAINE 

An Ordinance Authorizing the Removal and Replacement of Exterior Trim Elements of the 
Brunswick Town Hall, with Total Project Costs Not to Exceed $200,000 (plus any other costs 

authorized hereunder), and Further Authorizing Issuance of Bonds and Notes in an Amount not to 
Exceed $200,000 (plus cost of issuance), plus any Additional Appropriation Authorized Hereunder  

WHEREAS, the Town Council (the “Town Council”) of the Town of Brunswick (the “Town”) has 
adopted a Capital Improvement Program for the fiscal years ending June 30, 2016-2020 (the “CIP”); and 

WHEREAS, the CIP recommends removal and replacement of exterior trim elements of the Brunswick 
Town Hall at 85 Union Street ; (the “Town Hall Trim Project” or “Project”) and, 

WHEREAS, the Town has established a project budget of $200,000, all of which is expected to be 
financed with the issue of general obligation bonds; and  

WHEREAS, the Charter of the Town of Brunswick, Maine (the “Charter”) requires that any capital 
acquisition to be financed solely or partly by the issuance of bonds or notes to be authorized by ordinance; 

NOW THEREFORE THE FOLLOWING ORDINANCE IS ADOPTED. 

Section 1.  Funding Sources and Appropriations. 

a. A total of two hundred thousand ($200,000), plus any additional amounts authorized
under this ordinance, are appropriated to finance the cost of removal and replacement of
exterior trim elements of the Brunswick Town Hall at 85 Union Street, and any other
components and costs deemed necessary by the Town Manager to repair and improve the
building envelope (the “Project”).

b. The issue and sale of the Town’s general obligation bonds or notes (and notes in
anticipation thereof) is authorized in an aggregate principal amount not to exceed two
hundred thousand dollars ($200,000), plus the cost of issuance.  The proceeds of the
bonds and notes are appropriated to finance the costs of the Project.  The bonds and notes
may also be used to reimburse the Town for any prior expenditures on the Project, or to
refinance notes or advances as authorized herein.

Section 2.  Authorization to Remove and Replace Exterior Trim on the Brunswick Town 
Hall.  The Town Manager is authorized to negotiate, execute, and deliver, in the name of and on behalf of 
the Town, such contracts, agreements, and other documents and certificates as the Town Manager may 
determine to be necessary or appropriate in connection with the Project.  The aforementioned items shall 
be in such form and contain such terms and conditions as may be approved by the Town Manager.  Such 
approval shall be conclusively evidenced by the Town Manager’s execution thereof, provided however, 
that the Town Manager may delegate the authority granted hereunder as the Town Manager deems 
appropriate. 

Section 3.  Project Costs Defined.  The term “cost” or “costs” as used herein and applied to the 
Project, or any portion thereof, includes: 



a. the cost of planning, and engineering, and other professional services associated with the
Project;

b. the costs related to applying for and obtaining all permits and licenses,
c. the cost of constructing the Project, and all costs determined by the Town Manager to be

necessary to place the Project in service and ready for its intended use;
d. the cost of insuring the Project while under construction and for a reasonable period upon

substantial completion of the project, including builders risk, general liability, product
liability, workers compensation and any other insurance costs the Town Manager
determines is related to the Project;

e. the costs of financing the Project including but not limited to financing charges and
issuance costs, underwriters' fees and costs, legal and accounting fees and costs,
application fees, and other fees and expenses related to financing the Project;

f. interest costs prior to and during construction and for a period not to exceed three years
from the issue date of the bonds, underwriters' fees and costs, legal and accounting fees
and costs, application fees, and other fees and expenses related to the financing
transaction;

g. any other costs identified in the Project budget provided with the proposal, and the cost of
any other items or services deemed to be cost under generally accepted accounting
principles (“GAAP”) as determined by the Town’s Finance Director.

Section 4.  Details of the Bonds or Notes.   

a. Execution and Delivery of Bonds and Notes.  The bonds and notes issued hereunder, and
any issued as the result of exchanges or transfers, shall be signed by the Treasurer and be
countersigned by the Chair of the Town Council.  The bonds and notes shall have the seal
of the Town affixed thereon, and be attested by the Town Clerk.  The Treasurer and Chair
of the Town Council, from time to time, shall execute such bonds and notes as may be
required to provide for exchanges or transfers of bonds and notes hereinbefore
authorized.

b. Book Entry Certificates  In lieu of physical certificates of the bonds and notes, the
Treasurer be and hereby is authorized to undertake all acts necessary to provide for the
issuance and transfer of such bonds and notes in book-entry form pursuant to the
Depository Trust Company Book-Entry Only System.  As an alternative to the provisions
herein regarding physical transfer of bonds, and the Treasurer is authorized and
empowered to enter into a Letter of Representation or any other contract, agreement or
understanding necessary or, in the Treasurer’s opinion, appropriate in order to qualify the
bonds for and participate in the Depository Trust Company Book-Entry Only System.

c. Tax Exempt Bonds Option.  The Treasurer and Chair of the Town Council are
individually authorized to determine whether to issue the bonds and notes authorized
herein as taxable bonds and notes or tax-exempt bonds and notes.  To the extent such
bonds and notes are issued as tax-exempt bonds, the Treasurer and Chair of the Town
Council are individually authorized to covenant and agree, on behalf of the Town and for
the benefit of the holders of such bonds and notes, that the Town will file any required
reports and take any other action that may be necessary to ensure that interest on the
bonds and notes will remain exempt from federal income taxation and that the Town will



refrain from any action that would cause interest on the bonds and notes to be subject to 
federal income taxation. 

d. No Arbitrage Certification.  The Treasurer and Chair of the Town Council are
individually authorized to covenant and certify on behalf of the Town that no part of the
proceeds of the bonds and notes shall be used directly or indirectly to acquire any
securities or obligations, the acquisition of which would cause such bonds or notes to be
“arbitrage bonds” within the meaning of Section 148 of the Internal Revenue Code of
1986, as amended.

e. Qualified Tax Exempt Obligations.  The Treasurer is hereby authorized and empowered
to take all such action as may be necessary to designate such bonds and/or notes as
qualified tax-exempt obligations for purposes of Section 265(b) of the Code; it being the
Town’s intention that the Treasurer, with advice of bond counsel, to make the required
Section 265(b) election with respect to such bonds and notes, but only to the extent the
election may be available and advisable as determined by the Treasurer.

f. Principal Denominations.  The principal amount of the bonds of the same maturity shall
be such minimum denomination as the Treasurer, in the Treasurer’s discretion, may
approve.

g. Maturities and Interest Rates.  The maturity(ies), interest rate(s) and sale price of the
bonds or notes issued hereunder shall be either sent out to bid or negotiated by the
Treasurer in such manner as the Treasurer deems appropriate and in the best interest of
the Town and the financing of the above-referenced Project.  The Treasurer be and
hereby is authorized to provide that any of the bonds or notes hereinbefore authorized
may be made callable, with or without premium, prior to their stated dates of maturity.
The bonds or notes hereby authorized shall be in such form and to otherwise contain such
other terms and provisions as the Treasurer may approve, his or her approval to be
conclusively evidenced by his/her execution thereof.

h. Consolidation of Bond or Notes.  Any or all of the bonds or notes issued hereunder may
be consolidated with and become a part of any other issue of bonds or notes authorized to
be issued by any previous or subsequent ordinance of the Town Council of the Town of
Brunswick.

i. Other Authorized Officials.  If the Treasurer, Chair of the Town Council or Town Clerk
are for any reason unavailable to approve and execute the bonds hereinbefore authorized
or any other documents necessary or convenient to the issuance, execution and delivery
of the bonds, the person or persons then acting in any such capacity, whether as an
assistant, a deputy, or otherwise, is authorized to act for such official with the same force
and effect as if such official had performed such act.

j. Absence of Officials Prior to Delivery.  If any of the officials of the Town who have
signed or sealed the bonds or notes shall cease to be such officials before the bonds or
notes signed and sealed shall have been actually authenticated or delivered by the Town,
such bonds and notes nevertheless may be authenticated, issued, and delivered with the
same force and effect as though the person or persons who signed or sealed such bonds or
notes had not ceased to be such officer or official; and also any such bonds and notes may
be signed and sealed on behalf of the Town by those persons who, at the actual date of



the execution of such bonds and notes, shall be the proper officials of the Town, although 
at the nominal date of such bonds and notes any such person shall not have been such 
officer or official. 

Section 5.  Sale of Bonds or Notes and Registrar, Paying Agent and Transfer Agent 

a. Official Statement.  The Treasurer is authorized to prepare, or cause to be prepared, a
Preliminary Official Statement and an Official Statement for use in the offering and sale
of the bonds or notes.  The Preliminary Official Statement and Official Statement shall be
in such form and contain such information as may be approved by the Treasurer, with the
advice of the underwriter for the bonds or notes and bond counsel for the Town.  The
distribution of the Preliminary Official Statement and the Official Statement in the name
of and on behalf of the Town in connection with offering the bonds or notes is approved.

b. Counsel.  The Treasurer is authorized to select Issuer Counsel, Bond Counsel and any
other counsel the Treasurer deems necessary in connection with the planning, sale and
issuance of the notes or bonds, and to execute and deliver such contracts or agreements as
may be necessary or appropriate in connection therewith.

c. Underwriter.  The Treasurer is authorized to select the underwriter for the bonds and
notes, and to execute and deliver such contracts or agreements as may be necessary or
appropriate in connection therewith.

d. Registrar, Paying Agent and Transfer Agent.  The Treasurer is authorized to select the
registrar, paying agent, and transfer agent for the bonds or notes and to execute and
deliver such contracts and agreements as may be necessary or appropriate to secure their
services.  The bonds and notes shall be transferable only on the registration books of the
Town kept by the transfer agent.  Upon surrender of the bonds or notes with an
accompanying written instrument of exchange or transfer, executed by the registered
owner or the owner’s attorney, duly authorized in writing and satisfactory to the transfer
agent, the Town and the transfer agent shall make a charge sufficient to cover any tax, fee
or any other governmental charge required to be payable with respect to such exchange or
transfer.  Subsequent to the first exchange or transfer, the cost of preparing new bonds or
notes upon exchanges or transfer thereof shall be paid by the person requesting the same.

Section 6.  Refunding.  The Treasurer and Chair of the Town Council be and hereby are 
authorized to execute a refunding of general obligation bonds and notes herein authorized when the 
Treasurer and the Chair of the Town Council determine that such refunding is in the best interest of the 
Town.  All delegated authority provided pursuant to this ordinance shall also apply to a refunding bond 
and note issue relating to the general obligation bonds and notes herein authorized. 

Section 7.  Continuing Disclosure.  The Treasurer and Chair of the Town Council be and hereby 
are individually authorized to covenant, certify, and agree, on behalf of the Town, for the benefit of the 
holders of such bonds and notes, that the Town will file any required reports, make any annual financial 
or material event disclosure, and take any other action that may be necessary to ensure that the disclosure 
requirements imposed by Rule 15c12-12 of the Securities and Exchange Commission are met. 

Section 8.  Investment Earnings and Other Bond Proceeds.  Any investment earnings on the 
proceeds of the bonds and notes and any other unexpended proceeds thereof are appropriated for the 
following purposes: 



a. To any costs of the Project in excess of the amounts authorized herein;
b. In accordance with the applicable terms and conditions of the Town’s Arbitrage and Use

of Proceeds Certificate delivered in connection with the sale of the bonds or notes
including, to the extent permitted thereunder, to interest on the bonds or notes, or to the
Town's general fund;

c. To any other qualified costs approved by the Town Council and not prohibited by the
Town Charter or Ordinances, Maine law or the Internal Revenue Code.

Section 9.  Authority to Levy Tax for Debt Service.  In each of the years during which any of 
the bonds or notes are outstanding, there shall be levied a tax in an amount which, with other revenues, if 
any, available for that purpose, shall be sufficient to pay the interest on said bonds or notes, payable in 
such year, and the principal of such bonds maturing in such year. 

Section 10.  Advances to Fund Project.  The Town is authorized to make advances, from the 
Town’s general fund to a capital projects fund, in an aggregate amount not to exceed $200,000 in 
anticipation of the issuance of bonds or notes, or for the purpose of financing any part of the Project.  
Advances used in lieu of bonds or notes authorized hereunder, are appropriated to finance the cost, or any 
part thereof, of the Project.  The Treasurer is authorized to establish and amend all details of any advances 
including, but not limited to the term, interest rates, and payment schedule.  The authority to issue the 
bonds and notes authorized herein shall remain and continue in full force and effect during the entire term 
of the advance(s).  The proceeds of the bonds and notes issued hereunder may be used to repay the 
advance(s) of any portion thereof. 

Section 11.  Declaration of Official Intent.  Advances from the Town’s general fund may 
finance the original expenditures related to the Project.  It is expected that those advances will be 
reimbursed in part or in whole by the issuance of bonds or notes authorized hereunder.  It is the intent of 
the Town Council that this Ordinance shall constitute the Town’s declaration of official intent within the 
meaning of Treasury Regulation 1.150-2.  

Section 12.  Abandonment of Borrowing Authority.  The Treasurer is empowered to declare 
abandoned, the authority to issue any bonds or notes the Treasurer deems to be in excess of the amount 
necessary to complete the Project.  Such a declaration once made may not be reversed other than by 
ordinance. 

Proposed to Town Council: May 2, 2016 
Public Hearing: 
Adopted by Town Council: 



TOWN OF BRUNSWICK 
NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING 

The Town Council will hold a public hearing on Monday, May 16, 2016 at 7:00 p.m. in the Council 
Chambers of the Brunswick Town Hall, 85 Union Street, to consider the following: 

An Ordinance Authorizing the Removal and Replacement of Exterior Trim Elements of the 
Brunswick Town Hall, with Total Project Costs Not to Exceed $200,000 (plus any other costs 

authorized hereunder), and Further Authorizing Issuance of Bonds and Notes in an Amount not to 
Exceed $200,000 (plus cost of issuance), plus any Additional Appropriation Authorized Hereunder 

The text of the proposed ordinance is too extensive to be included with this notice.  Anyone having 
questions about the proposed ordinance or wishing to obtain copies of it should contact the Brunswick 
Town Clerk's or Town Manager's Office during regular office hours Monday through Friday from 8:30 
a.m. to 4:30 p.m. 

INDIVIDUALS NEEDING AUXILIARY AIDS FOR EFFECTIVE COMMUNICATION PLEASE 
CONTACT THE TOWN MANAGER'S OFFICE AT 725-6659 (TDD 725-5521) 

Frances M. Smith 
Town Clerk of Brunswick, Maine 

__________, 2016 

Printed in the Times Record on ________, 2016 



T
o

w
n

 H
al

l 
E

x
te

ri
o

r 
T

ri
m

 

B
ef

o
re

 
A

ft
er

 



T
o

w
n

 H
al

l 
E

x
te

ri
o

r 
T

ri
m

 
•

E
x

am
p

le
s 

o
f 

d
am

ag
e



ITEM 68, 69 & 70
BACK UP MATERIALS 



Town of Brunswick, Maine 
OFFICE	OF	THE	TOWN	MANAGER	

MEMORANDUM	

TO:	 Town	Council	

FROM:	 John	Eldridge	
Town	Manager	

DATE:	 June	1,	2016	

SUBJECT:	 Timeline	and	Supporting	Documentation	for	Brunswick	Landing	TIF	Amendments	
and	Midcoast	Regional	Redevelopment	Authority	CEA		

At	the	June	6,	2016	Town	Council	meeting,	there	are	two	related	items	requiring	several	supporting	
documents.	To	facilitate	the	Council’s	review	and	discussion	of	these	items,	a	timeline	with	related	
materials	follows.	

June	6,	2016	–	Town	Council	packet	to	set	Public	Hearing	for	TIF	Districts	Amendments	

Item 1: 
 Town Manager’s Memo on the Brunswick Landing TIF District (First Amendment) and

Brunswick Executive Airport TIF District (First Amendment)
 Public Hearing Notice (combined notice for both TIF Districts’ Amendments)

Item	1.a.:		
 Brunswick	Landing	TIF	District	First	Amendment	Council	Resolution	(draft)
 Brunswick	Landing	TIF	District	First	Amendment	(redlined)

Item	1.b.	
 Brunswick	Executive	Airport	TIF	District	First	Amendment	Council	Resolution	(draft)
 Brunswick	Executive	Airport	TIF	District	First	Amendment	(redlined)

Item	2.	
 Town Manager’s Memo on the Midcoast Regional Redevelopment Authority (MRRA) Credit

Enhancement Agreement (CEA)
 Midcoast Regional Redevelopment Authority (MRRA) Credit Enhancement Agreement (CEA)
 MRRA CEA Council Order	(draft)

June	9,	2016	–	Publish	Public	Hearing	Notice	

Brunswick Landing TIF District (First Amendment) and Brunswick Executive Airport TIF District (First 
Amendment) Public Hearing Notice Published - combined notice for both TIF Districts’ Amendments 

1

3

6

7

PAGE

9

37
39

67

68
88



Memo	to	Town	Council	
First	TIF	Amendments	
June	1,	2016	

Page	2	of	2	

June 20, 2016 – Town Council packet to hold Public	Hearing	for	TIF	Districts	Amendments 

Item 1: 
 Town Manager’s Memo on the Brunswick Landing TIF District (First Amendment) and

Brunswick Executive Airport TIF District (First Amendment)

Item	1.a.:		
 Brunswick	Landing	TIF	District	First	Amendment	Council	Resolution
 Brunswick	Landing	TIF	District	First	Amendment	(clean	copy)

Item	1.b.	
 Brunswick	Executive	Airport	TIF	District	First	Amendment	Council	Resolution
 Brunswick	Executive	Airport	TIF	District	First	Amendment	(clean	copy)

Item	2.	
 Town Manager’s Memo on the Midcoast Regional Redevelopment Authority (MRRA) Credit

Enhancement Agreement (CEA)
 Midcoast Regional Redevelopment Authority (MRRA) Credit Enhancement Agreement (CEA)
 MRRA CEA Council Order

All materials related to the TIF Amendments and MRRA CEA will be available to the public, effective 
June 2, 2016, when the Town Council packet is posted.  The Public Hearing notice is expected to be 
published in the Times Record on June 9, 2016.  As the Town Council voted not to hold a July 5th 
meeting, it may wish to consider voting to adopt the two Resolutions at the June 20, 2016 meeting since 
the next regular Town Council meeting will not take place until July 18, 2016. 

2



Town of Brunswick, Maine 
OFFICE	OF	THE	TOWN	MANAGER	

MEMORANDUM	

TO:	 Town	Council	

FROM:	 John	Eldridge	
Town	Manager	

DATE:	 June	1,	2016	

SUBJECT:	 Brunswick	Landing	TIF	District	(First	Amendment)	
Brunswick	Executive	Airport	TIF	District	(First	Amendment)	

Background	

In	March	2013,	the	Town	designated	two	TIF	districts	to	assist	with	the	redevelopment	of	the	
former	Naval	Air	Station	Brunswick	(“NAS	Brunswick”	or	“NASB”	or	the	“Base”):	

(1) 542‐acre	Brunswick	Landing	II	Omnibus	Municipal	Development	and	Tax	Increment	
Financing	District	(the	“Brunswick	Landing	District”).	

(2) 146‐acre	Brunswick	Executive	Airport	II	Omnibus	Municipal	Development	and	Tax	
Increment	Financing	District	(the	“Executive	Airport	District”)	

At	that	time,	the	TIF	districts	were	only	designated	geographically.		Implementation	of	the	TIF	
districts	required	the	adoption	of	development	programs	and	the	Town	wanted	additional	time	to	
develop	comprehensive	programs	that	would	be	designed	to	foster	a	broad	range	of	economic	
redevelopment	activity	at	the	former	NASB.		The	Town	subsequently	completed	those	
development	programs	and	submitted	them	to	the	Department	of	Economic	and	Community	
development	(“DECD”)	for	approval.		By	separate	letters	dated	October	24,	2013,	DECD	issued	full	
approval	of	the	two	TIF	Districts	and	the	development	programs.	

In	April	2011,	the	Midcoast	Regional	Redevelopment	Authority	(“MRRA”)	entered	into	a	lease	
agreement	with	Kestrel	Aircraft	Company,	Inc.	for	a	portion	of	property	located	at	Brunswick	
Executive	Airport.		That	property	was	later	included	within	the	property	designated	as	the	
Executive	Airport	District.		Among	other	things,	the	Kestrel	lease	provided	that	the	leased	premises	
must	be	used	exclusively	for	aeronautical	purposes	as	defined	in	6	M.R.S.	§	3(2).		

On	April	1,	2012,	MRRA	applied	to	the	Town	for	tax‐exempt	status	for	a	portion	of	Hangar	6	
covered	by	the	Kestrel	Lease,	asserting	that	MRRA’s	ownership	of	the	property	and	Kestrel’s	use	of	
the	property	qualified	the	property	for	the	property	tax	exemption	for	public	airports	set	forth	in	
36	M.R.S.	§	651(1)(F).		The	Town	disagreed	with	MRRA’s	position	and	did	not	grant	a	tax	
exemption.		The	Town	issued	tax	bills	to	MRRA	for	the	portion	of	Hangar	6	subject	to	the	Kestrel	
Lease	and	MRRA	paid	the	taxes	in	full	for	both	years.		However,	MRRA	continued	to	dispute	the	tax	
status	of	that	portion	of	Hangar	6	subject	to	the	Kestrel	Lease.	

In	April	2014,	MRRA	filed	a	declaratory	judgment	lawsuit	in	the	Maine	Superior	Court	against	the	

3



Memo	to	Town	Council	
Amendments	to	Brunswick	Landing	and		
		Brunswick	Airport	TIF	Districts	
June	1,	2016	
Page	2	of	3	

Town	and	the	Town’s	Assessor.		In	the	lawsuit,	MRRA	asked	the	Court	to,	among	other	things,	
determine	that	MRRA	was	entitled	to	a	tax	exemption	pursuant	to	36	M.R.S.	§	651(1)(F),	order	the	
Town	to	refund	the	taxes	MRRA	paid	in	2012	and	2013	related	to	the	portion	of	Hangar	6	leased	by	
Kestrel,	and	issue	an	injunction	directing	the	Town’s	Assessor	to	classify	the	portion	of	Hangar	6	
leased	by	Kestrel	as	tax	exempt	pursuant	to	36	M.R.S.	§	651(1)(F).		

Despite	the	pending	lawsuit,	the	Town	and	MRRA	continued	to	try	to	resolve	their	differences	
regarding	the	tax	status	of	Hangar	6	and	continued	to	work	together	in	an	effort	to	foster	the	
redevelopment	of	the	former	NAS	Brunswick.		Toward	that	end,	in	October	2015,	the	Town	and	
MRRA	entered	into	a	Memorandum	of	Agreement	(the	“MOA”),	in	which	the	Town	agreed	to	pursue	
certain	amendments	to	the	Development	Programs	for	the	TIF	Districts,	including	a	new	allocation	
of	TIF	Revenues,	and	the	Town	agreed	to	negotiate	and	enter	into	a	credit	enhancement	agreement	
with	MRRA	(the	“CEA”)	to	memorialize	the	new	allocation	of	TIF	Revenues.		For	its	part,	MRRA	
agreed	in	the	MOA	that	it	would	not	appeal	any	future	decisions	of	the	Town	regarding	the	taxable	
status	of	property	located	within	the	Executive	Airport	District,	and	it	would	include	language	in	its	
leases	prohibiting	MRRA’s	lessees	from	challenging	the	Town’s	interpretation	and	application	of	the	
tax	exemption	set	forth	in	36	M.R.S.	§	651(1)(F).		MRRA	further	agreed	to	dismiss	its	pending	
lawsuit	after	the	TIF	amendments	receive	final	approval	from	DECD	and	after	the	CEA	is	fully	
executed.	

First	Amendment	Highlights	

The	purpose	of	these	First	Amendments	to	the	Brunswick	Landing	District	and	the	Brunswick	
Executive	Airport	(collectively	the	“TIF	Districts”)	is	to	implement	the	relevant	terms	set	forth	in	
the	MOA	that	relate	to	the	TIF	Districts.	

The	First	Amendment	is	designed	to	modify	the	development	programs	to:	

(1) Articulate	the	history	that	necessitated	the	amendments;	
(2) Confirm	the	Town’s	intent	to	administer	together,	the	Brunswick	Landing	District	and	

Executive	Airport	District;	
(3) Provide	for	minor	modifications	regarding	eligible	road	improvement	activities;	
(4) Add	the	following	‐	Item	7.	General	Economic	Development,	Item	8.	Recreational	Trails,	

and	Item	9.	Road	and	Infrastructure	Improvements	within	and	adjacent	to	Brunswick	
Landing;	

(5) Increase	the	cap	available	to	MRRA	from	$12	million	to	$15	million;	and,	
(6) Allocate	TIF	revenues	according	to	the	chart	as	shown	as	Table	2.	

Public	Hearing	Requirement	

As	was	required	in	the	initial	designation	and	adoption	of	the	districts,	approval	of	the	amendments	
requires	a	public	hearing,	adoption	by	the	Town	Council,	and	subsequent	approval	by	DECD.		
Therefore,	the	request	of	the	Town	Council	is	to	set	a	separate	public	hearing	on	June	20,	2016	for:	

4



Memo	to	Town	Council	
Amendments	to	Brunswick	Landing	and		
		Brunswick	Airport	TIF	Districts	
June	1,	2016	
Page	3	of	3	

(1) the	First	Amendment	for	the	Brunswick	Landing	II	Omnibus	Municipal	Development	and	
Tax	Increment	Financing	District;	and	

(2) the	First	Amendment	for	the	Brunswick	Executive	Airport	II	Omnibus	Municipal	
Development	and	Tax	Increment	Financing	District.	

Shana	Cook	Mueller	from	Bernstein	Shur	assisted	with	the	preparation	of	these	amendments	and	
will	attend	the	public	hearing.		We	look	forward	to	addressing	your	questions.	

5



NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING 

TOWN OF BRUNSWICK 

Regarding 

The First Amendment to 

the Municipal Tax Increment Financing Development Program for the District Known As 

The “Brunswick Landing Omnibus Municipal Development  

and Tax Increment Financing District” 

And 

The First Amendment to 

the Municipal Tax Increment Financing Development Program for the District Known as 

the “Brunswick Executive Airport Omnibus Municipal Development  

and Tax Increment Financing District” 

Notice is hereby given that the Brunswick Town Council will hold a public hearing on 

June 20, 2016 

at the 

Brunswick Town Office at 85 Union Street, Brunswick, Maine, 

The Public Hearing will be at 7:00 p.m. 

The purpose of the public hearing is to receive public comments on the approval of the 

First Amendment to the development programs for the municipal tax increment financing 

districts identified above, designated on March 29, 2013 and also known as the “Landing TIF” 

and the “Airport TIF,” pursuant to the provisions of Chapter 206 of Title 30-A of the Maine 

Revised Statutes, as amended.  

The Landing TIF district consists of 542 acres of property located at the former Naval Air 

Station Brunswick and the Airport TIF district consists of 146 acres of property located at the 

former Naval Air Station Brunswick.   

All interested persons are invited to attend the public hearing and will be given an 

opportunity to be heard at that time.  The Development Programs and First Amendments are 

available for review by all interested parties at the Town Clerk’s Office during normal business 

hours (Monday to Friday, 8:30 AM to 4:30 PM).  

6



TOWN OF BRUNSWICK, MAINE 

TOWN COUNCIL RESOLUTION 

Adopting the First Amendment of the Brunswick Landing II Municipal Development 

and Tax Increment Financing District Omnibus Development Program 

WHEREAS, the Town of Brunswick (the “Town”) is authorized pursuant to Chapter 206 of Title 30-A 

of the Maine Revised Statutes, as amended, to designate specific areas within the Town as the Brunswick 

Landing II Municipal Development and Tax Increment Financing District Omnibus Development 

Program (the “District”) and to adopt a Development Program Amendment for the District (the 

“Development Program Amendment”); and 

WHEREAS, there is a need to encourage and facilitate the rapid redevelopment of industrial, commercial 

and professional office space within the Town at the former naval air base known as the Naval Air Station 

Brunswick (“NAS Brunswick”); and 

WHEREAS, the 2011 closure of NAS Brunswick created an acute need to provide additional 

employment opportunities for the residents of the Town and the surrounding region; to improve and 

broaden the tax base of the Town; and to improve the general economy of the Town, the surrounding 

region and the State of Maine; and 

WHEREAS, the Town designated the District on March 18, 2013 to ensure that any new taxable value 

located in the District would be captured in a tax increment financing (“TIF”) district and the Maine 

Department of Economic and Community Development (the “Department”) issued a conditional approval 

of the District effective as of March 29, 2013; and 

WHEREAS, the Town adopted a Development Program for the District on July 29, 2013 in order to 

capture the value of the real property improvements made within the District, and to enable the use of 

TIF Revenues for various municipal and other economic development projects, and the Maine 

Department of Economic and Community Development (the “Department”) issued a full approval of the 

District and the Development Program effective as of October 24, 2013; and 

WHEREAS, amending the Development Program for the District will help to continue to create new 

employment for the citizens of the Town and the surrounding region; improve and broaden the tax base of 

the Town; and improve the economy of the Town and the State of Maine; and 

WHEREAS, the Town Council has held a public hearing on June 20, 2016, upon at least ten (10) days 

prior notice published in a newspaper of general circulation within the Town, on the question of adopting 

the Development Program Amendment for the District in accordance with the requirements of 30-A 

M.R.S.A. § 5226; and 

WHEREAS, the Town Council has considered the comments provided at the public hearing, both for and 

against the adoption of the Development Program Amendment, if any; and 

WHEREAS, the Town desires to adopt the Development Program Amendment of the District; and 

7



WHEREAS, it is expected that approval will be sought and obtained from the Department, approving the 

Development Program Amendment.  

NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED AS FOLLOWS: 

Section 1. Pursuant to Chapter 206 of Title 30-A of the Maine Revised Statutes, as amended, the Town 

Council hereby adopts the Development Program Amendment, all as more particularly described in the 

Development Program presented to the Town Council and such Development Program is hereby 

incorporated by reference into this vote as the Development Program Amendment for the District.  

Section 2. Pursuant to the provisions of 30-A M.R.S.A. § 5227, the percentage of the increased assessed 

value to be retained as captured assessed value in the District is hereby established as set forth in the 

Development Program Amendment.  

Section 3. The Town Manager, or his duly appointed representative, is hereby authorized, empowered 

and directed to submit the proposed Development Program Amendment to the Department for review and 

approval pursuant to the requirements of 30-A M.R.S.A. § 5226(2).  

Section 4. The foregoing adoption of the Development Program Amendment shall automatically become 

final and shall take full force and effect upon receipt by the Town of approval of the Development 

Program Amendment by the Department, without requirement of any further action by the Town, the 

Town Council, or any other party.  

Section 5. The Town Manager, or his duly appointed representative, is hereby authorized and 

empowered, at his discretion, from time to time, to make such revisions to the documents related to the 

Development Program Amendment as he may deem reasonably necessary or convenient in order to 

facilitate the process for review and approval of the Development Program Amendment by the 

Department, so long as such revisions are not inconsistent with these resolutions or the basic structure and 

intent of the Council in adopting the Development Program Amendment.  

Section 6. This Resolution shall take effect immediately upon adoption. 

Proposed to Town Council: June 6, 2016 

Public Hearing:  June 20, 2016  

Adopted by Town Council: _______________ 

8



Brunswick Landing II Omnibus Development Program 
First Amendment 

i 

ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT 
BRUNSWICK, MAINE 

An Application for a Municipal Development and Tax Increment Financing District 
Development Program 

______________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________  

FIRST AMENDMENT TO 
BRUNSWICK LANDING II MUNICIPAL DEVELOPMENT AND  

TAX INCREMENT FINANCING DISTRICT OMNIBUS DEVELOPMENT PROGRAM 
______________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________  

Presented to: 

TOWN OF BRUNSWICK 

DATED: July 29, 2013______________ 

9



Brunswick Landing II Omnibus Development Program 
First Amendment 

ii 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
Page 

I. Introduction ............................................................................................................1 
A. Midcoast Regional Redevelopment Authority  ...................................................1 
B. MRRA’s Request for Tax Increment Financing Assistance ...............................2 
C. Designation of TIF District .................................................................................2 
D. Dispute Regarding Tax Exemption for Municipal Airports ...............................2 

II. Development Program Narrative .........................................................................2 
A. The Development Program .................................................................................2 

 B. The Projects .........................................................................................................4 
1. Municipal Projects .................................................................................45
2. Base Redevelopment Projects ..................................................................9

 C. Strategic Growth and Development  ...................................................................9 
D. Improvements to the Public Infrastructure..........................................................9 
E. Operational Components .....................................................................................9 

III. Physical Description.............................................................................................10
IV. Financial Plan .......................................................................................................10 

A. Costs and Sources of Revenue ..........................................................................11 
 B. Indebtedness ......................................................................................................11 
V. Financial Data ......................................................................................................11 
VI. Tax Shifts ..............................................................................................................11 
VII. Municipal Approvals ...........................................................................................12 

A. Notice of Public Hearing...................................................................................12 
B. Minutes of Public Hearing Held by Town Council...........................................12 
C. Authorizing Votes .............................................................................................12 

SCHEDULES AND EXHIBITS: 

Schedules: 
1 March 29October 24, 2013 DECD Approval Letter Conditionally Approving the Town’s 

Designation of the Brunswick Landing II Municipal TIF District. 
2 January, 18, 2013 DECD Approval Letter Approving  and the Mölnlycke Manufacturing 

Municipal TIFomnibus development program for the District and Development Program. 

Exhibits: 
A TIF District Maps 
B Statutory Requirements & Thresholds 
C Assessor’s Certificate of Original Assessed Value 
D-1  TIF Revenue Projections  
D-2 Tax Shift Projections 
E-1 Public Hearing Notice for First Amendment 
F-1 Public Hearing Minutes for First Amendment 
G-1 Town Council Resolution

10



Brunswick Landing II Omnibus Development Program 
First Amendment 

iii 

 for First Amendment 
H Exhibit A to Memorandum of Agreement Showing Hangars 4, 5 & 6 
I Definition of “Aeronautical Business”

11



Brunswick Landing II Omnibus Development Program 
First Amendment 

 

1 
 

I. Introduction 
 

A. Midcoast Regional Redevelopment Authority 

On August 24, 2005, the Federal Base Realignment and Closure (“BRAC”) Commission 
voted eight to one to close Naval Air Station Brunswick (“NAS Brunswick” or “NASB” or the 
“Base”) and move its aircraft operations to Jacksonville, Florida.  The 79-acre Topsham Annex 
located in Topsham, Maine was also included as part of the closure.  On September 15, 2005, the 
final list was approved by the President of the United States.  By law, both properties were 
required to close before September 15, 2011.  For the Town of Brunswick, the Town of 
Topsham, Cumberland and Sagadahoc counties, and the State of Maine, that decision was the 
culmination of an intense process and significant community effort to keep the facility open to 
maintain an employment base of over 5,200 military and civilian personnel.   

NAS Brunswick was built as a multi-purpose campus that has changed over many years 
to serve a variety of purposes.  It has been an airport since its initial development in the late 
1930s, built on the site of a municipal airfield.  Its primary mission has been to house and 
maintain various patrol aircraft and other Navy aviation and non-aviation activities.  The base is 
considered both an industrial facility where aircraft were hangared, maintained and flown, as 
well as a support facility with offices, retail buildings, housing and ancillary uses associated with 
a relatively self-contained operation.  In total there are over 200 buildings totaling over 1.75 
million square feet on the Base; forty of which buildings would be considered significant 
facilities.   

The closure of NAS Brunswick represents one of the largest single employer relocations 
or closings in the history of the state.  The State Planning Office conducted an assessment of 
impact closure and revised the state gross product projection for 2015 downward by $390 
million, cutting the projected growth rate from two to approximately one percent.  They also 
revised the state population growth downward by 7,400 as a result of the base closure.   
Projected state personal income was also reduced by $370 million.  Revenues to the State of 
Maine are also expected to be reduced by some $20 million. 

In other economic displacement events such as plant closings, most individuals continue 
to live in the community, albeit with reduced income, and they still contribute to the economy, 
have children in local schools, and participate in the activities of the community.  In the case of 
a base closure and realignment, however, an entire segment of the population leaves the area, 
which increases vacancy rates and eliminates millions of dollars spent in the local economy on 
everything from housing, food, transportation and energy costs, to professional services and 
entertainment. 

The impact of the closure is so large that the Maine Legislature created the Midcoast 
Regional Redevelopment Authority (“MRRA”) for the purpose of managing the transition of this 
large military facility back into the fabric of the region and to support the rapid and successful 
redevelopment of NAS Brunswick.  MRRA is a public municipal corporation.  While MRRA has 
many of the powers of a municipality, it does not have taxing jurisdiction over the property 
located within NAS Brunswick.  See 5 M.R.S.A. § 13083-I(1).  Thus, in order to use municipal 
tax increment financing (“TIF”) as an economic development tool to aid in the redevelopment of 

12



Brunswick Landing II Omnibus Development Program 
First Amendment 

2 

NAS Brunswick, MRRA must work cooperatively with the Town of Brunswick (the “Town”) in 
order to create and use TIF Revenuesthe tax revenues generated by the captured assessed value 
in the TIF districts (the “TIF Revenues”) to foster and/or fund the desired redevelopment 
activities.    

B. MRRA’s Request for Tax Increment Financing Assistance  

In the fall of 2011, MRRA presented the Town with a request for $12 million in tax 
increment financing assistance at NAS Brunswick as part of a larger project to redevelop the 1.7 
million square feet of industrial, commercial and professional office space at NAS Brunswick. 
MRRA’s mission is to facilitate the rapid redevelopment of the Base properties in order to 
realize full build-out of Brunswick Landing in accordance with the adopted Reuse Master Plan 
for NAS Brunswick. (the “Reuse Master Plan”).  MRRA specifically requested that the Town 
create a tax increment financing district around the area formerly known as the cantonment area 
at the Base, which will be developed into professional office space to enhance the 
competitiveness of the Midcoast region and the State of Maine to attract, grow and create new 
businesses in the industry clusters identified in the Reuse Master Plan for NAS Brunswick. 
These targeted industries include:  composite manufacturing, information technology, alternative 
energy development, research, development and manufacturing and tourism and convention 
businesses in the Midcoast region.  Having this area in a TIF district will facilitate MRRA’s 
efforts to redevelop the Base by allowing MRRA to seek funding from the Town for assistance 
in its efforts to redevelop the Brunswick Landing portion of the NAS Brunswick. 

C. Designation of TIF District   

Following extensive TIF-related discussions with MRRA and actively considering how 
best to maximize the Town’s ability to assist in the redevelopment of the NAS Brunswick 
through the use of tax increment financing, in March 2013 the Town designated a 542-acre tax 
increment financing district for a 30-year periodtwo TIF districts to be known asassist with the 
Brunswick Landing redevelopment of the Base: (1) the 146-acre Brunswick Executive Airport II 
Omnibus Municipal Development and Tax Increment Financing District (the “Executive Airport 
District”) and (2) a 542-acre Brunswick Landing II Omnibus Municipal Development and Tax 
Increment Financing District (the “Brunswick Landing District” or the “District”) (collectively 
the “TIF Districts”).  At that time, the Town wanted to take more time to flesh out a 
comprehensive development program that would be designed to foster a broad range of 
economic redevelopment activity at the former NASB, so the District wasTIF Districts were 
designated without a development program.    

By letterseparate letters dated March 29, 2013, the Maine Department of Economic and 
Community Development (“DECD”) issued a conditional approvalapprovals of the Town 
Council’s designation of the DistrictTIF Districts after a public hearing held on March 4, 2013, 
and a vote of the Council held on March 18, 2013.  By separate letters dated October 24, 2013, 
DECD issued full approval of the two TIF Districts and the development programs for those 
Districts.  Attached hereto as Schedule 1 is a copy of the DECD Approval letter conditionally 
approving the Town’s designation of the District, subject to later DECD approval of a for the 
Brunswick Landing District and the development program for the District.    

13



Brunswick Landing II Omnibus Development Program 
First Amendment 

3 

D.  Dispute Regarding Tax Exemption for Municipal Airports 

In April 2011, MRRA entered into a lease agreement with Kestrel Aircraft Company, Inc. 
for property located at the Base, which property was later included within the property 
designated as the Executive Airport District.  On the same date, Kestrel Aircraft Company, Inc. 
entered into a sublease with Kestrel Brunswick Corporation (both Kestrel entities are collectively 
“Kestrel”) for the same land area and the same terms as the primary lease (the lease and sublease 
are collectively the “Kestrel Lease”).  The property subject to the Kestrel Lease includes just 
over half of a large aircraft hangar known as Hangar Number Six (“Hangar 6”), use of the tie-
down area adjacent to Hangar 6, non-exclusive use of the runways, taxi-ways and aprons and 
other conveniences for the take-off, flying and landing of aircraft, and an area for parking motor 
vehicles.  The Kestrel Lease, among other things, provided that the leased premises must be used 
exclusively for aeronautical purposes as defined in 6 M.R.S. § 3(2). 

On April 1, 2012, MRRA applied to the Town for tax exempt status for the area of 
Hangar 6 covered by the Kestrel Lease, asserting that MRRA’s ownership of the property and 
Kestrel’s use of the property qualified the property for the property tax exemption for public 
airports set forth in 36 M.R.S. § 651(1)(F).  The Town disagreed with MRRA’s position and did 
not grant a tax exemption for the portion of Hangar 6 subject to the Kestrel Lease.  The Town 
issued tax bills to MRRA for the portion of Hangar 6 subject to the Kestrel Lease in the amount 
of $114,114 for the Town’s 2012 tax year and $123,700 for the Town’s 2013 tax year.  MRRA 
paid the taxes in full for both years.  The parties, however, continued to dispute the tax status of 
the portion of Hangar 6 subject to the Kestrel Lease. 

In April 2014, MRRA filed a declaratory judgment lawsuit in the Maine Superior Court 
against the Town and the Town’s Assessor (the “lawsuit”).  In the lawsuit, MRRA asked the 
Court to, among other things, determine that MRRA was entitled to a tax exemption pursuant to 
36 M.R.S. § 651(1)(F), order the Town to refund the taxes MRRA paid in 2012 and 2013 related 
the portion of Hangar 6 leased by Kestrel, and issue an injunction directing the Town’s Assessor 
to classify the portion of Hangar 6 leased by Kestrel as tax exempt pursuant to 36 M.R.S. § 
651(1)(F). 

Despite the pending lawsuit, the Town and MRRA have continued to try to resolve their 
differences regarding the tax status of Hangar 6 and continued to work together in an effort to 
foster the redevelopment of the former NAS Brunswick.  Toward that end, in October 2015, the 
Town and MRRA entered into a Memorandum of Agreement (the “MOA”), in which the Town 
agreed to pursue certain amendments to the Development Programs for the TIF Districts, 
including a new allocation of TIF Revenues, and the Town agreed to negotiate and enter into a 
credit enhancement agreement with MRRA (the “CEA”) to memorialize the new allocation of 
TIF Revenues.  For its part, MRRA agreed in the MOA that it would not appeal any future 
decisions of the Town regarding the taxable status of property located within the Executive 
Airport District, and it would include language in its leases prohibiting MRRA’s lessees from 
challenging the Town’s interpretation and application of the tax exemption set forth in 36 M.R.S. 

14



Brunswick Landing II Omnibus Development Program 
First Amendment 

 

4 
 

§ 651(1)(F).  MRRA further agreed to dismiss its pending lawsuit after the TIF amendments 
receive final approval from DECD and after the CEA is fully executed. 

The purpose of this First Amendment to the Brunswick Landing II Omnibus Municipal 
Development and Tax Increment Financing District Development Program is to implement the 
relevant terms set forth in the MOA that relate to the Development Program for the Brunswick 
Landing District. 

II. Development Program Narrative 
 
 A. The Development Program 
 

This Development Program is structured and proposed pursuant to Chapter 206 of 
Title 30-A of the Maine Revised Statutes, as amended (the “TIF Statute”).  The Town’s 
designation of the District combined with the adoption of this Development Program create a 
single municipal TIF district in order to capture the value of the real property improvements 
made within the District, and enable the use of TIF Revenues for various municipal and other 
economic development projects.  The Development Program will run for the same 30-year 
period as the District designation.   

Under this It is the Town of Brunswick’s intent to administer the Development 
Program,Programs for the Executive Airport District and the Brunswick Landing District 
together.  The Town will capture one hundred percent (100%) of the new real property value 
located in the District.both TIF Districts.  The Town will retain, in aggregate fifty percent (50%) 
of the tax revenuesTIF Revenues generated by the captured assessed value (the “TIF Revenues”) 
to fund infrastructure improvements, public safety equipment, its existing Downtown TIF 
District, school construction and/or renovations, and other administrative costs, all as further 
described in Table 1 herein.within the two TIF Districts.  The Town will set aside the remaining 
fifty percent (50%) of the aggregate TIF Revenues from the two TIF Districts in order to make 
those TIF Revenues available to MRRA and future developers (when this word is used in this 
document it includes both developers and companies) by application to the Town through the use 
of CEAs and/or other reimbursement agreements.  Payments to MRRA and future developers 
would most likely, but not necessarily, be made through future credit enhancement agreements, 
all as further described in this Development Program in Section IV – Financial Plan. 

By adopting this Development Program, the Town embarks upon the final step in 
creating a TIF district that will significantly contribute to MRRA’s and the Town’s efforts to 
maximize the benefits achieved through the redevelopment of the NAS Brunswick.  It will also 
underscore Brunswick’s growing reputation as a commercial hub and desirable place in which to 
locate a business; promote additional economic development in Brunswick by extending the 
possibility of credit enhancement arrangements between the Town and future developers. 

In designating the District and adopting this Development Program, the Town can 
accomplish the following goals: 

• Maintain existing tax revenues;  

15



Brunswick Landing II Omnibus Development Program 
First Amendment 

 

5 
 

• Enjoy enhanced future tax revenues generated by new development within the District 
spearheaded by MRRA in conformance with the Reuse Master Plan; 

• Create long-term, stable employment opportunities for areas residents; 

• Assist MRRA in attracting businesses and promoting the economic viability and 
sustainability of the general economy of the Town, the Midcoast Maine region and the 
State of Maine. 

Thus, the Town’s designation of the TIF District and pursuit of this Development 
Program constitute a good and valid public purpose pursuant to Chapter 206 of Title 30-A 
because it represents a substantial contribution to the economic wellbeing of both the Town and 
the Midcoast Maine Region by providing jobs, contributing to property taxes and diversifying 
the region’s economic base.  
 

In addition, by creating the District, the Town will “shelter” the increase in municipal 
valuation that development in the District will bring about.  This is particularly significant, 
because the original assessed value of the District was zero dollars ($0) as of March 31, 2012 
(April 1, 2011).  Since MRRA is also a tax exempt entity, there will not be any new taxable 
value in the District until new taxable value is created in the District as a result of MRRA’s and 
the Town’s successful redevelopment efforts.  This tax shift benefit will mitigate the adverse 
effect that the District’s increased assessed property value would have on the Town’s share of 
state aid to education, municipal revenue sharing and its county tax assessment.  An estimate of 
the tax shift benefit is shown as Exhibit D-2 attached hereto. 
 

B. The Projects  
 

1.  Municipal Projects 
 

Development within the District will provide a revenue source for the Town’s economic 
development projects.  The Town plans to use its portion of the TIF Revenues for several 
projects that will enhance the exposure and viability of the Town as a vibrant place to locate a 
business, to visit and to work.  The Town plans to invest in its infrastructure by improving roads 
leading to and from the District, purchasing new public safety equipment needed to provide 
public safety services to the District and the former NAS Brunswick, and by contributing TIF 
Revenues to fund projects set forth in the Town’s existing Downtown TIF District, along with 
additional administrative expenses outlined on Table 1.  Additionally, because of the unique 
economic impacts the Town is encountering and will continue to encounter as a result of the 
closure and redevelopment of the former base, the Town will use a portion of its TIF Revenues 
for debt-service payments on school construction and/or renovation bonds.   

 
Regarding the Town’s proposed road improvements, the Maine Department of 

Transportation completed a comprehensive traffic study in 2010 that specifically related to 
enhancing the redevelopment of the former NASB. Throughout the study and the public 
meetings leading up to the final report, a constant theme that was raised was the need for safe 
and efficient travel routes to the former Base. The Base is located in the geographic center of the 

16



Brunswick Landing II Omnibus Development Program 
First Amendment 

 

6 
 

Town of Brunswick and does not have direct rail access.  All employees, deliveries and exports 
will likely take place over the various streets and roads that lead into the Town of Brunswick and 
to Brunswick Landing. The streets and roads that the Town has identified on Table 1 are a 
combination of local connectors to Brunswick Landing or connectors from the region into the 
Town of Brunswick that subsequently route traffic to the former NASB.  

  
Regarding the Town’s plan to use TIF Revenues to purchase public safety vehicles, the 

redevelopment of NASB instantly adds over 3,300 acres and 200 non-residential buildings to the 
jurisdiction of the Town—not counting the new commercial buildings that will be built in the 
future as a result of redevelopment efforts.  In order to provide adequate public safety services to 
this new area of the Town, the Town will need to stretch its existing fleet of public safety (police, 
rescue and fire) vehicles further each year.  Additionally, MRRA is planning to submit proposed 
legislation that would cede jurisdiction for traffic enforcement on the Base to the Town, which 
would result in the Town’s police officers enforcing speeding and other traffic laws on the 
former Base, in addition to providing general public safety services.  The Town currently has a 
fleet of 22 police vehicles, most of which are already on the road 24 hours per day, seven days 
per week, all 52 weeks of the year.  The Town also has a fleet of 13 fire department vehicles, 3 
of which are ambulances.  The ambulances are replaced approximately every 3 years.  As a 
direct result of the redevelopment of the former NASB, the Town’s fleet of public safety vehicles 
will incur significantly increased mileage, wear and tear, which will require the Town to replace 
them with greater frequency than prior to any redevelopment activity at the former NASB.  Since 
the Town’s need to replace its public safety vehicles (police, fire and rescue vehicles) with much 
greater frequency is directly related to and made necessary by the redevelopment of the former 
NASB and the District, the Town will use TIF funds to cover the cost of up to four (4) public 
safety vehicles each year.  

 
As a direct result of the closure of the Base, the Town of Brunswick’s pupil count has 

dropped radically and precipitously, which has resulted in a massive reduction of school funding 
aid from the State of Maine to the Town.  Additionally, with the prospect of significant future 
redevelopment at the Base, the Town stands to lose substantial amounts of future aid for 
education, which is expected to compound an already untenable funding situation for 
Brunswick’s School Department.  Because of the unique situation created by the Base closure 
and the regional effort to redevelop the Base, the Town stands to bear the brunt of a massive and 
unsustainable drop in school funding aid from the State.  In light of this unique situation, the 
Town will use TIF funds to pay debt-service on school construction and/or renovation bonds to 
improve the schools used by residents of the Town of Brunswick in order to make the former 
Base more attractive for commercial redevelopment.  While the Town is fully committed to 
fostering redevelopment of the Base with TIF Revenues, in order to be in a position to provide 
TIF funding to MRRA and future developers in the District without suffering further adverse 
impacts, the Town needs to retain a portion of the TIF funds for school construction and/or 
renovation.  Thus, Brunswick’s school funding crisis is directly related to the closure of the 
former Base and is exacerbated by the redevelopment of the Base with TIF Revenues.     

    
The Town plans to use TIF Revenues as part of its overall plan to use its location and 

resources to attract and retain businesses that want to take advantage of Brunswick’s business-
friendly location at the gateway to the Midcoast while offering their employees a rich, dynamic 

17



Brunswick Landing II Omnibus Development Program 
First Amendment 

 

7 
 

and high quality of life.  Please see Table 1 herein for a complete list of authorized projects and 
their respective cost estimates. 
 

18



Brunswick Landing II Omnibus Development Program 
First Amendment 

 

8 
 

TABLE 1 
Town of Brunswick’s Project Development Costs 

 
Notes:   
* The first five projects listed in the Town’s project list is the global master project list that the Town 
created for the Mölnlycke Manufacturing Municipal Development and Tax Increment Financing District 
and Development Program and for any future districts and development programs that the Town may 
create in the future at the location of and to foster the redevelopment of the former NASB.  DECD 
approved the Mölnlycke global master project list by letter of the Commissioner dated January 18, 2013.  
Attached hereto as Schedule 2 is a copy of the DECD approval letter approving the Mölnlycke 
Manufacturing Municipal TIF District and Development Program.  This list includes one additional 
project, item #6, which was not included on the approved global master project list.   
* The TIF Revenues from this District* Items #7, 8 and 9 are new projects added in 2016 as part of the 
First Amendment to the Executive Airport and Brunswick Landing TIF Districts.   
* The TIF Revenues from these Districts are not intended to fully fund each of the projects listed below—
indeed, the total project costs for the projects listed below far exceed the Town’s estimated share of the 
TIF Revenues from this District.the Districts.  The project cost estimates are reflective of the estimated 
total cost for each project, each of which is common to the Brunswick Executive Airport TIF District (the 
cost estimates do NOT reflect only half of the total project cost). 

 
 Project  Cost 

Estimate 
Statutory Cite 

1. 
 

Road Improvements:  The Town will use TIF funds to improve 
and maintain Town-owned roads and streets (improvements and 
maintenance includes but is not limited to paving, reconstruction 
and storm water work) that form the transportation routes most 
directly impacted by the creation of the District and the 
redevelopment of the former NASB.  Improvements to the 
designated portions of the roads and streets identified below are 
directly related to and made necessary by the redevelopment of 
the NASB and the creation of the District, which will 
significantly increase the amount of commercial traffic going 
to/from the District from the Town’s Downtown and other 
locations throughout the Town.  Local road/street reconstruction 
is estimated to cost $175,000/mile (approximately 36.55 miles), 
and individual projects are expected to have a 10-year lifespan. 

 
1. River Road (5.01 miles) 
2. Bath Road (4.75 miles) 
3. Federal Street (.59 miles) 
4. McKeen Street (1.59 miles) 
5. Maine Street (2.22 miles) 
6. Pleasant Hill Road (4.12 miles) 
7. Jordan Avenue (1.55 miles) 
8. Mere Point Road (5.46 miles) 
9. Middle Bay Road (1.16 miles) 
10. Durham Road (3.44 miles) 
11. Casco Road (1.92 miles) 
12. Union Street  (.77 miles) 
13. Church Road (1.93 miles) 
14. Bunganuc Road (2.04 miles) 
 

 
$640,000/year 

 
$19,200,000  

(total 30 years) 
 

 
30-A M.R.S.A. § 
5225(1)(B)(1) and 
(B)(2) 

19



Brunswick Landing II Omnibus Development Program 
First Amendment 

9 

Project Cost 
Estimate 

Statutory Cite 

2. Public Safety Improvements:  As a direct result of the 
redevelopment of the NASB and the creation of the District, the 
Town will now be required to replace public safety equipment in 
the form of fire trucks, police cars and ambulances at in increased 
frequency in order to provide public safety services to the 
businesses locating in the former NASB and the District.  Prior to 
the closure of the NASB, these areas were under the jurisdiction 
of the federal government, and did not receive (or require) Town-
provided police, fire and rescue services.  Since the Town’s need 
to replace its public safety vehicles (police, fire and rescue 
vehicles) with much greater frequency is directly related to and 
made necessary by the redevelopment of the former NASB and 
the District, the Town will use TIF funds to cover the cost of up 
to four (4) public safety vehicles each year.  

$130,000/year 

$3,900,000  
(total 30 years) 

30-A M.R.S.A. § 
5225(1)(B)(2) 

3. Downtown TIF Projects:  The Town will use TIF funds to 
mitigate the impacts of the District on the Town’s downtown area 
by funding projects described in the 2010 Brunswick Downtown 
Municipal Development and Tax Increment Financing District 
Development Program, as it may be amended from time to time; 
provided that the provisions of 30-A M.R.S.A. Sec. 
5225(1)(B)(3) (Supp. 2011) must continue to be met, as is the 
case currently.  Specifically, any public facilities and 
improvements funded through the Downtown TIF must be 
located within the Downtown TIF District, and the entire tax 
increment from the Downtown TIF must be committed to the 
development program for the Downtown TIF.  

$100,000/year 

$3,000,000  
(total 30 years) 

30-A M.R.S.A. § 
5225(1)(B)(3) 

4. 
Brunswick Downtown Association:  The Town will be authorized 
to provide annual funding to the Brunswick Downtown 
Association to help fund economic development programs or 
events designed to foster economic development within the 
Town’s Downtown, or to help fund the marketing of the Town as 
a business location. 

$100,000/year 

$3,000,000  
(total 30 years) 

30-A M.R.S.A. § 
5225(1)(C)(1) 

5. Professional & Administrative Costs:  The Town will fund 
professional services costs and administrative costs (i.e., pro rata 
portions of the Town Assessor, Town Manager and Business 
Development Manager salaries) related to the negotiation and 
completion of this development program and any credit 
enhancement agreements related to this development program, 
and the ongoing administration of the Town’s TIF programs.   

$20,000/year 

$600,000  
(total 30 years) 

30-A M.R.S.A. § 
5225(1)(A)(4) and 
(5) 

20



Brunswick Landing II Omnibus Development Program 
First Amendment 

 

10 
 

 Project  Cost 
Estimate 

Statutory Cite 

6. 
School Construction/Renovation:  As a direct result of the closure 
of the Base, the Town of Brunswick’s pupil count has dropped 
radically and precipitously, which has resulted in a massive 
reduction of school funding aid from the State of Maine to the 
Town.  Additionally, with the prospect of significant future 
redevelopment at the Base, the Town stands to lose substantial 
amounts of future aid for education, which is expected to 
compound an already untenable funding situation for 
Brunswick’s School Department.  Because of the unique situation 
created by the Base closure and the regional effort to redevelop 
the Base, the Town stands to bear the brunt of a massive and 
unsustainable drop in school funding aid from the State.  In light 
of this unique situation, the Town will use TIF funds to pay debt-
service on school construction and/or renovation bonds to 
improve the schools used by residents of the Town of Brunswick 
in order to make the former Base more attractive for commercial 
redevelopment.  While the Town is fully committed to fostering 
redevelopment of the Base with TIF Revenues, in order to be in a 
position to provide TIF funding to MRRA and future developers 
in the District without suffering further adverse impacts, the 
Town needs to retain a portion of the TIF funds for school 
construction and/or renovation.  Thus, Brunswick’s school 
funding crisis is directly related to the closure of the former Base 
and is exacerbated by the redevelopment of the Base with TIF 
Revenues.   

$2,000,000/year 
 

$40,000,000  
(total 20 years) 

 

30-A M.R.S.A. § 
5225(1)(B)  

21



Brunswick Landing II Omnibus Development Program 
First Amendment 

 

11 
 

 Project  Cost 
Estimate 

Statutory Cite 

7. 

General Economic Development:  The Town will use TIF funds 
on a broad array of projects and programs to promote economic 
development throughout the Town and to fund the marketing of 
the municipality as a business or arts location, including:   
 

a) Support economic development staffing and professional 
services at the municipal level (including salaries of 
economic development staff and prorated salaries of 
other municipal staff who may be called in to provide 
economic development services as well as prorated 
professional services costs and fees);  

b) Participate in regional marketing campaigns to promote 
Brunswick as a business destination and a tourist 
destination;  

c) Establish/support permanent economic development 
revolving loan funds, investment funds and grants, likely 
through the the local economic development corporation 
(currently, the Brunswick Development Corporation) 
and primarily related to business start-up and expansion 
costs; 

d) Create a discretionary reserve fund to be used as the 
local match for state and federal economic development 
grants for projects that would otherwise be permissible 
to be funded under this development program as well as 
the following; 

o Local match for grants to fund transit service 
capital costs associated with a new or expanded 
transit service (in the case of funding a contract 
provider of transit services, a prorated portion 
of such contract relating to capital costs of the 
services as opposed to operating costs). 

o Local match for grants to fund costs of 
improvements made within the tax increment 
financing district; 

e) Provide funds to support the Town’s business expansion 
and recruitment efforts through the enhancement of the 
Town’s  technology systems such as  updating and 
improving the Town’s geographic information system 
(“GIS”),  and upgrading computers and assessing 
software; 

f) Promote the identity and branding of the Town as a 
place to do business and as a tourist destination through 
investments such as signage and streetscapes; and, 

g) Support economic studies and environmental studies and 
improvements of properties within the Town of 
Brunswick to determine and help realize their most 
effective commercial or arts district use. 

$500,000/year 
(for 30 years) 

 
$15,000,000  
(total for 30 

years) 

30-A M.R.S.A. §§ 
5225(1)(A)(4), 
(1)(C)(1),(C)(2), & 
(C)(3) 
 
With respect to 7(d): 
30-A M.R.S.A. §§ 
5230, 5225(1)(A) & 
(C)(7)(a)  

22



Brunswick Landing II Omnibus Development Program 
First Amendment 

 

12 
 

 Project  Cost 
Estimate 

Statutory Cite 

8. 
Recreational Trails with Significant Potential to Promote 
Economic Development:  The Town will use TIF funds for costs 
related to planning, design, construction, maintenance, grooming 
and improvements to new or existing recreational trails designed 
to enhance the draw to the Town, including bridges that are part 
of the trail corridor, used all or in part for hiking, bicycling, cross-
country skiing or other uses.    

$50,000/year 
(for 30 years) 

 
$1,500,000  
(total for 30 

years) 

30-A M.R.S.A. § 
5225(1)(C)(6) 

9. 
Road and Infrastructure Improvements within and adjacent to 
Brunswick Landing:   
(a) Currently, the roads within Brunswick Landing are owned and 
maintained by MRRA.  MRRA has requested that the Town take 
over the roads within Brunswick Landing as public roads.  In the 
event that the Town agrees to take any of the Brunswick Landing 
roads as public roads, the Town will use TIF funds to construct, 
improve and maintain those roads; and 
(b) The Cooks Corner area (in the vicinity of the intersection of 
Gurnet Road and Bath Road), adjacent to the Brunswick Landing 
District, may have various improvements made necessary by the 
MRRA redevelopment activities, including but not limited to road 
construction, improvement and maintenance including storm 
water or sanitary sewer lines, water lines, electrical lines and 
amenities on streets.   

$600,000/year 
(for 30 years) 

 
$18,000,000  
(total for 30 

years) 

30-A M.R.S.A. § 
5225(1)(A), (B)(1) or 
(B)(2) 

 
Total Municipal Project Costs: 

 
First 20 years 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Last 10 years 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Grand Total 
 

 
 
 

$2,990($4,140,0
00/ 

year  
$5982,800,000  
(total for first 

20 years) 
 

$990 
 

($2,140,000/ 
year 

$9,90021,400,0
00  

(total for last 
10 years) 

 
$69,700 

 
$104,200,000  
(total for 30 

years) 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 

23



Brunswick Landing II Omnibus Development Program 
First Amendment 

 

13 
 

 
 
2.  Base Redevelopment Projects 
 
 a. MRRA Projects 

 
MRRA has included $12 millionthe use of TIF Revenues in its business plan since the 

beginning of the Base redevelopment planning process,. MRRA plans to be useduse TIF 
Revenues for essential new physical infrastructure investment, to repair and/or replacement 
ofreplace existing infrastructure, and relatedto facilitate physical improvements necessary to 
maintain the property and attract businesses.  The costs associated with these MRRA projects 
would be authorized project costs pursuant to 30-A M.R.S.A. § 5225(1)(A) for Tier I projects 
located within the District.  ItAs stated above, it is the Town of Brunswick's intent to administer 
the Brunswick Landing and Brunswick Executive Airport Omnibus Development Programs 
together to facilitate MRRA’s ability to fund these projects in whole or in part with TIF 
Revenues.   

 
  b. $15 Million Cap on TIF Funding Available to MRRA 
 
While the Town is willing to support MRRA’s redevelopment efforts with TIF Revenues, 

the Town is placing a maximum limit on the TIF Revenues it will make available to MRRA.  
The Town will make up to a cap of $1215 million available to MRRA in combined new TIF 
Revenues from the aggregate fifty percent (50%) of TIF Revenues allocated for Base 
Redevelopment from the Brunswick Landing and Brunswick Executive Airport TIF districts, the 
Town expressly is not guaranteeing $12 million in TIF Revenues to MRRA. Executive Airport 
Districts.  The Town expressly is not guaranteeing $15 million in TIF Revenues to MRRA.  The 
Town intends to count against this $15 million cap the $200,000 in TIF Revenues that the Town 
paid to MRRA in October 2015.  Further, in the event that subsequent legislative action or 
judicial interpretation result in the Town changing its interpretation and application of the 
property tax exemption set forth in 36 M.R.S. § 651(1)(F) causing the values of Hangars 4, 5, 
and 6 to become tax exempt, the $15 million cap shall be reduced to correspond to the dollar 
amount of the property tax exemption over the remaining life of the Executive Airport District, 
with such amount to be determined by the Town.  
 

 c.  Other Future Developers 
 
In addition to any TIF appropriations the Town may make to MRRA, the Town also 

intends to consider other types of TIF agreements with businesses and other entities to facilitate 
further development and job growth atwithin the Brunswick Landing and the Brunswick 
Executive Airport Districts.  Any future TIF agreements of this type will be funded from the fifty 
percent (50%) of new TIF Revenues allocated for Base Redevelopment, and will be considered 
independently and as a separate use from any approved dollar appropriation for the infrastructure 
needs of MRRA. 

 
  d. Application Process of TIF Funding 
 

24



Brunswick Landing II Omnibus Development Program 
First Amendment 

 

14 
 

Thus, in order to help foster the economic redevelopment of the Base, the Town intends 
to make up to fifty percent (50%) of the combined TIF Revenues from both TIF Districts 
available by application to MRRA and to future developers who may wish to locate within either 
of the DistrictTIF Districts.  In order to obtain TIF funding for its redevelopment projects, 
MRRA and any future developers that may wish to seek TIF funding for their development 
projects, will need to apply to the Town for funding for specific projects, which using the 
application process prescribed by the Town at the time of the request.  The Town Council will 
consider all requests for TIF funding on a case-by-case basis.   
 
 C. Strategic Growth and Development 
 

By creating the TIF DistrictExecutive Airport and Brunswick Landing Districts, the 
Town is able to capitalize on the momentum of MRRA’s efforts and maximize the economic 
redevelopment potential of the DistrictTIF Districts by streamlining the process for future 
businesses seeking to locate within either of the DistrictDistricts.  Rather than navigating the 
lengthy process and significant expense to designate a new TIF district each time a new 
developer investigates locating its business on the former NAS Brunswick, with the DistrictTIF 
Districts already in place, the Town can immediately focus on negotiating and finalizing credit 
enhancement agreements (“CEAs”) that will meet the needs of MRRA individual developers and 
the Town, which CEAs.  These future credit enhancement agreements may provide for 
reimbursement of up to fifty percent (50%) of taxes paid on captured assessed value created by 
such developerdevelopers within the District.TIF Districts and within sole Town Council 
discretion.  Having the DistrictTIF Districts in place will greatly enhance the marketability and 
development potential for commercial and industrial use of properties within the District.TIF 
Districts.   

 
 D. Improvements to the Public Infrastructure 

 
 As further set forth in Table 1, the Town will use certain TIF Revenues for road 
improvements that are directly related to and made necessary by the redevelopment of the former 
NASB. 

 
E. Operational Components 
 
 1. Public Facilities 
 
The Town plans to use a portion of the TIF Revenues to fund certain projects approved 

within the existing Downtown TIF District and to fund school construction and/or renovations.  
 
 2. Commercial Improvements Financed Through Development Program 
 
At this time, no commercial improvements will be financed through the Development 

Program.  The Town may, in the future, share a percentage of the TIF Revenues with future 
developers pursuant to the terms of such CEAs that may be negotiated with such developers.    

 

25



Brunswick Landing II Omnibus Development Program 
First Amendment 

 

15 
 

3. Relocation of Displaced Persons. 
 
Not applicable. 
 
 4. Transportation Improvements 
 
The Town will fund road improvements made necessary by the increased traffic to the 

District from other parts of the Town. 
 
 5. Environmental Controls 
 
The improvements made under this Development Program will meet or exceed all 

federal, state and local environmental laws, regulations and ordinances and will comply with all 
applicable land use requirements for the Town. 

 
 6. Plan of Operation 
 

 During the term of the District, the Town Manager or his designee will be responsible for 
all administrative matters within the purview of the Town concerning the implementation and 
operation of the District. 
 

III. Physical Description 

 Note that the details in this Article III address the conditions for approval contained in 
30-A M.R.S.A. § 5223(3).  The proposed 542-acre District is shown on Exhibit A.  The statutory 
threshold limits addressing the conditions for approval mandated by 30-A M.R.S.A. § 5223(3) 
are set forth in Exhibit B.    

IV. Financial Plan 

The collective original assessed value ofThe Town shall allocate all TIF Revenues 
collected by the property in Town since April 1, 2013 consistent with the provisions set forth in 
this First Amendment to the Brunswick Landing II Omnibus Municipal Development and Tax 
Increment Financing District was zero dollars ($0) as of March 31, 2012 (April 1, 
2011).Development Program.  The Town will capture one hundred percent (100%) of the 
increased assessed value of the real estate locatedpropertylocated within the District for the 
duration of the 30-year term of the District.  Personal property tax value will not be captured 
within the District.  The TIF Revenues so collected will fund and/or contribute to the funding of 
the approved projects, including each of the projects described on Table 1 hereof, which 
collectively increase the Town’s ability to stand out in a competitive marketplace as a dynamic 
municipality in which to grow a business.  All assessed real property value captured in the 
District will be added to the general tax rolls at the end of the TIF term. Personal property tax 
value will not be captured within the District.   

 
Upon each payment of real property taxes for property located inside the District, the 

Town will deposit into a development program fund (the “Development Program Fund”) the 

26



Brunswick Landing II Omnibus Development Program 
First Amendment 

 

16 
 

entirety of the property tax payments constituting TIF Revenues.  The Development Program 
Fund is pledged to and charged with the payment of the project costs in the manner and in the 
order provided in 30-A M.R.S.A. § 5227(3).  The Development Program Fund will consist of a 
development sinking fund account (the “Sinking Fund Account”), and a project cost account (the 
“Project Cost Account”) that will have subaccounts for the Town and for Base Redevelopment.  
From the Development Program Fund, the Town will deposit:  (a) fifty percent (50%) of the TIF 
Revenues into the Town’s Sinking Fund Account and/or the Town’s subaccount of the Project 
Cost Account to be used to fund the projects listed in Table 1; and (b) fifty percent (50%)an 
amount of the TIF Revenues to the Base Redevelopment subaccount as set forth immediately 
below in Table 2: 

27



Brunswick Landing II Omnibus Development Program 
First Amendment 

 

17 
 

TABLE 2 
Allocation of TIF Revenues from both TIF Districts 

 
 Town Allocation of TIF Revenues Base Redevelopment Allocation of 

TIF Revenues 
   
 
Executive Airport District: 
 

  

TIF Revenues generated by 
“aeronautical business” tenants 
within Hangars 4, 5 and 6 (parcels 
040-250, 040-005 and 040-006 
respectively, as further shown on 
Exhibit H) 
Note: “Aeronautical business” is 
defined in Exhibit I. 

 
0% 

 
100% 

TIF Revenues generated by all other 
(i.e., not “aeronautical business”)  
tenants within Hangars 4, 5 and 6 
(parcels 040-250, 040-005 and 040-
006 respectively), and all other 
properties with the Executive 
Airport District.    

 
50% 

 
50% 

   
 
Brunswick Landing District: 
 

 
75% 

 
25% 

   
 
Either TIF District: 

 
Variable amount on an annual basis to be determined, and only if needed, to 
make Town’s aggregate allocation of TIF Revenues equal 50% of total TIF 
Revenues from both TIF Districts. 

 
 

 
The TIF Revenues deposited into the Base Redevelopment subaccount of the Project Cost 

Account towill be used to fund paymentsavailable to MRRA and/or individual future developers 
within the District pursuant to by application to the Town, using the process set forth above in 
Section II.B.2.d.  Payments to any CEAs then in effect.future developers would most likely, but 
not necessarily be made through future credit enhancement agreements. 

 
  Periodically, and pursuant to the terms of any applicable credit enhancement agreement, 

any TIF Revenues that remain deposited in the Base Redevelopment subaccount of the Project 
Cost Account that are not allocated to either MRRA or a developer will revert back to the 
Town’s subaccount of the Project Cost Account.  All assessed real property value captured in the 
District will be added to the general tax rolls at the end of the TIF term. 

 
Estimates of the increased assessed property values of the District, the anticipated TIF 

Revenues generated by the District, and the estimated tax shifts are shown in Exhibits D-13 and 
D-2, respectively.  

28



Brunswick Landing II Omnibus Development Program 
First Amendment 

 

18 
 

A. Costs and Sources of Revenues 

Private improvements will result in the captured assessed value that will generate Tax 
Increment Revenues.  The current and future developers owning or leasing properties located 
within the District will pay for and/or finance all private improvements located in the District 
through private sources.   

B. Indebtedness 

 None of the project costs will be met through public indebtedness, except for future 
school construction and/or renovations, as set forth in Table 1.     

 

V. Financial Data 

The statutory requirements and thresholds for approval required by Section 5223(3) of 
the TIF Statute are set forth in Exhibit B. 

VI. Tax Shifts 

In accordance with the TIF Statute, the table set forth in Exhibit D-2 identifies the tax 
shifts that the Town estimates will result during the term of the District.  
 

29



Brunswick Landing II Omnibus Development Program 
First Amendment 

 

19 
 

VII. Municipal Approvals 
 

A. Notice of Public Hearing 
 

 Attached as Exhibit E-1 hereto is a copy of the Notice of Public Hearing regarding 
adoption of the First Amendment to the Development Program for the District, published in the 
Times Record, a newspaper of general circulation in the Town, on July 18, 2013, a date at least 
ten (10) days prior to the public hearing.  The public hearing on the First Amendment to the 
Development Program was held on July 29, 2013June 20, 2016, in accordance with the 
requirements of 30-A M.R.S.A. § 5226(1).   

 
B. Minutes of Public Hearing Held by Town Council 
 

 Attached as Exhibit F-1 hereto is a certified copy of the minutes of the public hearing 
held on July 29, 2013June 20, 2016, at which time this First Amendment to the Development 
Program was discussed by the public. 

  
C. Authorizing Votes 
 

 Attached as Exhibit G-1 hereto is a copy of the Brunswick Town Council Resolution 
approving this First Amendment to the Development Program, which Resolution was adopted by 
the Council at a meeting of the Council duly called and held on July 29, 2013June 20, 2016. 
 

 

30



Brunswick Landing II Omnibus Development Program 
First Amendment 

 

20 
 

 
 

SCHEDULES AND EXHIBITS 
[To Be Inserted] 

 
Schedules: 
1 March 29, 2013 DECD Approval Letter Conditionally Approving the Town’s 

Designation of the Brunswick Landing II Municipal TIF District. 
2 January, 18, 2013 DECD Approval Letter Approving the Mölnlycke Manufacturing 

Municipal TIF District and Development Program. 
 
Exhibits: 
A TIF District Maps 
B Statutory Requirements & Thresholds 
C Assessor’s Certificate of Original Assessed Value 
D-1 TIF Revenue Projections  
D-2 Tax Shift Projections 

31



Brunswick Landing II Omnibus Development Program 
First Amendment 

 

21 
 

 

32



Brunswick Landing II Omnibus Development Program 
First Amendment 

 

22 
 

 
 

 
EXHIBIT E 

 
 

NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING 
 

TOWN OF BRUNSWICK 

Regarding 

 
AThe First Amendment to 

the Municipal Tax Increment Financing Development Program for the District Known As 
The “Brunswick Landing Omnibus Municipal Development  

and Tax Increment Financing District”  

 
And 

The First Amendment to 
the Municipal Tax Increment Financing Development Program for the District Known as 

the “Brunswick Executive Airport Omnibus Municipal Development  
and Tax Increment Financing District” 

 Notice is hereby given that the Brunswick Town Council will hold a public hearing on  

 
July 29, 2013,  
June 20, 2016 

at the 
 

Brunswick Municipal Meeting RoomTown Office at 16 Station Avenue85 Union Street, 
Brunswick, Maine, 

 
The Public Hearing will be at 7:00[insert time] p.m.   

  
The purpose of the public hearing is to receive public comments on the approval of the 

Development ProgramFirst Amendment to the development programs for the municipal tax 
increment financing districtdistricts identified above, designated on March 29, 2013 and also 
known as the Brunswick “Landing Municipal DevelopmentTIF” and Tax Increment Financing 
District (the “District”)the “Airport TIF,” pursuant to the provisions of Chapter 206 of Title 30-A 
of the Maine Revised Statutes, as amended.  

33



Brunswick Landing II Omnibus Development Program 
First Amendment 

 

23 
 

 
The designated municipal development and tax increment financingLanding TIF district 

consists of 542 acres of property located at the former Naval Air Station Brunswick.   and the 
Airport TIF district consists of 146 acres of property located at the former Naval Air Station 
Brunswick.   

 
All interested persons are invited to attend the public hearing and will be given an 

opportunity to be heard at that time.  The Development Programs and First Amendments are 
available for review by all interested parties ___________________________. 

 
 

 

34



Brunswick Landing II Omnibus Development Program 
First Amendment 

 

24 
 

 
 

EXHIBIT F-1 
 

Minutes of Public Hearing and Town Council Meeting 
 
 
 
 
 

EXHIBIT G-1 
 

Town Council Resolution  
 
 
 

EXHIBIT H 
 

Exhibit A to MOA Showing Hangars 4, 5 & 6 

35



Brunswick Landing II Omnibus Development Program 
First Amendment 

25 

EXHIBIT I 
DEFINITION OF “AERONAUTICAL BUSINESS” 

For the purpose of this Development Program, "aeronautical business" means the act, practice of, 
or instruction in the art and science of transportation by aircraft, and operation, construction, 
repair or maintenance of aircraft, airports and air navigation facilities.  Such uses shall include:  

Air carrier.  "Air carrier" means a person who undertakes, whether directly or indirectly or by 
lease or other arrangement, to engage in air commerce and is certificated under Federal Air 
Regulations. 

Air commerce.  "Air commerce" means the carriage by aircraft of persons or property for 
compensation or hire, when that carriage is a major enterprise for profit and not merely 
incidental to a person's other business. 

Air navigation facility.  "Air navigation facility" means any facility used in, available for use in, 
or designed for use in, aid of air navigation, including airports, lights, any apparatus or 
equipment for disseminating weather information, for signaling, for radio-directional finding, or 
for radio or other electrical communication, and any other structure or mechanism having a 
similar purpose for guiding or controlling flight in the air or the landing and takeoff of aircraft. 

Air taxi.  "Air taxi" means a person who undertakes, whether directly or indirectly or by lease or 
other arrangement, to engage in air commerce and who possesses an Air Taxi Commercial 
Operators Certificate issued by the Federal Aviation Administration under 14 Code of Federal 
Regulations, Part 135. 

Aircraft Construction.  “Aircraft construction” means the design, construction, manufacturing or 
assembly of aircraft that would require the presence of an airfield as an integral part of its 
business operation for the design, testing, sale or distribution of aircraft. 

Aircraft dealer.  "Aircraft dealer" means any person engaged in the sale or purchase or 
manufacture of new or used aircraft. 

Aviation Fueling Facilities. “Aviation Fueling Facilities” means entities that provide aircraft 
fueling services. 

Basing aircraft. "Basing aircraft" means storing, parking, tying down or mooring aircraft in 
Maine for more than 30 consecutive calendar days. 

Maintenance, Overhaul or Repair (MRO).  “MRO” means any business or entity involved in the 
maintenance, overhaul or repair of aircraft, aircraft components and aircraft completions. 

36



TOWN OF BRUNSWICK, MAINE 

TOWN COUNCIL RESOLUTION 

Adopting the First Amendment of the Brunswick Executive Airport II Municipal Development and 

Tax Increment Financing District Omnibus Development Program 

WHEREAS, the Town of Brunswick (the “Town”) is authorized pursuant to Chapter 206 of Title 30-A 

of the Maine Revised Statutes, as amended, to designate specific areas within the Town as the Brunswick 

Executive Airport II Municipal Development and Tax Increment Financing District Omnibus 

Development Program (the “District”) and to adopt a Development Program Amendment for the District 

(the “Development Program Amendment”); and 

WHEREAS, there is a need to encourage and facilitate the rapid redevelopment of industrial, commercial 

and professional office space within the Town at the former naval air base known as the Naval Air Station 

Brunswick (“NAS Brunswick”); and 

WHEREAS, the 2011 closure of NAS Brunswick created an acute need to provide additional 

employment opportunities for the residents of the Town and the surrounding region; to improve and 

broaden the tax base of the Town; and to improve the general economy of the Town, the surrounding 

region and the State of Maine; and 

WHEREAS, the Town designated the District on March 18, 2013 to ensure that any new taxable value 

located in the District would be captured in a tax increment financing (“TIF”) district and the Maine 

Department of Economic and Community Development (the “Department”) issued a conditional approval 

of the District effective as of March 29, 2013; and 

WHEREAS, the Town adopted a Development Program for the District on July 29, 2013 in order to 

capture the value of real property improvements made within the District, and to enable the use of TIF 

revenues for various municipal and other economic development projects and the Maine Department of 

Economic and Community Development (the “Department”) issued a full approval of the District and the 

Development Program effective as of October 24, 2013; and 

WHEREAS, amending the Development Program for the District will help to continue to create new 

employment for the citizens of the Town and the surrounding region; improve and broaden the tax base of 

the Town; and improve the economy of the Town and the State of Maine; and 

WHEREAS, the Town Council has held a public hearing on June 20, 2016, upon at least ten (10) days 

prior notice published in a newspaper of general circulation within the Town, on the question of adopting 

the Development Program Amendment for the District in accordance with the requirements of 30-A 

M.R.S.A. § 5226; and 

WHEREAS, the Town Council has considered the comments provided at the public hearing, both for and 

against the adoption of the Development Program Amendment, if any; and 

WHEREAS, the Town desires to adopt the Development Program Amendment of the District; and 

37



WHEREAS, it is expected that approval will be sought and obtained from the Department, approving the 

Development Program Amendment.  

NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED AS FOLLOWS: 

Section 1. Pursuant to Chapter 206 of Title 30-A of the Maine Revised Statutes, as amended, the Town 

Council hereby adopts the Development Program Amendment, all as more particularly described in the 

Development Program presented to the Town Council and such Development Program is hereby 

incorporated by reference into this vote as the Development Program Amendment for the District.  

Section 2. Pursuant to the provisions of 30-A M.R.S.A. § 5227, the percentage of the increased assessed 

value to be retained as captured assessed value in the District is hereby established as set forth in the 

Development Program Amendment.  

Section 3. The Town Manager, or his duly appointed representative, is hereby authorized, empowered 

and directed to submit the proposed Development Program Amendment to the Department for review and 

approval pursuant to the requirements of 30-A M.R.S.A. § 5226(2).  

Section 4. The foregoing adoption of the Development Program Amendment shall automatically become 

final and shall take full force and effect upon receipt by the Town of approval of the Development 

Program Amendment by the Department, without requirement of any further action by the Town, the 

Town Council, or any other party.  

Section 5. The Town Manager, or his duly appointed representative, is hereby authorized and 

empowered, at his discretion, from time to time, to make such revisions to the documents related to the 

Development Program Amendment as he may deem reasonably necessary or convenient in order to 

facilitate the process for review and approval of the Development Program Amendment by the 

Department, so long as such revisions are not inconsistent with these resolutions or the basic structure and 

intent of the Council in adopting the Development Program Amendment.  

Section 6. This Resolution shall take effect immediately upon adoption. 

Proposed to Town Council: June 6, 2016 

Public Hearing:  June 20, 2016  

Adopted by Town Council: ________________ 

38



Brunswick Executive Airport II Omnibus Development Program 
First Amendment 

i 

ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT 
BRUNSWICK, MAINE 

An Application for a Municipal Development and Tax Increment Financing District 
Development Program 

______________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________  

FIRST AMENDMENT TO 
BRUNSWICK EXECUTIVE AIRPORT II MUNICIPAL DEVELOPMENT AND  

TAX INCREMENT FINANCING DISTRICT OMNIBUS DEVELOPMENT PROGRAM 
______________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________  

Presented to: 

TOWN OF BRUNSWICK 

DATED: July 29, 2013____ 

39



Brunswick Executive Airport II Omnibus Development Program 
First Amendment 

 

1 
 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
                  Page 
 
I. Introduction ............................................................................................................1 
 A. Midcoast Regional Redevelopment Authority ....................................................1 
 B. MRRA’s Request for Tax Increment Financing Assistance ...............................2 
 C. Designation of TIF DistrictDistricts ....................................................................2 
 D. Dispute Regarding Tax Exemption for Municipal Airports ...............................2 
II. Development Program Narrative .........................................................................2 
 A. The Development Program .................................................................................2 
 B. The Projects .........................................................................................................4 
 C. 1.  Municipal Projects
 7 
  2.  Base Redevelopment Projects ...............................................................11  
 C. Strategic Growth and Development ....................................................................9 
 D. Improvements to the Public Infrastructure..........................................................9 
 E. Operational Components ...................................................................................10 
III. Physical Description.............................................................................................10 
IV. Financial Plan .......................................................................................................10 
 A. Costs and Sources of Revenue ..........................................................................11 
 B. Indebtedness ......................................................................................................11 
V. Financial Data ......................................................................................................11 
VI. Tax Shifts ..............................................................................................................12 
VII. Municipal Approvals ...........................................................................................12 
 A. Notice of Public Hearing ..................................................................................12 
 B. Minutes of Public Hearing Held by Town Council...........................................12 
 C. Authorizing Votes .............................................................................................12 

 
SCHEDULES AND EXHIBITS: 
 
Schedules: 
1 March 29October 24, 2013 DECD Approval Letter Conditionally Approving the Town’s 

Designation of the Brunswick Executive Airport II Municipal TIF District. 
2 January, 18, 2013 DECD Approval Letter Approving  and the Mölnlycke Manufacturing 

Municipal TIFomnibus development program for the District and Development Program. 
 
Exhibits: 
A TIF District Maps 
B Statutory Requirements & Thresholds 
C Assessor’s Certificate of Original Assessed Value 
D-1 TIF Revenue Projections  
D-2 Tax Shift Projections 
E-1 Public Hearing Notice for First Amendment 
F-1 Public Hearing Minutes for First Amendment 
G-1 Town Council Resolution for First Amendment 

40



Brunswick Executive Airport II Omnibus Development Program 
First Amendment 

 

2 
 

H Exhibit A to Memorandum of Agreement Showing Hangars 4, 5 & 6 
I Definition of “Aeronautical Business” 

41



Brunswick Executive Airport II Omnibus Development Program 
First Amendment 

 

3 
 

I. Introduction 
 

A. Midcoast Regional Redevelopment Authority 

 On August 24, 2005, the Federal Base Realignment and Closure (“BRAC”) Commission 
voted eight to one to close Naval Air Station Brunswick (“NAS Brunswick” or “NASB” or the 
“Base”) and move its aircraft operations to Jacksonville, Florida.  The 79-acre Topsham Annex 
located in Topsham, Maine was also included as part of the closure.  On September 15, 2005, the 
final list was approved by the President of the United States.  By law, both properties were 
required to close before September 15, 2011.  For the Town of Brunswick, the Town of 
Topsham, Cumberland and Sagadahoc counties, and the State of Maine, that decision was the 
culmination of an intense process and significant community effort to keep the facility open to 
maintain an employment base of over 5,200 military and civilian personnel.   

 NAS Brunswick was built as a multi-purpose campus that has changed over many years 
to serve a variety of purposes.  It has been an airport since its initial development in the late 
1930s, built on the site of a municipal airfield.  Its primary mission has been to house and 
maintain various patrol aircraft and other Navy aviation and non-aviation activities.  The base is 
considered both an industrial facility where aircraft were hangared, maintained and flown, as 
well as a support facility with offices, retail buildings, housing and ancillary uses associated with 
a relatively self-contained operation.  In total there are over 200 buildings totaling over 1.75 
million square feet on the Base; forty of which buildings would be considered significant 
facilities.   

 The closure of NAS Brunswick represents one of the largest single employer relocations 
or closings in the history of the state.  The State Planning Office conducted an assessment of 
impact closure and revised the state gross product projection for 2015 downward by $390 
million, cutting the projected growth rate from two to approximately one percent.  They also 
revised the state population growth downward by 7,400 as a result of the base closure.   
Projected state personal income was also reduced by $370 million.  Revenues to the State of 
Maine are also expected to be reduced by some $20 million. 

 In other economic displacement events such as plant closings, most individuals continue 
to live in the community, albeit with reduced income, and they still contribute to the economy, 
have children in local schools, and participate in the activities of the community.  In the case of 
a base closure and realignment, however, an entire segment of the population leaves the area, 
which increases vacancy rates and eliminates millions of dollars spent in the local economy on 
everything from housing, food, transportation and energy costs, to professional services and 
entertainment. 

 The impact of the closure is so large that the Maine Legislature created the Midcoast 
Regional Redevelopment Authority (“MRRA”) for the purpose of managing the transition of this 
large military facility back into the fabric of the region and to support the rapid and successful 
redevelopment of NAS Brunswick.  MRRA is a public municipal corporation.  While MRRA has 
many of the powers of a municipality, it does not have taxing jurisdiction over the property 
located within NAS Brunswick.  See 5 M.R.S.A. § 13083-I(1).  Thus, in order to use municipal 
tax increment financing (“TIF”) as an economic development tool to aid in the redevelopment of 

42



Brunswick Executive Airport II Omnibus Development Program 
First Amendment 

 

4 
 

NAS Brunswick, MRRA must work cooperatively with the Town of Brunswick (the “Town”) in 
order to create and use TIF Revenuesthe tax revenues generated by the captured assessed value 
in the TIF districts (the “TIF Revenues”) to foster and/or fund the desired redevelopment 
activities.    

B. MRRA’s Request for Tax Increment Financing Assistance  

 In the fall of 2011, MRRA presented the Town with a request for $12 million in tax 
increment financing assistance at NAS Brunswick as part of a larger project to redevelop the 1.7 
million square feet of industrial, commercial and professional office space at NAS Brunswick.  
MRRA’s mission is to facilitate the rapid redevelopment of the base properties in order to realize 
full build-out of the aeronautical-related facilities at NAS Brunswick and Brunswick Landing in 
accordance with the adopted Reuse Master Plan for NAS Brunswick and the Airport Master Plan 
(the “Reuse Master Plan”).  MRRA specifically requested that the Town create a tax increment 
financing district around the former naval airfield, which is intended to facilitate the 
redevelopment, investment and transition of the naval airfield into a civilian general aviation 
airport and business executive park.  Investment in the buildings and infrastructure used for 
aeronautical purposes associated with this District would enhance the competitiveness of the 
Midcoast region and the State of Maine, and allow the area to attract, grow and create new 
businesses in the growing aeronautical cluster in the Midcoast region.  Having this area in a TIF 
district will facilitate MRRA’s efforts to redevelop the Base by allowing MRRA to seek funding 
from the Town for assistance in its efforts to redevelop the executive airport portion of the NAS 
Brunswick.     

C. Designation of TIF DistrictDistricts   

Following extensive TIF-related discussions with MRRA and actively considering how 
best to maximize the Town’s ability to assist in the redevelopment of the NAS Brunswick 
through the use of tax increment financing, in March 2013 the Town designated atwo TIF 
districts to assist with the redevelopment of the Base:  (1) the 146-acre tax increment financing 
district for a 30-year period to be known as the Brunswick Executive Airport II Omnibus 
Municipal Development and Tax Increment Financing District (the “Executive Airport District” 
or the “District”) and (2) the 542-acre Brunswick Landing II Omnibus Municipal Development 
and Tax Increment Financing District (the “Brunswick Landing District”) (collectively the “TIF 
Districts”).  At that time, the Town wanted to take more time to flesh out a comprehensive 
development program that would be designed to foster a broad range of economic redevelopment 
activity at the former NASB, so the District wasTIF Districts were both designated without a 
development program.    

By letterseparate letters dated March 29, 2013, the Maine Department of Economic and 
Community Development (“DECD”) issued a conditional approval of the Town Council’s 
designation of the DistrictTIF Districts after a public hearing held on March 4, 2013, and a vote 
of the Council held on March 18, 2013.  By separate letters dated October 24, 2013, DECD 
issued full approval of the two TIF Districts and the development programs for those Districts.  
Attached hereto as Schedule 1 is a copy of the DECD Approval letter conditionally approvingfor 
the Town’s designation of theExecutive Airport District, subject to later DECD approval of a and 
the development program for the District.     

43



Brunswick Executive Airport II Omnibus Development Program 
First Amendment 

 

5 
 

 

 

D.  Dispute Regarding Tax Exemption for Municipal Airports 

In April 2011, MRRA entered into a lease agreement with Kestrel Aircraft Company, Inc. 
for property located at the Base, which property was later included within the property 
designated as the Executive Airport District.  On the same date, Kestrel Aircraft Company, Inc. 
entered into a sublease with Kestrel Brunswick Corporation (both Kestrel entities are collectively 
“Kestrel”) for the same land area and the same terms as the primary lease (the lease and sublease 
are collectively the “Kestrel Lease”).  The property subject to the Kestrel Lease includes just 
over half of a large aircraft hangar known as Hangar Number Six (“Hangar 6”), use of the tie-
down area adjacent to Hangar 6, non-exclusive use of the runways, taxi-ways and aprons and 
other conveniences for the take-off, flying and landing of aircraft, and an area for parking motor 
vehicles.  The Kestrel Lease, among other things, provided that the leased premises must be used 
exclusively for aeronautical purposes as defined in 6 M.R.S. § 3(2). 

 
On April 1, 2012, MRRA applied to the Town for tax exempt status for the area of 

Hangar 6 covered by the Kestrel Lease, asserting that MRRA’s ownership of the property and 
Kestrel’s use of the property qualified the property for the property tax exemption for public 
airports set forth in 36 M.R.S. § 651(1)(F).  The Town disagreed with MRRA’s position and did 
not grant a tax exemption for the portion of Hangar 6 subject to the Kestrel Lease.  The Town 
issued tax bills to MRRA for the portion of Hangar 6 subject to the Kestrel Lease in the amount 
of $114,114 for the Town’s 2012 tax year and $123,700 for the Town’s 2013 tax year.  MRRA 
paid the taxes in full for both years.  The parties, however, continued to dispute the tax status of 
the portion of Hangar 6 subject to the Kestrel Lease. 

 
In April 2014, MRRA filed a declaratory judgment lawsuit in the Maine Superior Court 

against the Town and the Town’s Assessor (the “lawsuit”).  In the lawsuit, MRRA asked the 
Court to, among other things, determine that MRRA was entitled to a tax exemption pursuant to 
36 M.R.S. § 651(1)(F), order the Town to refund the taxes MRRA paid in 2012 and 2013 related 
the portion of Hangar 6 leased by Kestrel, and issue an injunction directing the Town’s Assessor 
to classify the portion of Hangar 6 leased by Kestrel as tax exempt pursuant to 36 M.R.S. § 
651(1)(F). 

 
Despite the pending lawsuit, the Town and MRRA have continued to try to resolve their 

differences regarding the tax status of Hangar 6 and continued to work together in an effort to 
foster the redevelopment of the former NAS Brunswick.  Toward that end, in October 2015, the 
Town and MRRA entered into a Memorandum of Agreement (the “MOA”), in which the Town 
agreed to pursue certain amendments to the Development Programs for the TIF Districts, 
including a new allocation of TIF Revenues, and the Town agreed to negotiate and enter into a 
credit enhancement agreement with MRRA (the “CEA”) to memorialize the new allocation of 
TIF Revenues.  For its part, MRRA agreed in the MOA that it would not appeal any future 
decisions of the Town regarding the taxable status of property located within the Executive 
Airport District, and it would include language in its leases prohibiting MRRA’s lessees from 
challenging the Town’s interpretation and application of the tax exemption set forth in 36 M.R.S. 

44



Brunswick Executive Airport II Omnibus Development Program 
First Amendment 

6 

§ 651(1)(F).  MRRA further agreed to dismiss its pending lawsuit after the TIF amendments
receive final approval from DECD and after the CEA is fully executed. 

The purpose of this First Amendment to the Brunswick Executive Airport II Omnibus 
Municipal Development and Tax Increment Financing District Development Program is to 
implement the relevant terms set forth in the MOA that relate to the Development Program for 
the Executive Airport District.      

II. Development Program Narrative

A. The Development Program

This Development Program is structured and proposed pursuant to Chapter 206 of
Title 30-A of the Maine Revised Statutes, as amended (the “TIF Statute”).  The Town’s 
designation of the District combined with the adoption of this Development Program create a 
single municipal TIF district in order to capture the value of the real property improvements 
made within the District, and enable the use of TIF Revenues for various municipal and other 
economic development projects.  The Development Program will run for the same 30-year 
period as the District designation.   

Under this  
It is the Town of Brunswick's intent to administer the Development Program,Programs 

for the Executive Airport District and the Brunswick Landing District together.  The Town will 
capture one hundred percent (100%) of the new real property value located in the District.both 
TIF Districts.  The Town will retain, in aggregate, fifty percent (50%) of the tax revenuesTIF 
Revenues generated by the captured assessed value (the “TIF Revenues”) to fund infrastructure 
improvements, public safety equipment, its existing Downtown TIF District, school construction 
and/or renovations, and other administrative costs, all as further described in Table 1 
herein.within the two TIF Districts.  The Town will set aside the remaining fifty percent (50%) 
of the aggregate TIF Revenues from the two TIF Districts in order to make those TIF Revenues 
available to MRRA and future developers (when this word is used in this document it includes 
both developers and companies) by application to the Town. through the use of CEAs and/or 
other reimbursement agreements.  Payments to MRRA and future developers would most likely, 
but not necessarily, be made through future credit enhancement agreements, all as further 
described in this Development Program in Section IV – Financial Plan. 

By adopting this Development Program, the Town embarks upon the final step in 
creating a TIF district that will significantly contribute to MRRA’s and the Town’s efforts to 
maximize the benefits achieved through the redevelopment of the NAS Brunswick.  It will also 
underscore Brunswick’s growing reputation as a commercial hub and desirable place in which to 
locate a business; promote additional economic development in Brunswick by extending the 
possibility of credit enhancement arrangements between the Town and future developers. 

In designating the District and adopting this Development Program, the Town can 
accomplish the following goals: 

• Maintain existing tax revenues;

45



Brunswick Executive Airport II Omnibus Development Program 
First Amendment 

 

7 
 

• Enjoy enhanced future tax revenues generated by new development within the District 
spearheaded by MRRA in conformance with the Reuse Master Plan; 

• Create long-term, stable employment opportunities for areas residents; 

• Assist MRRA in attracting businesses and promoting the economic viability and 
sustainability of the general economy of the Town, the Midcoast Maine region and the 
State of Maine. 

Thus, the Town’s designation of the TIF District and pursuit of this Development 
Program constitute a good and valid public purpose pursuant to Chapter 206 of Title 30-A 
because it represents a substantial contribution to the economic wellbeing of both the Town and 
the Midcoast Maine Region, by providing jobs, contributing to property taxes and diversifying 
the region’s economic base.  
 

In addition, by creating the District, the Town will “shelter” the increase in municipal 
valuation that development in the District will bring about.  This is particularly significant, 
because the original assessed value of the District was zero dollars ($0) as of March 31, 2012 
(April 1, 2011).  Since MRRA is also a tax exempt entity, there will not be any new taxable 
value in the District until new taxable value is created in the District as a result of MRRA’s and 
the Town’s successful redevelopment efforts.  This tax shift benefit will mitigate the adverse 
effect that the District’s increased assessed property value would have on the Town’s share of 
state aid to education, municipal revenue sharing and its county tax assessment.  An estimate of 
the tax shift benefit is shown as Exhibit D-2 attached hereto. 
 

B. The Projects  
 

1.  Municipal Projects 
 

Development within the District will provide a revenue source for the Town’s economic 
development projects.  The Town plans to use its portion of the TIF Revenues for several 
projects that will enhance the exposure and viability of the Town as a vibrant place to locate a 
business, to visit and to work.  The Town plans to invest in its infrastructure by improving roads 
leading to and from the District, purchasing new public safety equipment needed to provide 
public safety services to the District and the former NAS Brunswick, and by contributing TIF 
Revenues to fund projects set forth in the Town’s existing Downtown TIF District, along with 
additional administrative expenses outlined on Table 1.  Additionally, because of the unique 
economic impacts the Town is encountering and will continue to encounter as a result of the 
closure and redevelopment of the former base, the Town will use a portion of its TIF Revenues 
for debt-service payments on school construction and/or renovation bonds.     

 
Regarding the Town’s proposed road improvements, the Maine Department of 

Transportation completed a comprehensive traffic study in 2010 that specifically related to 
enhancing the redevelopment of the former NASB. Throughout the study and the public 
meetings leading up to the final report, a constant theme that was raised was the need for safe 
and efficient travel routes to the former Base. The Base is located in the geographic center of the 

46



Brunswick Executive Airport II Omnibus Development Program 
First Amendment 

 

8 
 

Town of Brunswick and does not have direct rail access.  All employees, deliveries and exports 
will likely take place over the various streets and roads that lead into the Town of Brunswick and 
to Brunswick Landing. The streets and roads that the Town has identified on Table 1 are a 
combination of local connectors to Brunswick Landing or connectors from the region into the 
Town of Brunswick that subsequently route traffic to the former NASB. 

  
Regarding the Town’s plan to use TIF Revenues to purchase public safety vehicles, the 

redevelopment of NASB instantly adds over 3,300 acres and 200 non-residential buildings to the 
jurisdiction of the Town—not counting the new commercial buildings that will be built in the 
future as a result of redevelopment efforts.  In order to provide adequate public safety services to 
this new area of the Town, the Town will need to stretch its existing fleet of public safety (police, 
rescue and fire) vehicles further each year.  Additionally, MRRA is planning to submit proposed 
legislation that would cede jurisdiction for traffic enforcement on the Base to the Town, which 
would result in the Town’s police officers enforcing speeding and other traffic laws on the 
former Base, in addition to providing general public safety services.  The Town currently has a 
fleet of 22 police vehicles, most of which are already on the road 24 hours per day, seven days 
per week, all 52 weeks  of the year.  The Town also has a fleet of 13 fire department vehicles, 3 
of which are ambulances.  The ambulances are replaced approximately every 3 years.  As a 
direct result of the redevelopment of the former NASB, the Town’s fleet of public safety vehicles 
will incur significantly increased mileage, wear and tear, which will require the Town to replace 
them with greater frequency than prior to any redevelopment activity at the former NASB.  Since 
the Town’s need to replace its public safety vehicles (police, fire and rescue vehicles) with much 
greater frequency is directly related to and made necessary by the redevelopment of the former 
NASB and the District, the Town will use TIF funds to cover the cost of up to four (4) public 
safety vehicles each year.  

 
As a direct result of the closure of the Base, the Town of Brunswick’s pupil count has 

dropped radically and precipitously, which has resulted in a massive reduction of school funding 
aid from the State of Maine to the Town.  Additionally, with the prospect of significant future 
redevelopment at the Base, the Town stands to lose substantial amounts of future aid for 
education, which is expected to compound an already untenable funding situation for 
Brunswick’s School Department.  Because of the unique situation created by the Base closure 
and the regional effort to redevelop the Base, the Town stands to bear the brunt of a massive and 
unsustainable drop in school funding aid from the State.  In light of this unique situation, the 
Town will use TIF funds to pay debt-service on school construction and/or renovation bonds to 
improve the schools used by residents of the Town of Brunswick in order to make the former 
Base more attractive for commercial redevelopment.  While the Town is fully committed to 
fostering redevelopment of the Base with TIF Revenues, in order to be in a position to provide 
TIF funding to MRRA and future developers in the District without suffering further adverse 
impacts, the Town needs to retain a portion of the TIF funds for school construction and/or 
renovation.  Thus, Brunswick’s school funding crisis is directly related to the closure of the 
former Base and is exacerbated by the redevelopment of the Base with TIF Revenues.     

    
The Town plans to use TIF Revenues as part of its overall plan to use its location and 

resources to attract and retain businesses that want to take advantage of Brunswick’s business-
friendly location at the gateway to the Midcoast while offering their employees a rich, dynamic 

47



Brunswick Executive Airport II Omnibus Development Program 
First Amendment 

 

9 
 

and high quality of life.  Please see Table 1 herein for a complete list of authorized projects and 
their respective cost estimates. 
 

48



Brunswick Executive Airport II Omnibus Development Program 
First Amendment 

 

10 
 

TABLE 1 
Town of Brunswick’s Project Development Costs 

 
Notes:   
* The first five projects listed in the Town’s project list is the global master project list that the Town 
created for the Mölnlycke Manufacturing Municipal Development and Tax Increment Financing District 
and Development Program and for any future districts and development programs that the Town may 
create in the future at the location of and to foster the redevelopment of the former NASB.  DECD 
approved the Mölnlycke global master project list by letter of the Commissioner dated January 18, 2013.  
Attached hereto as Schedule 2 is a copy of the DECD approval letter approving the Mölnlycke 
Manufacturing Municipal TIF District and Development Program.  This list includes one additional 
project, item #6, which was not included on the approved global master project list.   
* The TIF Revenues from this District* Items #7, 8 and 9 are new projects added in 2016 as part of the 
First Amendment to the Executive Airport and Brunswick Landing TIF Districts.   
* The TIF Revenues from these Districts are not intended to fully fund each of the projects listed below—
indeed, the total project costs for the projects listed below far exceed the Town’s estimated share of the 
TIF Revenues from this District.the Districts.  The project cost estimates are reflective of the estimated 
total cost for each project, each of which is common to the Brunswick Landing TIF District (the cost 
estimates do NOT reflect only half of the total project cost). 

 Project  Cost 
Estimate 

Statutory Cite 

1. 
 

Road Improvements:  The Town will use TIF funds to improve 
and maintain Town-owned roads and streets (improvements 
and maintenance includes but is not limited to paving, 
reconstruction and storm water work) that form the 
transportation routes most directly impacted by the creation of 
the District and the redevelopment of the former NASB.  
Improvements to the designated portions of the roads and 
streets identified below are directly related to and made 
necessary by the redevelopment of the NASB and the creation 
of the District, which will significantly increase the amount of 
commercial traffic going to/from the District from the Town’s 
Downtown and other locations throughout the Town.  Local 
road/street reconstruction is estimated to cost $175,000/mile 
(approximately 36.55 miles), and individual projects are 
expected to have a 10-year lifespan. 

 
1. River Road (5.01 miles) 
2. Bath Road (4.75 miles) 
3. Federal Street (.59 miles) 
4. McKeen Street (1.59 miles) 
5. Maine Street (2.22 miles) 
6. Pleasant Hill Road (4.12 miles) 
7. Jordan Avenue (1.55 miles) 
8. Mere Point Road (5.46 miles) 
9. Middle Bay Road (1.16 miles) 
10. Durham Road (3.44 miles) 
11. Casco Road (1.92 miles) 
12. Union Street  (.77 miles) 
13. Church Road (1.93 miles) 
14. Bunganuc Road (2.04 miles) 
 

 
$640,000/year 

 
$19,200,000  

(total 30 years) 
 

 
30-A M.R.S.A. § 
5225(1)(B)(1) & 
(B)(2) 

49



Brunswick Executive Airport II Omnibus Development Program 
First Amendment 

 

11 
 

 Project  Cost 
Estimate 

Statutory Cite 

 
2. 

 
Public Safety Improvements:  As a direct result of the 
redevelopment of the NASB and the creation of the District, the 
Town will now be required to replace public safety equipment 
in the form of fire trucks, police cars and ambulances at in 
increased frequency in order to provide public safety services 
to the businesses locating in the former NASB and the District.  
Prior to the closure of the NASB, these areas were under the 
jurisdiction of the federal government, and did not receive (or 
require) Town-provided police, fire and rescue services.  Since 
the Town’s need to replace its public safety vehicles (police, 
fire and rescue vehicles) with much greater frequency is 
directly related to and made necessary by the redevelopment of 
the former NASB and the District, the Town will use TIF funds 
to cover the cost of up to four (4) public safety vehicles each 
year.  

 

 
$130,000/year 

 
$3,900,000  

(total 30 years) 
 
 

 
30-A M.R.S.A. § 
5225(1)(B)(2) 

3. 
 

Downtown TIF Projects:  The Town will use TIF funds to 
mitigate the impacts of the District on the Town’s downtown 
area by funding projects described in the 2010 Brunswick 
Downtown Municipal Development and Tax Increment 
Financing District Development Program, as it may be 
amended from time to time; provided that the provisions of 30-
A M.R.S.A. Sec. 5225(1)(B)(3) (Supp. 2011) must continue to 
be met, as is the case currently.  Specifically, any public 
facilities and improvements funded through the Downtown TIF 
must be located within the Downtown TIF District, and the 
entire tax increment from the Downtown TIF must be 
committed to the development program for the Downtown TIF.  

 

 
$100,000/year 

 
$3,000,000  

(total 30 years) 
 

 
30-A M.R.S.A. § 
5225(1)(B)(3) 

4. 
Brunswick Downtown Association:  The Town will be 
authorized to provide annual funding to the Brunswick 
Downtown Association to help fund economic development 
programs or events designed to foster economic development 
within the Town’s Downtown, or to help fund the marketing of 
the Town as a business location. 

 

 
$100,000/year 

 
$3,000,000  

(total 30 years) 
 

 
30-A M.R.S.A. § 
5225(1)(C)(1) 
 
 

5. 
 

Professional & Administrative Costs:  The Town will fund 
professional services costs and administrative costs (i.e., pro 
rata portions of the Town Assessor, Town Manager and 
Business Development Manager salaries) related to the 
negotiation and completion of this development program and 
any credit enhancement agreements related to this development 
program, and the ongoing administration of the Town’s TIF 
programs.   

 

 
$20,000/year 

 
$600,000  

(total 30 years) 
 
 

 
30-A M.R.S.A. § 
5225(1)(A)(4) and 
(5) 

50



Brunswick Executive Airport II Omnibus Development Program 
First Amendment 

 

12 
 

 Project  Cost 
Estimate 

Statutory Cite 

6. 
School Construction/Renovation:  As a direct result of the 
closure of the Base, the Town of Brunswick’s pupil count has 
dropped radically and precipitously, which has resulted in a 
massive reduction of school funding aid from the State of 
Maine to the Town.  Additionally, with the prospect of 
significant future redevelopment at the Base, the Town stands 
to lose substantial amounts of future aid for education, which is 
expected to compound an already untenable funding situation 
for Brunswick’s School Department.  Because of the unique 
situation created by the Base closure and the regional effort to 
redevelop the Base, the Town stands to bear the brunt of a 
massive and unsustainable drop in school funding aid from the 
State.  In light of this unique situation, the Town will use TIF 
funds to pay debt-service on school construction and/or 
renovation bonds to improve the schools used by residents of 
the Town of Brunswick in order to make the former Base more 
attractive for commercial redevelopment.  While the Town is 
fully committed to fostering redevelopment of the Base with 
TIF Revenues, in order to be in a position to provide TIF 
funding to MRRA and future developers in the District without 
suffering further adverse impacts, the Town needs to retain a 
portion of the TIF funds for school construction and/or 
renovation.  Thus, Brunswick’s school funding crisis is directly 
related to the closure of the former Base and is exacerbated by 
the redevelopment of the Base with TIF Revenues.   

$2,000,000/year 
 

$40,000,000  
(total 20 years) 

 

30-A M.R.S.A. § 
5225(1)(B)  

51



Brunswick Executive Airport II Omnibus Development Program 
First Amendment 

 

13 
 

 Project  Cost 
Estimate 

Statutory Cite 

7. General Economic Development:  The Town will use TIF 
funds on a broad array of projects and programs to promote 
economic development throughout the Town and to fund the 
marketing of the municipality as a business or arts location, 
including:   
a) Support economic development staffing and professional 

services at the municipal level (including salaries of 
economic development staff and prorated salaries of other 
municipal staff who may be called in to provide economic 
development services as well as prorated professional 
services costs and fees);  

b) Participate in regional marketing campaigns to promote 
Brunswick as a business destination and a tourist 
destination;  

c) Establish/support permanent economic development 
revolving loan funds, investment funds and grants, likely 
through the local economic development corporation 
(currently, the Brunswick Development Corporation) with 
business start-up and expansion costs; 

d) Create a discretionary reserve fund to be used as the local 
match for state and federal economic development grants 
for projects that would otherwise be permissible to be 
funded under this development program as well as the 
following: 

o Local match for grants to fund transit service 
capital costs associated with a new or expanded 
transit service (in the case of funding a contract 
provider of transit services, a prorated portion of 
such contract relating to capital costs of the 
services as opposed to operating costs.) 

o Local match for grants to fund costs of 
improvements make within the tax increment 
financing district; 

e) Provide funds to support the Town’s business expansion 
and recruitment efforts through the enhancement of the 
Town’s  technology systems such as  updating and 
improving the Town’s geographic information system 
(“GIS”),  and upgrading computers and assessing software; 

f) Promote the identity and branding of the Town as a place 
to do business and as a tourist destination through 
investments such as signage and streetscapes; and, 

g) Support economic studies and environmental studies and 
improvements of properties within the Town of Brunswick 
to determine and help realize their most effective 
commercial or arts district use. 

$500,000/year 
(for 30 years) 

 
$15,000,000  
(total for 30 

years) 

30-A M.R.S.A. §§ 
5225(1)(A)(4), 
(C)(1), (C)(2) & 
(C)(3) 
 
With respect to 7(d): 
30-A M.R.S.A. §§ 
5230, 5221(1)(A) & 
(C)(7)(a)   

52



Brunswick Executive Airport II Omnibus Development Program 
First Amendment 

14 

Project  Cost 
Estimate 

Statutory Cite 

8. 
Recreational Trails with Significant Potential to Promote 
Economic Development:  The Town will use TIF funds for 
costs related to planning, design, construction, maintenance, 
grooming and improvements to new or existing recreational 
trails designed to enhance the draw to the Town, including 
bridges that are part of the trail corridor, used all or in part for 
hiking, bicycling, cross-country skiing or other uses.   

$50,000/year 
(for 30 years) 

$1,500,000  
(total for 30 

years) 

30-A M.R.S.A. § 
5225(1)(C)(6) 

9. 
Road Improvements within and adjacent to Brunswick Landing 
and the Executive Airport District:   
(a) Currently, the roads within Brunswick Landing are owned 
and maintained by MRRA.  MRRA has requested that the 
Town take over the roads within Brunswick Landing as public 
roads.  In the event that the Town agrees to take any of the 
Brunswick Landing roads as public roads, the Town will use 
TIF funds to improve and maintain those roads. 
(b) The Cooks Corner area (in the vicinity of the intersection of 
Gurnet Road and Bath Road), adjacent to the Executive Airport 
District, may have various improvements made necessary by 
the MRRA redevelopment activities, including but not limited 
to road construction, improvements and maintenance including 
storm water or sanitary sewer lines, water lines, electrical lines 
and amenities on streets.  Such projects are authorized only if 
they are made necessary by or are directly related to the District 
development. 

$600,000/year 
(for 30 years) 

$18,000,000  
(total for 30 

years) 

30-A M.R.S.A. § 
5225(1)(A), (B)(1) or 
(B)(2) 

Total Municipal Project Costs: 

First 20 years 

Last 10 years 

Grand Total 

$2,990($4,140,0
00/ 

year  
$5982,800,000  
(total for first 

20 years) 

$990 

($2,140,000/ 
year 

$9,90021,400,0
00  

(total for last 
10 years) 

$69,700 

$104,200,000 
(total for 30 

years) 

53



Brunswick Executive Airport II Omnibus Development Program 
First Amendment 

 

15 
 

 
 
2.  Base Redevelopment Projects 
 
 a.  MRRA Projects 
    

MRRA has included $12 millionthe use of TIF Revenues in its business plan since the 
beginning of the Base redevelopment planning process,.  MRRA plans to be useduse TIF 
Revenues for essential new physical infrastructure investment, to repair and/or replacement 
ofreplace existing infrastructure, and relatedto facilitate physical improvements necessary to 
maintain the property and attract businesses.  The costs associated with these MRRA projects 
would be authorized project costs pursuant to 30-A M.R.S.A. § 5225(1)(A) for Tier I projects 
located within the District.  ItAs stated above, it is the Town of Brunswick's intent to administer 
the Brunswick Landing and Brunswick Executive Airport Omnibus Development Programs 
together to facilitate MRRA’s ability to fund these projects in whole or in part with TIF 
Revenues.   

 
 b.  $15 Million Cap on TIF Funding Available to MRRA   

 
While the Town is willing to support MRRA’s redevelopment efforts with TIF Revenues, 

the Town is placing a maximum limit on the TIF Revenues it will make available to MRRA.  
The Town will make up to a cap of $1215 million available to MRRA in combined new TIF 
Revenues from the aggregate fifty percent (50%) of TIF Revenues allocated for Base 
Redevelopment from the Brunswick Landing and Brunswick Executive Airport TIF districts, the 
Town expressly is not guaranteeing $12 million in TIF Revenues to MRRA. Executive Airport 
Districts.  The Town expressly is not guaranteeing $15 million in TIF Revenues to MRRA.  The 
Town intends to count against this $15 million cap the $200,000 in TIF Revenues that the Town 
paid to MRRA in October 2015.  Further, in the event that subsequent legislative action or 
judicial interpretation result in the Town changing its interpretation and application of the 
property tax exemption set forth in 36 M.R.S. § 651(1)(F) causing the values of Hangars 4, 5, 
and 6 to become tax exempt, the $15 million cap shall be reduced to correspond to the dollar 
amount of the property tax exemption over the remaining life of the Executive Airport District, 
with such amount to be determined by the Town.  
 

 c.  Other Future Developers 
 

In addition to any TIF appropriations the Town may make to MRRA, the Town also 
intends to consider other types of TIF agreements with businesses and other entities to facilitate 
further development and job growth atwithin the Brunswick Landing and the Brunswick 
Executive Airport Districts.  Any future TIF agreements of this type will be funded from the fifty 
percent (50%) of new TIF Revenues allocated for Base Redevelopment, and will be considered 
independently and as a separate use from any approved dollar appropriation for the infrastructure 
needs of MRRA.   
 

d.  Application Process for TIF Funding 
 

54



Brunswick Executive Airport II Omnibus Development Program 
First Amendment 

 

16 
 

Thus, in order to help foster the economic redevelopment of the Base, the Town intends to make 
up to fifty percent (50%) of the combined TIF Revenues from both TIF Districts available by 
application to MRRA and to future developers who may wish to locate within either of the 
DistrictTIF Districts.  In order to obtain TIF funding for its redevelopment projects, MRRA and 
any future developers that may wish to seek TIF funding for their development projects, will 
need to apply to the Town for funding for specific projects, which using the application process 
prescribed by the Town at the time of the request.  The Town Council will consider all requests 
for TIF funding on a case-by-case basis.    
 
   

C. Strategic Growth and Development 
 

By creating the TIF DistrictExecutive Airport and Brunswick Landing Districts, the 
Town is able to capitalize on the momentum of MRRA’s efforts and maximize the economic 
redevelopment potential of the DistrictTIF Districts by streamlining the process for future 
businesses seeking to locate within either of the DistrictTIF Districts.  Rather than navigating the 
lengthy process and significant expense to designate a new TIF district each time a new 
developer investigates locating its business on the former NAS Brunswick, with the DistrictTIF 
Districts already in place, the Town can immediately focus on negotiating and finalizing credit 
enhancement agreements (“CEAs”) that will meet the needs of MRRA, individual developers 
and the Town, which CEAs.  These future credit enhancement agreements may provide for 
reimbursement of up to fifty percent (50%) of taxes paid on captured assessed value created by 
such developerdevelopers within the District.TIF Districts and within sole Town Council 
discretion.  Having the DistrictTIF Districts in place will greatly enhance the marketability and 
development potential for commercial and industrial use of properties within the District.TIF 
Districts.   

 
D. Improvements to the Public Infrastructure 
 

 As further set forth in Table 1, the Town will use certain TIF Revenues for road 
improvements that are directly related to and made necessary by the redevelopment of the former 
NASB. 

 

55



Brunswick Executive Airport II Omnibus Development Program 
First Amendment 

 

17 
 

E. Operational Components 
 
 1. Public Facilities 
 
The Town plans to use a portion of the TIF Revenues to fund certain projects approved 

within the existing Downtown TIF District and to fund school construction and/or renovations.  
 
 2. Commercial Improvements Financed Through Development Program 
 
At this time, no commercial improvements will be financed through the Development 

Program.  The Town may, in the future, share a percentage of the TIF Revenues with future 
developers pursuant to the terms of such CEAs that may be negotiated with such developers.    

 
3. Relocation of Displaced Persons. 

 
Not applicable. 
 
 4. Transportation Improvements 
 
The Town will fund road improvements made necessary by the increased traffic to the 

District from other parts of the Town. 
 

 5. Environmental Controls 
 
The improvements made under this Development Program will meet or exceed all 

federal, state and local environmental laws, regulations and ordinances and will comply with all 
applicable land use requirements for the Town. 

 
 6. Plan of Operation 
 

 During the term of the District, the Town Manager or his designee will be responsible for 
all administrative matters within the purview of the Town concerning the implementation and 
operation of the District. 
 

III. Physical Description 

 Note that the details in this Article III address the conditions for approval contained in 
30-A M.R.S.A. § 5223(3).  The proposed 146-acre District is shown on Exhibit A.  The statutory 
threshold limits addressing the conditions for approval mandated by 30-A M.R.S.A. § 5223(3) 
are set forth in Exhibit B.    

IV. Financial Plan 
The collective original assessed value of 

The Town shall allocate all TIF Revenues collected by the property in Town since April 
1, 2013 consistent with the provisions set forth in this First Amendment to the Brunswick 

56



Brunswick Executive Airport II Omnibus Development Program 
First Amendment 

18 

Executive Airport II Omnibus Municipal Development and Tax Increment Financing District 
was zero dollars ($0) as of March 31, 2012 (April 1, 2011).Development Program.  The Town 
will capture one hundred percent (100%) of the increased assessed value of the real 
estateproperty located within the District for the duration of the 30-year term of the District. 
Personal property tax value will not be captured within the District.  The TIF Revenues so 
collected will fund and/or contribute to the funding of the approved projects, including each of 
the projects described on Table 1 hereof, which collectively increase the Town’s ability to stand 
out in a competitive marketplace as a dynamic municipality in which to grow a business.  All 
assessed real property value captured in the District will be added to the general tax rolls at the 
end of the TIF term.  Personal property tax value will not be captured within the District. 

Upon each payment of real property taxes for property located inside the District, the 
Town will deposit into a development program fund (the “Development Program Fund”) the 
entirety of the property tax payments constituting TIF Revenues.  The Development Program 
Fund is pledged to and charged with the payment of the project costs in the manner and in the 
order provided in 30-A M.R.S.A. § 5227(3).  The Development Program Fund will consist of a 
development sinking fund account (the “Sinking Fund Account”), and a project cost account (the 
“Project Cost Account”) that will have subaccounts for the Town and for Base Redevelopment. 
From the Development Program Fund, the Town will deposit:  (a) fifty percent (50%) of the TIF 
Revenues into the Town’s Sinking Fund Account and/or the Town’s subaccount of the Project 
Cost Account to be used to fund the projects listed in Table 1; and (b) fifty percent (50%)an 
amount of the TIF Revenues to the Base Redevelopment subaccount as set forth immediately 
below in Table 2: 

57



Brunswick Executive Airport II Omnibus Development Program 
First Amendment 

19 

TABLE 2 
Allocation of TIF Revenues from both TIF Districts 

Town Allocation of TIF Revenues Base Redevelopment Allocation of 
TIF Revenues 

Executive Airport District: 

TIF Revenues generated by 
“aeronautical business” tenants 
within Hangars 4, 5 and 6 (parcels 
040-250, 040-005 and 040-006 
respectively, as further shown on 
Exhibit H) 
Note: “Aeronautical business” is 
defined in Exhibit I. 

0% 100% 

TIF Revenues generated by all other 
(i.e., not “aeronautical business”) 
tenants within Hangars 4, 5 and 6 
(parcels 040-250, 040-005 and 040-
006 respectively), and all other 
properties with the Executive 
Airport District.   

50% 50% 

Brunswick Landing District: 75% 25% 

Either TIF District: Variable amount on an annual basis to be determined and only if needed, to 
make Town’s aggregate allocation of TIF Revenues equal 50% of total TIF 
Revenues from both TIF Districts. 

The TIF Revenues deposited into the Base Redevelopment subaccount of the Project Cost 
Account towill be used to fund paymentsavailable to MRRA and/or individual future developers 
within the District pursuant to by application to the Town, using the process set forth above in 
Section II.B.2.d.  Payments to any CEAs then in effect.  future developers would most likely, but 
not necessarily, be made through future credit enhancement agreements.    

Periodically, and pursuant to the terms of any applicable credit enhancement agreement, 
any TIF Revenues that remain deposited in the Base Redevelopment subaccount of the Project 
Cost Account that are not allocated to either MRRA or a developer will revert back to the 
Town’s subaccount of the Project Cost Account.  All assessed real property value captured in the 
District will be added to the general tax rolls at the end of the TIF term.   

Estimates of the increased assessed property values of the District, the anticipated TIF 
Revenues generated by the District, and the estimated tax shifts are shown in Exhibits D-13 and 
D-2, respectively.  

58



Brunswick Executive Airport II Omnibus Development Program 
First Amendment 

 

20 
 

A. Costs and Sources of Revenues 

Private improvements will result in the captured assessed value that will generate Tax 
Increment Revenues.  The current and future developers owning or leasing properties located 
within the District will pay for and/or finance all private improvements located in the District 
through private sources.   

B. Indebtedness 

 None of the project costs will be met through public indebtedness, except for future 
school construction and/or renovations, as set forth in Table 1.   

 

V. Financial Data 

The statutory requirements and thresholds for approval required by Section 5223(3) of 
the TIF Statute are set forth in Exhibit B. 

59



Brunswick Executive Airport II Omnibus Development Program 
First Amendment 

 

21 
 

 

VI. Tax Shifts 

In accordance with the TIF Statute, the table set forth in Exhibit D-2 4 identifies the tax 
shifts that the Town estimates will result during the term of the District.  

 
VII. Municipal Approvals 
 

A. Notice of Public Hearing 
 

 Attached as Exhibit E-1 hereto is a copy of the Notice of Public Hearing regarding 
adoption of the First Amendment to the Development Program for the District, published in the 
Times Record, a newspaper of general circulation in the Town, on July 18, 2013, a date at least 
ten (10) days prior to the public hearing.  The public hearing on the First Amendment to the 
Development Program was held on July 29, 2013June 20, 2016, in accordance with the 
requirements of 30-A M.R.S.A. § 5226(1).   
  

B. Minutes of Public Hearing Held by Town Council 
 

 Attached as Exhibit F-1 hereto is a certified copy of the minutes of the public hearing 
held on July 29, 2013June 20, 2016, at which time this First Amendment to the Development 
Program was discussed by the public. 

  

60



Brunswick Executive Airport II Omnibus Development Program 
First Amendment 

 

22 
 

C. Authorizing Votes 
 

 Attached as Exhibit G-1 hereto is a copy of the Brunswick Town Council Resolution 
approving this First Amendment to the Development Program, which Resolution was adopted by 
the Council at a meeting of the Council duly called and held on July 29, 2013June 20, 2016. 
 

 

61



Brunswick Executive Airport II Omnibus Development Program 
First Amendment 

 

23 
 

 
 

SCHEDULES AND EXHIBITS 
[To Be Inserted] 

 
Schedules: 
1 March 29, 2013 DECD Approval Letter Conditionally Approving the Town’s 

Designation of the Brunswick Executive Airport II Municipal TIF District. 
2 January, 18, 2013 DECD Approval Letter Approving the Mölnlycke Manufacturing 

Municipal TIF District and Development Program. 
 
Exhibits: 
A TIF District Maps 
B Statutory Requirements & Thresholds 
C Assessor’s Certificate of Original Assessed Value 
D-1 TIF Revenue Projections  
D-2 Tax Shift Projections 
E Public Hearing Notice 
F Public Hearing Minutes 
G Town Council Resolution

62



Brunswick Executive Airport II Omnibus Development Program 
First Amendment 

 

24 
 

 
 

EXHIBIT E-1 
 
 

NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING 
 

TOWN OF BRUNSWICK 

Regarding 

 
AThe First Amendment to 

the Municipal Tax Increment Financing Development Program for the District Known As 
The “Brunswick Executive Airport Landing Omnibus Municipal Development  

and Tax Increment Financing District”  

 
And 

The First Amendment to 
the Municipal Tax Increment Financing Development Program for the District Known as 

the “Brunswick Executive Airport Omnibus Municipal Development  
and Tax Increment Financing District” 

 Notice is hereby given that the Brunswick Town Council will hold a public hearing on  

 
July 29, 2013,  
June 20, 2016 

at the 
 

Brunswick Municipal Meeting RoomTown Office at 16 Station Avenue85 Union Street, 
Brunswick, Maine, 

 
The Public Hearing will be at 7:00[insert time] p.m.   

  
The purpose of the public hearing is to receive public comments on the approval of the 

Development ProgramFirst Amendment to the development programs for the municipal tax 
increment financing districtdistricts identified above, designated on March 29, 2013 and also 
known as the Brunswick “Landing Municipal DevelopmentTIF” and Tax Increment Financing 
District (the “District”)the “Airport TIF,” pursuant to the provisions of Chapter 206 of Title 30-A 
of the Maine Revised Statutes, as amended.  

63



Brunswick Executive Airport II Omnibus Development Program 
First Amendment 

25 

The designated municipal development Landing TIF district consists of 542 acres of 
property located at the former Naval Air Station Brunswick and tax increment financingthe 
Airport TIF district consists of 146 acres of property located at the former Naval Air Station 
Brunswick.   

All interested persons are invited to attend the public hearing and will be given an 
opportunity to be heard at that time.  The Development Programs and First Amendments are 
available for review by all interested parties ___________________________. 

64



Brunswick Executive Airport II Omnibus Development Program 
First Amendment 

 

26 
 

 
 

EXHIBIT F-1 
 

Minutes of Public Hearing and Town Council Meeting 
 
 
 
 
 

EXHIBIT G-1 
 

Town Council Resolution  
 
 
 

EXHIBIT H 
 

Exhibit A to MOA Showing Hangars 4, 5 & 6

65



Brunswick Executive Airport II Omnibus Development Program 
First Amendment 

27 

EXHIBIT I 
DEFINITION OF “AERONAUTICAL BUSINESS” 

For the purpose of this Development Program, "aeronautical business" means the act, practice of, 
or instruction in the art and science of transportation by aircraft, and operation, construction, 
repair or maintenance of aircraft, airports and air navigation facilities.  Such uses shall include:  

Air carrier.  "Air carrier" means a person who undertakes, whether directly or indirectly or by 
lease or other arrangement, to engage in air commerce and is certificated under Federal Air 
Regulations. 

Air commerce.  "Air commerce" means the carriage by aircraft of persons or property for 
compensation or hire, when that carriage is a major enterprise for profit and not merely 
incidental to a person's other business. 

Air navigation facility.  "Air navigation facility" means any facility used in, available for use in, 
or designed for use in, aid of air navigation, including airports, lights, any apparatus or 
equipment for disseminating weather information, for signaling, for radio-directional finding, or 
for radio or other electrical communication, and any other structure or mechanism having a 
similar purpose for guiding or controlling flight in the air or the landing and takeoff of aircraft. 

Air taxi.  "Air taxi" means a person who undertakes, whether directly or indirectly or by lease or 
other arrangement, to engage in air commerce and who possesses an Air Taxi Commercial 
Operators Certificate issued by the Federal Aviation Administration under 14 Code of Federal 
Regulations, Part 135. 

Aircraft Construction.  “Aircraft construction” means the design, construction, manufacturing or 
assembly of aircraft that would require the presence of an airfield as an integral part of its 
business operation for the design, testing, sale or distribution of aircraft. 

Aircraft dealer.  "Aircraft dealer" means any person engaged in the sale or purchase or 
manufacture of new or used aircraft. 

Aviation Fueling Facilities. “Aviation Fueling Facilities” means entities that provide aircraft 
fueling services. 

Basing aircraft. "Basing aircraft" means storing, parking, tying down or mooring aircraft in 
Maine for more than 30 consecutive calendar days. 

Maintenance, Overhaul or Repair (MRO).  “MRO” means any business or entity involved in the 
maintenance, overhaul or repair of aircraft, aircraft components and aircraft completions. 

66



Town of Brunswick, Maine 
OFFICE	OF	THE	TOWN	MANAGER	

M	E	M	O	R	A	N	D	U	M	

TO:	 Town	Council	

FROM:	 John	Eldridge	
Town	Manager	

DATE:	 June	1,	2016	

SUBJECT:	 Credit	Enhancement	Agreement	with	MRRA	

On	October	5,	2015,	the	Town	Council	approved	an	order	authorizing	the	Town	Manager	to	execute	
a	Memorandum	of	Agreement	(“MOA”)	with	the	Midcoast	Regional	Redevelopment	Authority	
(“MRRA’)	to	settle	litigation	over	the	tax	status	of	certain	properties	at	Brunswick	Executive	
Airport.			

With	the	MOA,	the	Town	Council	agreed	to	draft	amendments	to	the	development	programs	of	the	
Brunswick	Landing	and	Brunswick	Executive	Airport	TIF	Districts,	and	to	enter	into	a	Credit	
Enhancement	Agreement	(“CEA”)	with	MRRA	which	defines	the	allocation	of	TIF	revenues	and	the	
process	for	distribution.	

In	accordance	with	the	MOA,	Town	staff	has	been	working	with	Bernstein	Shur,	and	has	drafted	the	
attached	CEA.		This	agreement	establishes	guidelines	for	the	process	by	which	MRRA	will	apply	for	
TIF	revenues	and	the	procedures	governing	the	Town’s	approval	and	payment	of	TIF	revenues	to	
MRRA.	

While	Town	Council	approval	of	the	CEA	does	not	require	a	public	hearing,	this	item	is	being	
presented	in	conjunction	with	the	amendments	to	the	Brunswick	Landing	and	Brunswick	Executive	
Airport	Development	Programs	because	it	is	linked	to	the	adoption	of	those	amendments.		The	
requested	action	is	for	the	Council	to	authorize	the	Town	Manager	to	execute	the	CEA	when	and	if	
the	Development	Program	Amendments	are	adopted	by	the	Town	Council.		Attached	is	an	“Order	
authorizing	the	Town	Manager	to	Execute	a	Credit	Enhancement	Agreement	with	Midcoast	
Regional	Redevelopment	Authority”.	

67



MRRA CEA—DRAFT 

CREDIT ENHANCEMENT AGREEMENT 

between 

THE TOWN OF BRUNSWICK, MAINE 

and 

MIDCOAST REGIONAL REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY 

DATED:  _____, 2016 

68



i

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

ARTICLE I DEFINITIONS .........................................................................................................2 
Section 1.1.  Definitions.......................................................................................................2 
Section 1.2.  Interpretation and Construction. .....................................................................5 

ARTICLE II DEVELOPMENT PROGRAM FUND AND FUNDING REQUIREMENTS .6 
Section 2.1.  Creation of Development Program Fund. .......................................................6 
Section 2.2.  Captured Assessed Value; Deposits into Development Program Fund. .........6 
Section 2.3.  Use of Monies in Development Program Fund. .............................................7 
Section 2.4.  Monies Held in Segregated Account. .............................................................8 

ARTICLE III PAYMENT OBLIGATIONS ...............................................................................8 
Section 3.1.  Company Payments. .......................................................................................8 
Section 3.2.  Failure to Make Payment. ...............................................................................9 
Section 3.3.  Manner of Payments. ......................................................................................9 
Section 3.4.  Limited Obligation. .........................................................................................9 

ARTICLE IV FURTHER INSTRUMENTS AND ACCESS TO RECORDS .......................10 
Section 4.1. Further Instruments. .......................................................................................10 
Section 4.2.  Access to Books and Records. ......................................................................10 

ARTICLE V DEFAULTS AND REMEDIES ...........................................................................10 
Section 5.1.  Events of Default. .........................................................................................10 
Section 5.2.  Remedies on Default. ....................................................................................11 
Section 5.3.  Remedies Cumulative. ..................................................................................11 

ARTICLE VI EFFECTIVE DATE, TERM AND TERMINATION ......................................12 
Section 6.1.  Effective Date and Term. ..............................................................................12 
Section 6.2.  Cancellation and Expiration of Term. ...........................................................12 

ARTICLE VII ASSIGNMENT AND PLEDGE OF MRRA'S INTEREST ...........................12 
Section 7.1.  Pledge and/or Assignment. ...........................................................................12 
Section 7.2.  Tax Obligation of MRRA, Lessees, Assigns and Successors. …………….12 

ARTICLE VIII MISCELLANEOUS .........................................................................................13 
Section 8.1.  Successors. ....................................................................................................13 
Section 8.2.  Parties-in-Interest. .........................................................................................13 
Section 8.3.  Severability. ..................................................................................................13 
Section 8.4.  No Personal Liability of Officials of the Town. ...........................................13 
Section 8.5.  Counterparts. .................................................................................................14 
Section 8.6.  Governing Law. ............................................................................................14 
Section 8.7.  Amendments. ................................................................................................14 
Section 8.8.  Integration. ....................................................................................................14 
Section 8.9.  Dispute Resolution. .......................................................................................14 
Section 8.10. Dismissal of Lawsuit....................................................................................15 
Section 8.11. Notices. ........................................................................................................15 

69



ii

EXHIBITS 
Exhibit 1 Copy of Exhibit A from Development Program – District Map

70



MRRA CEA— DRAFT 

1 

THIS CREDIT ENHANCEMENT AGREEMENT dated as of ___________, 2016, 
between the Town of Brunswick, a municipal corporation located in Brunswick, County of 
Cumberland and State of Maine, with offices at 85 Union Street, Brunswick, Maine 04011 
(hereinafter "the Town"), and Midcoast Regional Redevelopment Authority (“MRRA”), a public 
municipal corporation, with principal place of business of 15 Terminal Road, Suite 200, 
Brunswick, ME 04011. 

WITNESSETH THAT 

WHEREAS, on March 18, 2013, and pursuant to the Act, the Town Council of the Town 
at a meeting duly called and held, adopted an order that designated two tax increment financing 
(“TIF”) districts: the Brunswick Executive Airport II Municipal Development District (146 
acres) and the Brunswick Landing II Development District (542 aces) (collectively the “TIF 
Districts”); and 

WHEREAS, on July 29, 2013,  the Town of Brunswick adopted two development 
programs: the Brunswick Executive Airport II Municipal Development and Tax Increment 
Financing District Omnibus Development Program and the Brunswick Landing II Municipal 
Development and Tax Increment Financing District Omnibus Development Program 
(collectively the “Development Programs”); and 

WHEREAS, the Commissioner of DECD reviewed and approved the Districts and the 
Development Programs pursuant to approval letters dated October 24, 2013; and 

WHEREAS, the Town of Brunswick amended the original Development Programs by 
the First Amendment to the Brunswick Executive Airport II Municipal Development and Tax 
Increment Financing District Omnibus Development Program and the First Amendment to the 
Brunswick Landing II Municipal Development and Tax Increment Financing District Omnibus 
Development Program (together, the “First Amendments”) which will be considered by the 
Town contemporaneous with this Credit Enhancement Agreement; and 

WHEREAS, within the Development Programs, and as contemplated thereby, the Town 
proposed to execute a credit enhancement agreement with MRRA and potentially other credit 
enhancement agreements with other developers in the future; and 

WHEREAS, on October 7, 2015, the Town and MRRA signed a Memorandum of 
Agreement outlining terms for the execution of a credit enhancement agreement; and 

WHEREAS, the Town and MRRA desire and intend that this Credit Enhancement 
Agreement be and constitute the MRRA credit enhancement agreement contemplated by and 
described in the First Amendments to the Development Programs and the aforementioned 
Memorandum of Agreement; and 

WHEREAS, the First Amendments to the Development Programs will be adopted 
contemporaneous with this Agreement in order to support MRRA’s investment in new 
infrastructure, and/or repair or replacement of existing infrastructure and related physical 
improvements necessary to maintain the property and attract business; and to enable MRRA to 

71



MRRA CEA— DRAFT 

2 

enter into tax refund arrangements with aeronautical business tenants who are located at the 
Brunswick Executive Airport; and 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing and in consideration of the 
mutual promises and covenants set forth herein, the parties hereby agree as follows: 

ARTICLE I 
DEFINITIONS 

Section 1.1.  Definitions. 

The terms defined in this Article I shall, for all purposes of this Agreement, have the 
meanings herein specified, unless the context clearly requires otherwise: 

“Act” means chapter 206 of Title 30-A of the Maine Revised Statutes and regulations 
adopted thereunder, as amended from time to time. 

"Aeronautical business" means the act, practice of, or instruction in the art and science of 
transportation by aircraft, and operation, construction, repair or maintenance of aircraft, airports 
and air navigation facilities.  Such uses shall include:  

Air carrier.  "Air carrier" means a person who undertakes, whether directly or 
indirectly or by lease or other arrangement, to engage in air commerce and is 
certificated under Federal Air Regulations. 

Air commerce.  "Air commerce" means the carriage by aircraft of persons or 
property for compensation or hire, when that carriage is a major enterprise for 
profit and not merely incidental to a person's other business. 

Aircraft Construction.  “Aircraft construction” means the design, construction, 
manufacturing or assembly of aircraft that would require the presence of an 
airfield as an integral part of its business operation for the design, testing, sale or 
distribution of aircraft. 

Aircraft dealer.  "Aircraft dealer" means any person engaged in the sale or 
purchase or manufacture of new or used aircraft. 

Air navigation facility.  "Air navigation facility" means any facility used in, 
available for use in, or designed for use in, aid of air navigation, including 
airports, lights, any apparatus or equipment for disseminating weather 
information, for signaling, for radio-directional finding, or for radio or other 
electrical communication, and any other structure or mechanism having a similar 
purpose for guiding or controlling flight in the air or the landing and takeoff of 
aircraft. 

Air taxi.  "Air taxi" means a person who undertakes, whether directly or 
indirectly or by lease or other arrangement, to engage in air commerce and who 

72



MRRA CEA— DRAFT 
 

3 
 

possesses an Air Taxi Commercial Operators Certificate issued by the Federal 
Aviation Administration under 14 Code of Federal Regulations, Part 135. 

Aviation Fueling Facilities. “Aviation Fueling Facilities” means entities that 
provide aircraft fueling services. 

Basing aircraft. "Basing aircraft" means storing, parking, tying down or mooring 
aircraft in Maine for more than 30 consecutive calendar days. 

Maintenance, Overhaul or Repair (MRO) “MRO” means any business or entity 
involved in the maintenance, overhaul or repair of aircraft, aircraft components 
and aircraft completions. 
 

“Aggregate Cap” means the aggregate cap on potential Tax Increment Revenues to be 
available, but not guaranteed, to MRRA over the life of the TIF Districts as a maximum total of 
fifteen million dollars ($15,000,000). 

“Agreement” shall mean this Credit Enhancement Agreement between the Town and 
MRRA dated as of the date set forth above, as such may be amended from time to time. 

“Base Redevelopment Development Program Fund” means the development program 
fund described in Section IV. Financial Plan of the Development Programs into which the Tax 
Increment Revenues are to be deposited, established and maintained pursuant to the 
Development Programs and Article II hereof. 

 
“Base Redevelopment Subaccount” means the subaccount of such name in the Base 

Redevelopment Development Program Fund described in Section IV. Financial Plan of the 
Development Programs and established and maintained pursuant to the Development Programs 
and Article II hereof. 

 
“Brunswick Executive Airport TIF District” means the 146-acre Brunswick Executive 

Airport II Municipal Development and Tax Increment Financing District as more fully defined 
by the Executive Airport Development Program. 

 
“Brunswick Landing TIF District” means the 542-acre Brunswick Landing II Municipal 

Development and Tax Increment Financing District as more fully defined by the Brunswick 
Landing Development Program. 
 
 “Captured Assessed Value” means the amount, stated as a percentage, of the Increased 
Assessed Value of the MRRA Property that is retained in the Districts in each Tax Year during 
the term of the Districts, as specified in Section 2.2 hereof. 
 

“Commissioner” means the Commissioner of the Maine Department of Economic and 
Community Development. 

73



MRRA CEA— DRAFT 
 

4 
 

“Current Assessed Value” means the then-current assessed value of the MRRA Property 
located in the Districts as determined by the Town Tax Assessor as of April 1 of each Tax Year 
during the term of this Agreement. 

“Development Programs” means the development programs and financial plans for the 
Districts adopted by the Town entitled the “First Amendment to the Brunswick Executive 
Airport II Municipal Development and Tax Increment Financing District Omnibus Development 
Program” and the “First Amendment to the Brunswick Landing II Municipal Development and 
Tax Increment Financing District Omnibus Development Program”. 

 
“Districts” means the Brunswick Executive Airport II Municipal Development District 

(146 acres) and the Brunswick Landing II Development District (542 aces), designated by the 
Town on March 18, 2013, a map of which is attached as Exhibit A to the Development 
Programs. 

 
 “Effective Date of the Development Programs” means the date of final approval of the 

First Amendments to the Development Programs by the Commissioner pursuant to the Act. 

“Financial Plan” means the financial plan described in the “Financial Plan” Section of the 
Development Programs. 

“Fiscal Year” means July 1 to June 30 each year or such other fiscal year as the Town 
may from time to time establish.  

“Increased Assessed Value” means, for each Fiscal Year during the term of this 
Agreement, the amount by which the Current Assessed Value for such year exceeds the Original 
Assessed Value.  If the Current Assessed Value is less than or equal to the Original Assessed 
Value in any given Tax Year, there is no Increased Assessed Value in that year. 

“MRRA Property” means real property owned by MRRA within the Districts. 

“Original Assessed Value” means zero dollars ($0), the assessed value of the Districts as 
of March 31, 2012 (April 1, 2011). 

 “Project Cost Account” means the project cost account described in the Financial Plan 
Section of the Development Programs and established and maintained pursuant to Title 30-A 
M.R.S.A. § 5227(3)(A)(1) and Article II hereof. 

“Property Taxes” means any and all ad valorem property taxes levied, charged or 
assessed against real property located in the Districts by the Town, or on its behalf. 

“Sinking Fund Account” means the development sinking fund account described in the 
Financial Plan Section of the Development Program and established and maintained pursuant to 
Title 30-A M.R.S.A. § 5227(3)(A)(2) and Article II hereof. 

“State” means the State of Maine. 

74



MRRA CEA— DRAFT 
 

5 
 

“Tax Increment Revenues” means that portion of all real property taxes assessed and paid 
to the Town in any Tax Year, in excess of any state, or special district tax, upon the Captured 
Assessed Value.    

“Tax Payment Date” means the later of the date(s) on which property taxes levied by the 
Town are due and payable from owners of property located within the Town, or are actually paid 
to the Town with respect to taxable property located within the District. 

“Tax Year” shall have the meaning given such term in 30-A M.R.S.A. § 5222(18), as 
amended, to wit:  April 1 to March 31. 

“Town” shall have the meaning given such term in the first paragraph hereto. 

“Town Subaccount” means that portion of the Project Cost Account of the Base 
Redevelopment Development Program Fund for the District set aside for the Town as defined in 
the Financial Plan Section of the Development Program and established and maintained 
according to Article II hereof. 

Section 1.2.  Interpretation and Construction. 

In this Agreement, unless the context otherwise requires: 

(a) The terms “hereby,” “hereof,” “hereto,” “herein,” “hereunder” and any similar 
terms, as used in this Agreement, refer to this Agreement, and the term “hereafter” means after, 
and the term “heretofore” means before, the date of delivery of this Agreement. 

(b) Words importing a particular gender mean and include correlative words of every 
other gender and words importing the singular number mean and include the plural number and 
vice versa. 

(c) Words importing persons mean and include firms, associations, partnerships 
(including limited partnerships), trusts, corporations and other legal entities, including public or 
governmental bodies, as well as any natural persons. 

(d) Any headings preceding the texts of the several Articles and Sections of this 
Agreement, and any table of contents or marginal notes appended to copies hereof, shall be 
solely for convenience of reference and shall not constitute a part of this Agreement, nor shall 
they affect its meaning, construction or effect. 

(e) All approvals, consents and acceptances required to be given or made by any 
signatory hereto shall not be withheld unreasonably. 

(f) All notices to be given hereunder shall be given in writing and, unless a certain 
number of days is specified, within a reasonable time. 

75



MRRA CEA— DRAFT 

6 

(g) If any clause, provision or Section of this Agreement shall be ruled invalid by any 
court of competent jurisdiction, the invalidity of such clause, provision or Section shall not affect 
any of the remaining provisions hereof. 

ARTICLE II 
DEVELOPMENT PROGRAM FUND AND FUNDING REQUIREMENTS 

Section 2.1.  Creation of Development Program Fund. 

The Town hereby confirms the creation and establishment of a segregated fund in the 
name of the Town designated as the “Base Redevelopment Development Program Fund” 
pursuant to, and in accordance with the terms and conditions of, the Development Programs and 
30-A M.R.S.A. § 5227(3) (hereinafter the “Development Program Fund”).  The Development 
Program Fund shall consist of a Project Cost Account that is pledged to and charged with the 
payment of project costs as outlined in the Financial Plan of the Development Programs and as 
provided in 30-A M.R.S.A.§ 5227(3)(A)(1), and, if necessary, may also consist of a Sinking 
Fund Account that is pledged to and charged with the payment of Town indebtedness, if any, as 
outlined in the Financial Plan of the Development Programs and as provided in 30-A M.R.S.A § 
5227(3)(A)(2).  The Project Cost Account shall also contain two subaccounts designated as the 
“Base Redevelopment Project Cost Subaccount,” which is to be used to fund payments to 
MRRA and/or individual developers within the Districts, and the “Town Subaccount,” for use by 
the Town to fund the cost of Town projects as described in the Development Programs.  The 
Development Program Fund is pledged to and charged with the payment of costs in the manner 
and priority provided in 30-A M.R.S.A. § 5227(3)(B) and as set forth in Section 3.1(b) below.       

Section 2.2.  Captured Assessed Value; Deposits into Development Program Fund. 

(a) Each year during the term of this Agreement and for each of the years between 
July 1, 2013 and the Effective Date of the Development Programs (hereinafter “CEA Years”), the 
Town shall retain in the District one hundred percent (100%) of the Increased Assessed Value as 
Captured Assessed Value.   

(b) For each of the CEA Years, the Town shall deposit into the Development 
Program Fund contemporaneously with each payment of Property Taxes during the term of this 
Agreement an amount equal to one hundred percent (100%) of that portion of the property tax 
payment constituting Tax Increment Revenues.  From the Development Program Fund, the 
Town will deposit amounts into the subaccounts of the Project Cost Account, using the allocation 
set forth in Table 1 below (subject to the Aggregate Cap identified in Section 3.1(a) hereof): 

76



MRRA CEA— DRAFT 

7 

Table 1. 
Allocation of Tax Increment Revenues from both TIF Districts 

Town Subaccount Base Redevelopment Subaccount 

Executive Airport District: 

TIF Revenues generated by 
“aeronautical business” tenants 
within Hangars 4, 5 and 6 (parcels 
040-250, 040-005 and 040-006 
respectively, as further shown on 
Exhibit H) 
Note: “Aeronautical business” is 
defined in Exhibit I. 

0% 100% 

TIF Revenues generated by all other 
(i.e. not “aeronautical businesses”) 
tenants within Hangars 4, 5 and 6 
(parcels 040-250, 040-005 and 040-
006 respectively), and all other 
properties with the Executive 
Airport District.    

50% 50% 

Brunswick Landing District: 75% 25% 

Either TIF District: Variable amount on an annual basis 
to be determined and only if needed, 
to make Town’s aggregate allocation 
of TIF Revenues equal 50% of total 
TIF Revenues from both TIF 
Districts. 

Variable amount on an annual basis 
to be determined and only if needed, 
to make Town’s aggregate allocation 
of TIF Revenues equal 50% of total 
TIF Revenues from both TIF 
Districts. 

(c) Except as provided in Section 3.1(b) hereof, for each of the CEA Years, the Town 
shall deposit the remaining Tax Increment Revenues not deposited to the Base Redevelopment 
Project Cost Subaccount of the Project Cost Account into the Sinking Fund Account to the extent 
and in such amounts necessary to finance the costs for any municipal projects undertaken by the 
Town and financed with bonded indebtedness, if any, and otherwise to the Town Subaccount of 
the Project Cost Account for use by the Town to fund the cost of Town projects as described in 
the Development Program. 

Section 2.3.  Use of Monies in Development Program Fund. 

All monies in the Development Program Fund that are allocable to and/or deposited in 
the Base Redevelopment Subaccount shall in all cases be used and applied to fund fully the 
Town's payment obligations to MRRA, and possibly other developers, as described in Articles II 

77



MRRA CEA— DRAFT 

8 

and III hereof, but in no event shall payments to MRRA exceed the Aggregate Cap of fifteen 
million dollars ($15,000,000). 

Section 2.4.  Monies Held in Segregated Account. 

All monies required to be deposited with or paid into Base Redevelopment Subaccount 
under the provisions hereof and the provisions of the Development Programs shall be held by the 
Town for the uses specified in the development programs.  Interest earnings thereon shall be 
retained by the Town for the Town’s own use. 

ARTICLE III 
PAYMENT OBLIGATIONS 

Section 3.1.  Company Payments.    

(a) The Town agrees to pay MRRA up to all amounts then on deposit in the Base 
Redevelopment Subaccount, following an annual Town application process and Town Council 
approval, on or before either thirty (30) days following the date of such Town Council approval 
or thirty (30) days following the Tax Payment Date(s), whichever date occurs later.  In no 
instance will the total payments to MRRA exceed the Aggregate Cap of fifteen million dollars 
($15,000,000).  The Town is not obligated to make any payments from the Base Redevelopment 
Subaccount unless and until such payments have been approved pursuant to the Town application 
process and Town Council approval described in this Section 3.1, Section 7.2 and otherwise in 
this Agreement.  The Town Council may approve a series of payments to MRRA over a period of 
up to ten (10) years with respect to  particular capital improvement projects for which MRRA 
requires financing and for which a financing lending organization requires a pledge or assignment 
of such payments as security pursuant to Section 7.1 herein. 

(b) Annually, within 7 days of the date of the Town’s annual tax commitment, the 
Town Assessor shall provide a list of the properties within the Brunswick Executive Airport and 
Brunswick Landing TIF Districts, identifying the TIF revenues to be produced, and the amount 
representing the 50% aggregate allocation of the TIF revenues which is anticipated to be 
deposited in the Base Redevelopment Subaccount.  Annually, MRRA will submit its request for 
TIF funds to the Town in the form of a letter to the Town Manager, outlining the intended uses 
and anticipated costs.  Within ninety (90) days from receiving the request from MRRA, the TIF 
Committee will meet to review MRRA’s request and make a recommendation to the Town 
Council.  Within ninety (90) days from receiving the TIF Committee’s recommendation, the 
Town Council will take action on MRRA’s request for payment of TIF revenues. 

(c) The calculation of the amount available in the Base Redevelopment Subaccount is 
based on tax payments received and deposited.  The Town may withhold from the otherwise 
approved payment to MRRA any amounts relating to tax abatements, refunds, or items deemed 
uncollected that reduce the balance in the Base Redevelopment Subaccount.  In addition, if a 
payment has already been made to MRRA including any amounts relating to tax abatements, 
refunds or items deemed uncollected that reduce the balance in the Base Redevelopment 
Subaccount, MRRA must repay such amount to the Town within thirty (30) days of the Town’s 
written notice of such repayment obligation.  If MRRA does not make such repayment before the 

78



MRRA CEA— DRAFT 

9 

Town’s next payment to MRRA  pursuant to this Agreement, the Town may reduce such next 
payment by the amount of the obligated MRRA repayment. 

  (d) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, if, with respect to any 
Tax Payment Date, any portion of the property taxes assessed against real or personal property 
located in the District remain unpaid, because of a valuation dispute or otherwise, the Town shall 
be under no obligation to pay MRRA’s share of the Tax Increment Revenues to MRRA.  In such 
a circumstance, the property taxes actually paid with respect to such Tax Payment Date shall, 
first, be applied to taxes due on account of Original Assessed Value; and second, shall constitute 
payment of Property Taxes with respect to Increased Assessed Value, to be applied first to 
payment in full of the applicable Town percent share of the Tax Increment Revenues for the year 
concerned and deposited into the Town Subaccount in accordance with Article II hereof.     

Section 3.2.  Failure to Make Payment. 

(a) In the event the Town should fail to, or be unable to, make any of the payments at 
the time and in the amount required under the foregoing provisions of this Article III including in 
the event that the amount deposited into Base Redevelopment Subaccount is insufficient to 
reimburse MRRA for the full amount due to MRRA under this Agreement, the amount or 
installment so unpaid shall continue as a limited obligation of the Town, under the terms and 
conditions hereinafter set forth, until the amount unpaid shall have been fully paid.   

Section 3.3.  Manner of Payments. 
The payments provided for in this Article III shall be paid directly to MRRA.  

Section 3.4.  Limited Obligation. 

The Town’s obligations of payment hereunder shall be limited obligations of the Town 
payable solely from Tax Increment Revenues pledged therefor under this Agreement.  The 
Town’s obligations hereunder shall not constitute a general debt or a general obligation or charge 
against or pledge of the faith and credit or taxing power of the Town, the State of Maine, or of 
any municipality or political subdivision thereof, but shall be payable solely from that portion of 
Tax Increment Revenues payable to MRRA hereunder, whether or not actually deposited into 
Base Redevelopment Subaccount in the Development Program Fund.  This Agreement shall not 
directly, indirectly or contingently obligate the Town, the State of Maine, or any other Town or 
political subdivision to levy or to pledge any form of taxation whatever therefor or to make any 
appropriation for their payment, excepting the pledge of the Tax Increment Revenues established 
under this Agreement.  

79



MRRA CEA— DRAFT 

10 

ARTICLE IV 
FURTHER INSTRUMENTS AND BOOKS AND RECORDS 

Section 4.1.  Further Instruments. 

The Town shall, upon the reasonable request of MRRA, from time to time execute and 
deliver such further instruments and take such further action as may be reasonable and as may be 
required to carry out the provisions of this Agreement; provided, however, that no such 
instruments or actions shall pledge the credit of the Town; and provided further that the cost of 
executing and delivering such further instruments (including the reasonable and related costs of 
counsel to the Town with respect thereto) shall be borne exclusively by MRRA.   

Section 4.2.  Access to Books and Records. 

(a)   All non-confidential books, records and documents in the possession of the Town 
relating to the District, the Development Program, this Agreement and the monies, revenues and 
receipts on deposit or required to be deposited into Base Redevelopment Subaccount shall at all 
reasonable times and upon reasonable notice be open to inspection by MRRA, its agents and 
employees.  

(b)   All non-confidential books, records, lease agreements and documents in the 
possession of MRRA relating to the District, the Development Program, this Agreement and the 
monies, revenues and receipts used from the Base Redevelopment Subaccount shall at all 
reasonable times and upon reasonable notice be open to inspection by Town, its agents and 
employees. 

ARTICLE V 
DEFAULTS AND REMEDIES 

Section 5.1.  Events of Default. 

Each of the following events shall constitute and be referred to in this Agreement as an 
“Event of Default”: 

(a) Any failure by the Town to pay any amounts due to MRRA when the same shall 
become due and payable; 

(b) Any failure by the Town to make deposits into Base Redevelopment Subaccount 
as and when due; 

(c) Any failure by the Town or MRRA to observe and perform in all material respects 
any covenant, condition, agreement or provision contained herein on the part of the Town or 
MRRA to be observed or performed, which failure is not cured within thirty (30) days following 
written notice thereof; and 

80



MRRA CEA— DRAFT 

11 

(d) If a decree or order of a court or agency or supervisory authority having 
jurisdiction in the premises of the appointment of a conservator or receiver or liquidator of, any 
insolvency, readjustment of debt, marshaling of assets and liabilities or similar proceedings, or 
for the winding up or liquidation of the Town’s affairs shall have been entered against the Town 
or the Town shall have consented to the appointment of a conservator or receiver or liquidator in 
any such proceedings of or relating to the Town or of or relating to all or substantially all of its 
property, including without limitation the filing of a voluntary petition in bankruptcy by the 
Town or the failure by the Town to have an involuntary petition in bankruptcy dismissed within 
a period of ninety (90) consecutive days following its filing or in the event an order for release 
has been entered under the Bankruptcy Code with respect to the Town. 

Section 5.2.  Remedies on Default. 

Subject to the provisions contained in Section 8.13, whenever any Event of Default 
described in Section 5.1 hereof shall have occurred and be continuing, the nondefaulting party, 
following the expiration of any applicable cure period, shall have all rights and remedies 
available to it at law or in equity, including the rights and remedies available to a secured party 
under the laws of the State of Maine, and may take whatever action as may be necessary or 
desirable to collect the amount then due and thereafter to become due, to specifically enforce the 
performance or observance of any obligations, agreements or covenants of the nondefaulting 
party under this Agreement and any documents, instruments and agreements contemplated 
hereby or to enforce any rights or remedies available hereunder. 

Section 5.3.  Remedies Cumulative. 

Subject to the provisions of Section 8.13 below concerning dispute resolution, no remedy 
herein conferred upon or reserved to any party is intended to be exclusive of any other available 
remedy or remedies but each and every such remedy shall be cumulative and shall be in addition 
to every other remedy given under this Agreement or now or hereafter existing at law, in equity 
or by statute.  Delay or omission to exercise any right or power accruing upon any Events of 
Default to insist upon the strict performance of any of the covenants and agreements herein set 
forth or to exercise any rights or remedies upon the occurrence of an Event of Default shall not 
impair any such right or power or be considered or taken as a waiver or relinquishment for the 
future of the right to insist upon and to enforce, from time to time and as often as may be deemed 
expedient, by injunction or other appropriate legal or equitable remedy, strict compliance by the 
parties hereto with all of the covenants and conditions hereof, or of the rights to exercise any 
such rights or remedies, if such Events of Default be continued or repeated. 

ARTICLE VI 
EFFECTIVE DATE, TERM AND TERMINATION 

81



MRRA CEA— DRAFT 

12 

Section 6.1.  Effective Date and Term. 

Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, this Agreement is conditioned 
upon receipt of the Commissioner’s approval of the First Amendments to both Development 
Programs.  Following execution and delivery of this Agreement, the Agreement shall not be or 
become binding and enforceable until receipt of such approval.  Upon receipt of such approval, 
this Agreement shall remain in full force from the Effective Date of the Development Programs 
and shall expire upon the earlier of: (1) the payment of all amounts due to MRRA hereunder and 
the performance of all obligations on the part of the Town hereunder; (2) the combined aggregate 
payment of $15 million of Tax Increment Revenues from the Town to MRRA regardless of 
whether such payment is pursuant to this or any credit enhancement agreement; or (3) December 
31, 2043; unless sooner terminated pursuant to Section 3.4 or any other applicable provision of 
this Agreement.  

Section 6.2.  Cancellation and Expiration of Term. 

At the acceleration, termination or other expiration of this Agreement in accordance with 
the provisions of this Agreement, the Town and MRRA shall each execute and deliver such 
documents and take or cause to be taken such actions as may be necessary to evidence the 
termination of this Agreement. 

ARTICLE VII 
ASSIGNMENT AND PLEDGE OF MRRA'S INTEREST 

Section 7.1.  Pledge and/or Assignment. 

MRRA shall not transfer or assign any portion of its rights in, to and under this 
Agreement without the prior written consent of the Town, including any assignment or pledge 
associated with financing.  MRRA shall be responsible for the Town’s necessary and reasonable 
costs of counsel with respect to any such pledge or assignment.   

Section 7.2. Tax Obligation of MRRA, Lessees, Assigns and Successors 

(a) MRRA agrees that MRRA and its lessees, assigns and successors shall not 
challenge or appeal the Town’s interpretation and application of the aeronautical property tax 
exemption specified in Title 26 MRSA § 651 and further agrees that all future leases of property 
in the Executive Airport District shall include language substantially to the effect that:  

MRRA and not Lessee is the taxpayer; MRRA has sole decision-making authority 
regarding real estate taxes for the property, including deciding whether to apply for any 
possible tax exemptions or tax abatements; and that Lessee agrees that Lessee will not 
claim third-party status as the taxpayer, will not challenge the tax treatment of the 
property in any way, including applying for a tax exemption or tax abatement; and Lessee 
agrees that any violation of these tax-related provisions will be deemed a default under 
the Lease. 

82



MRRA CEA— DRAFT 

13 

(b) Before the Town Council will approve any request by MRRA for payments for a 
business purporting to qualify as an “aeronautical business,” as that term is defined herein, the 
Town must be given the opportunity to review the draft lease between MRRA and the business 
prior to execution of the lease in order to ensure that the Town is satisfied with the language 
prohibiting the business from challenging the tax treatment of the property.  (c) Should 
legislative action or judicial interpretation result in the Town changing its interpretation and 
application of the aeronautical property tax exemption causing the values of Hangars 4, 5, and 6 
to become tax exempt, MRRA agrees that the aggregate cap shall be reduced to correspond to 
the dollar amount of the property tax exemption. 

ARTICLE VIII 
MISCELLANEOUS 

Section 8.1.  Successors. 

In the event of the dissolution, merger or consolidation of the Town or MRRA, the 
covenants, stipulations, promises and agreements set forth herein, by or on behalf of or for the 
benefit of such party shall bind or inure to the benefit of the successors and assigns thereof from 
time to time and any entity, officer, board, commission, agency or instrumentality to whom or to 
which any power or duty of such party shall be transferred.  Notwithstanding this Subsection 8.1, 
unless the Town affirmatively approves of such action, the Town shall have the unilateral right to 
terminate this Agreement upon the dissolution, merger or consolidation of MRRA, and if it 
exercises such right shall not be obligated to comply with this Agreement thereafter. 

Section 8.2.  Parties-in-Interest. 

Except as herein otherwise specifically provided, nothing in this Agreement expressed or 
implied is intended or shall be construed to confer upon any person, firm or corporation other 
than the Town and MRRA any right, remedy or claim under or by reason of this Agreement, it 
being intended that this Agreement shall be for the sole and exclusive benefit of the Town and 
MRRA. 

Section 8.3.  Severability. 

In case any one or more of the provisions of this Agreement shall, for any reason, be held 
to be illegal or invalid, such illegality or invalidity shall not affect any other provision of this 
Agreement and this Agreement shall be construed and enforced as if such illegal or invalid 
provision had not been contained herein. 

Section 8.4.  No Personal Liability of Officials of the Town. 

(a) No covenant, stipulation, obligation or agreement of the Town contained herein 
shall be deemed to be a covenant, stipulation or obligation of any present or future elected or 
appointed official, officer, agent, servant or employee of the Town in his or her individual 
capacity, and neither the Town Council nor any official, officer, employee or agent of the Town 

83



MRRA CEA— DRAFT 

14 

shall be liable personally with respect to this Agreement or be subject to any personal liability or 
accountability by reason hereof. 

(b) No covenant, stipulation, obligation or agreement of MRRA contained herein 
shall be deemed to be a covenant, stipulation or obligation of any present or future officer, agent, 
servant or employee of MRRA in his or her individual capacity, and no official, officer, 
employee or agent of MRRA shall be liable personally with respect to this Agreement or be 
subject to any personal liability or accountability by reason hereof. 

Section 8.5.  Counterparts. 

This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts, each of which, when so 
executed and delivered, shall be an original, but such counterparts shall together constitute but 
one and the same Agreement. 

Section 8.6.  Governing Law. 

The laws of the State of Maine shall govern the construction and enforcement of this 
Agreement. 

Section 8.7.  Amendments. 

This Agreement may be amended only with the concurring written consent of both of the 
parties hereto.    

Section 8.8.  Integration. 

This Agreement completely and fully supersedes all other prior or contemporaneous 
understandings or agreements, both written and oral, between the Town and MRRA relating to 
the specific subject matter of this Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereby. 

Section 8.9.  Dispute Resolution. 

In the event of a dispute regarding this Agreement or the transactions contemplated by it, 
the parties hereto will use all reasonable efforts to resolve the dispute on an amicable basis.  If 
the dispute is not resolved on that basis within sixty (60) days after one party first brings the 
dispute to the attention of the other party, then either party may refer the dispute for resolution by 
one arbitrator mutually agreed to by the parties, and judgment on the award rendered by the 
arbitrator may be entered in any Maine state court having jurisdiction.  Any such arbitration will 
take place in Brunswick, Maine or such other location as mutually agreed by the parties.  The 
parties acknowledge that arbitration shall be the sole mechanism for dispute resolution under this 
Agreement.  Provided however, that in the event the parties are unable to agree, within a 
reasonable period, on the selection of an arbitrator, either party may file suit to resolve the 
dispute in any court having jurisdiction within the State of Maine. This arbitration clause shall 
not bar the Town’s assessment or collection of property taxes in accordance with law, including 
by judicial proceedings, including tax lien thereof. 

84



MRRA CEA— DRAFT 

15 

Section 8.10.  Dismissal of Lawsuit 

Within ten (10) business days of receipt of unconditional approval from DECD on the 
First Amendments to the Development Programs, MRRA shall file a motion to dismiss with 
prejudice and without costs, pending litigation between the Town and MRRA in Cumberland 
County Superior Court, Docket No. CV-2014-201. 

Section 8.11.  Notices. 

All notices, certificates, requests, requisitions or other communications by the Town or 
MRRA pursuant to this Agreement shall be in writing and shall be sufficiently given and shall be 
deemed given when mailed by first class mail, postage prepaid, addressed as follows: 

If to the Town: 

Town Manager 
Town of Brunswick 
85 Union Street 
Brunswick, Maine 04011 

With a copy to: 

Joan Fortin, Esq. 
Bernstein Shur 
100 Middle Street 
P.O. Box 9729 
Portland, Maine  04104-5029 

If to MRRA: 

Executive Director 
MRRA 
15 Terminal Road 
Suite 200 
Brunswick, ME 04011 

With a copy to: 

John S. Kaminski 
 Drummond Woodsum 

84 Marginal Way, Suite 600 
Portland, ME  04101 

85



MRRA CEA— DRAFT 

16 

Either of the parties may, by notice given to the other, designate any further or different 
addresses to which subsequent notices, certificates, requests or other communications shall be 
sent hereunder. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Town and MRRA have caused this Agreement to be executed 
in their respective corporate names and their respective corporate seals to be hereunto affixed 
and attested by the duly authorized officers, all as of the date first above written. 

WITNESS: TOWN OF BRUNSWICK 

________________________________ By:_________________________________ 
Name: John S. Eldridge, III 
Its Town Manager 

WITNESS: MIDCOAST REGIONAL REDEVELOPMENT 
AUTHORITY 

________________________________ By:___________________________ 
Name:  Steven Levesque 
Its Executive Director 

86



MRRA CEA— DRAFT 

17 

Exhibit 1: Map of Districts 

87



O:\Finance\TIF Districts\MRRA TIFs\2016 CEA\MRRA CEA Order.docx 

TOWN OF BRUNSWICK, MAINE 
TOWN COUNCIL 

An Order Authorizing the Town Manager to Execute a Credit Enhancement Agreement with the 
Midcoast Regional Redevelopment Authority 

WHEREAS, the Midcoast Regional Redevelopment Authority (“MRRA”) is a public municipal 
corporation created by the Maine legislature for the purpose of assisting with the successful 
redevelopment of the properties located within the boundaries of the former Brunswick Naval Air Station 
(“BNAS”); and 

WHEREAS, The Town of Brunswick designated two tax increment financing (“TIF”) districts to assist 
with the redevelopment of BNAS:  (1) the 146-acre Brunswick Executive Airport II Municipal 
Development and Tax Increment Financing District (the “Executive Airport District”); and (2) the 542-
acre Brunswick Landing II Municipal Development and Tax Increment Financing District (the 
“Brunswick Landing District”) (and collectively the “TIF Districts”), in March 2013, and the State of 
Maine Department of Economic and Community Development (“DECD”) issued conditional approval of 
the TIF Districts on March 29, 2013; and  

WHEREAS, the Town adopted a Development Program for both TIF Districts in July 2013, and DECD 
granted full approval of the two TIF Districts and the Development Programs for both TIF Districts on 
October 24, 2013; and 

WHEREAS, MRRA has appealed the Town of Brunswick Assessor’s determination that certain MRRA 
properties are not exempt from property taxation; and  

WHEREAS, MRRA has filed a civil action against the Town now pending in the Cumberland County 
Superior Court, Docket NO. CV-2014-201 (“pending action”); and 

WHEREAS, as a resolution to the pending action, the MRRA and the Town negotiated a Memorandum 
of Agreement (“MOA”); and 

WHEREAS, under the terms of the MOA the Town agreed to amend the Development Programs for both 
TIF Districts and enter into a Credit Enhancement Agreement (“CEA”) with MRRA; and 

WHEREAS,	on	June	20,	2016,	the	Town	Council	adopted	the	First	Amendment	for	the	Brunswick	
Landing	II	Omnibus	Municipal	Development	and	Tax	Increment	Financing	District	and	the	First	
Amendment	for	the	Brunswick	Executive	Airport	II	Omnibus	Municipal	Development	and	Tax	
Increment	Financing	District;		

NOW THERFORE, BE IT ORDERED, the Town Manager is authorized to execute the CEA on behalf 
of the Town of Brunswick. 

Proposed to Town Council: June 6, 2016 
Adopted by Town Council: 

88



ITEM 71
BACK UP MATERIALS 



MEMORANDUM 

TO: Town Council 

FROM: Appointments Committee 

SUBJECT: Report for June 6th Appointments 

DATE: 05/30/2016 

The Appointments Committee, with Councilor Watson substituting for Councilor Dan Harris, 
interviewed several people and are making the following unanimous nominations:   
 
Conservation Commission 

Thomas Rumpf – reappointment with a term to expire on 05/01/2019 
 
Davis Fund Committee 

John Donovan - reappointment with a term to expire on 06/30/2019 
Don Kniseley– reappointment with a term to expire on 06/30/2019 

 
Personnel Board 

Marybeth Latti – moved up from alternate to full member with a remainder of her term of 
01/12/2018. 
Virginia Van Slyck – as alternate for a balance of a term to expire on 01/12/2017 

 
Recreation Commission 

Michael Lyne – reappointment with a term to expire on 07/01/2019 
Eric Foushee – reappointment with a term to expire on 07/01/2019 

 
Zoning Board of Appeals 

Arthur Boulay – new associate member with a balance of a term to expire on 07/01/2018 
 









































1 
 

 
BRUNSWICK TOWN COUNCIL 

Agenda 
June 6, 2016 

7:00 P.M. 
Council Chambers 

Town Hall 
85 Union Street 

 
Roll Call of Members 
 
Acknowledgement of Meeting Notice 
 
Pledge of Allegiance 
 
Adjustments to Agenda 
 
CONSENT AGENDA 

a) Approval of the Minutes of May 12, 2016 
b) Approval of the Minutes of May 16, 2016 
c) Approval of the Minutes of May 26, 2016 
d) Approval of a tax abatement relative to personal property for B & L Hardwood Floors 

 
Public Comments 
 
Correspondence 
 
COMMITTEE REPORTS 

• Bicycle and Pedestrian Advisory Committee 
• Brunswick Development Corporation 
• Human Rights Task Force 
• Recycling & Sustainability Committee 
• Rivers and Coastal Waters Commission 

 
MANAGER’S REPORT 
a) Bowdoin College - President Clayton Rose  
b) Project Tracking Report 
c) Election reminder for June 14th Primary and School Budget Validation Referendum 
d) School Project update 
e) Report on Pleasant Street traffic signals 
 
  



2 
 

 
PUBLIC HEARING 
 
65. The Town Council will hear public comments on special amusement license applications, 

and will take any appropriate action.  (Manager)  
 
Special Amusement 
MCM Corp     Fernando Saldano 
D/B/A: Pancho Villa 
164 Pleasant Street 
 
Lemongrass     Hung Alan Hoang 
D/B/A: Lemongrass 
212E Maine Street 

HEARING/ACTION 
 
66. The Town Council will hear public comments on amendments to the Zoning Ordinance 

relative to Chapter Four (Development Review), Sections 401 (Applicability) and 402 
(Development Review Classifications and Thresholds to Require Review of Filling and 
Earthmoving Activities within the NRPZ) on an emergency and regular basis, in addition 
to repealing the Moratorium on New Development in the Natural Resource Protection 
Zone as part of this public hearing, and will take any appropriate action. (Planning Board)   

HEARING/ACTION 
 
TABLED ITEM 
 
57. The Town Council will consider “A Resolution Expressing the Town Council’s Support 

for the Maine Department of Transportation’s Proposal to Replace the Frank J. Wood 
Bridge”, and will take any appropriate action.  (Manager)   

ACTION 
NEW BUSINESS 
 
67. The Town Council will consider adopting “An Ordinance Authorizing the Removal and 

Replacement of Exterior Trim Elements of the Brunswick Town Hall, with Total Project 
Costs Not to Exceed $200,000 (plus any other costs authorized hereunder), and Further 
Authorizing Issuance of Bonds and Notes in an Amount not to Exceed $200,000 (plus 
cost of issuance), plus any Additional Appropriation Authorized Hereunder,” and will 
take any appropriate action.  (Manager)    

ACTION 
 
68. The Town Council will consider setting a public hearing for June 20, 2016, on an 

amendment to the “First Amendment for the Brunswick Landing II Omnibus Municipal 
Development and Tax Increment Financing District,” and will take any appropriate 
action.  (Manager) 

ACTION 
 



3 
 

69. The Town Council will consider setting a public hearing for June 20, 2016, on an 
amendment to the “First Amendment for the Brunswick Executive Airport II Omnibus 
Municipal Development and Tax Increment Financing District,” and will take any 
appropriate action.  (Manager) 

ACTION 
 
70. The Town Council will hear information regarding the MRRA Credit Enhancement 

Agreement (CEA), and may take action at the June 20, 2016 meeting. (Manager) 
DISCUSSION 

 
71. The Town Council will consider appointments to the Town’s Boards and Committees, 

and will take any appropriate action.  (Appointments Committee) 
ACTION 

 
INDIVIDUALS NEEDING AUXILIARY AIDS FOR EFFECTIVE 

COMMUNICATION SHOULD CONTACT  
THE TOWN MANAGER’S OFFICE AT 725-6659 (TDD 725-5521) 

  



4 
 

Brunswick Town Council 
Agenda  

June 6, 2016 
Council Notes and Suggested Motions 

 
CONSENT AGENDA 

a) Approval of the Minutes of May 12, 2016:  A copy of the minutes is included in your 
packet. 

b) Approval of the Minutes of May 16, 2016:  A copy of the minutes is included in your 
packet. 

c) Approval of the Minutes of May 26, 2016:  A copy of the minutes is included in your 
packet. 

d) Approval of a tax abatement relative to personal property for B & L Hardwood Floors:  
This item is for the Council to approve a tax abatement for personal property assessed in 
error.  A copy of a memo from the Assessor is included in your packet. 

 
The Council has the option to remove any item from the Consent Agenda to be considered 
separately. 
 

Suggested motion: 
Motion to approve the Consent Agenda 

 
Public Comments 
 
COMMITTEE REPORTS 

• Bicycle and Pedestrian Advisory Committee 
• Brunswick Development Corporation 
• Human Rights Task Force 
• Recycling & Sustainability Committee 
• Rivers and Coastal Waters Commission 

 
Councilors representing the Council on the above committees that have recently met will 
provide brief updates.  If there are any Committee updates beyond those listed, Councilors 
may also share them with the Council and public. 
 
MANAGER’S REPORT 
 
A copy of a memo from Manager Eldridge providing an overview of the Manager’s Report is 
included in your packet. 
 

a) Bowdoin College -  President Clayton Rose:  President Rose will address the Council to 
discuss his first year at Bowdoin College and update the Council on what has been 
happening. 

  



5 
 

 
b) Project Tracking Report:  The Council will receive this monthly report on projects being 

tracked.  There has also been a desire to hold a workshop on the projects.  We are 
suggesting June 23rd, to be preceded by the year-end special meeting.  A copy of the 
project list is included in your packet. 

 
c) Election reminder for June 14th Primary and School Budget Validation Referendum:  

Absentee ballots are available in the Town Clerk’s office until Thursday, June 9th.  On 
Thursday, the office will be open until 7:00 p.m.  (Normal hours are 8:30 a.m. to 4:30 
p.m.) On June 14th the polls are open 7:00 a.m. to 8:00 p.m. at the Junior High School, 65 
Columbia Avenue.  There are two local questions on the ballot - one to vote on the school 
budget and the other to ask voters if they wish to continue or discontinue the referendum 
for at least the next three years.  

 
d) School Project update:  This item is to update the Council and public on the status of the 

proposed new school.  The School Board voted on May 24th to seek additional 
information from the architect.  With the time needed to receive information, there will 
not be adequate time to have all information prepared for a vote on the new school this 
November.  Additional timeframes will be forthcoming this summer. 

 
e) Report on Pleasant Street traffic signals:  This item is in response to a request from 

Councilor Perreault for additional information on the timing at the Pleasant Street traffic 
signals.  A copy of a memo with the summary information is included in your packet. 

 
PUBLIC HEARING 
 
65. This item is the required public hearing on special amusement license applications for 

Pancho Villa and Lemongrass.  Pancho Villa is requesting live bands and DJs. 
Lemongrass would like to have live soft music for special occasions such as private 
birthday parties.  Personal property taxes for both applicants are paid in full. Copies of 
the public hearing notice and the applications are included in your packet. 
 
Suggested motion: 
Motion to approve special amusement license applications for Pancho Villa, located at 
164 Pleasant Street and Lemongrass, located at 212E Maine Street. 

 
66. This item, sponsored by the Planning Board, is the required public hearing on proposed 

amendments to address State shoreland zoning requirements not included in the Zoning 
Ordinance.  The Council adopted an emergency moratorium preventing any development 
in the NRPZ so that the Planning Board and staff could develop amendments to bring the 
Zoning Ordinance into compliance with the State requirements.  After two workshops, 
the Planning Board approved the amendments being proposed.  With pending projects 
stalled by the moratorium, the Council in the public hearing notice advertised that the 
amendment be enacted on both an emergency and regular basis, so action can be taken on 
the 6th to repeal the moratorium and enact the amendments.  There is one additional step 
that needs to take place with the Zoning amendments after they are adopted, which is to 



6 
 

get approval from the DEP.  The repealing of the moratorium would be effective once 
that approval occurs.  Should DEP not approve the amendments, the moratorium may 
need to be extended.  Copies of an updated memo from the Planning Department, the 
emergency moratorium, the draft amendments, and a presentation are included in your 
packet. 

 
Suggested Motion: 

 
Option for the Council if they choose to vote this evening - suggested motion:  
Motion to suspend the Council Rules to allow the Council to vote on this item at this 
meeting. 

 
Suggested motion:  
Motion to adopt amendments to the Zoning Ordinance relative to Chapter Four 
(Development Review), Sections 401 (Applicability) and 402 (Development Review 
Classifications and Thresholds to Require Review of Filling and Earthmoving Activities 
within the NRPZ), on an emergency and regular basis, and to repeal the Moratorium on 
New Development in the Natural Resource Protection Zone.  Both sections of this motion 
will be effective immediately upon the approval of the Zoning ordinance changes by the 
Department of Environmental Protection as required by state law. 

 
TABLED ITEM 
 
57. This item, tabled at your last meeting, comes back for the Council to consider adopting a 

resolution regarding the Frank J. Wood Bridge.  After public outreach on the proposed 
bridge replacement, it was thought that the two towns may wish to go on record in 
support of MDOT’s recommendation.  It was also suggested that there be a joint design 
advisory committee to work with MDOT to incorporate enhancements and minor 
modifications to the design.  The resolution will be to support the MDOT’s selected 
option, with modifications as worked out by the design advisory committee and MDOT.  
There have been changes to the original draft resolution.  In particular, the draft in your 
packet adds an expression of the Town’s desire to be named as a “consulting party” in the 
process referred to as the Section 106 historic preservation review, required for projects 
that receive federal funding.  Copies of a memo from Manager Eldridge, the draft 
resolution and information on Section 106 are included in your packet. 

 
Suggested motion: 
Motion to adopt the revised “Resolution Expressing the Town Council’s Support for the 
Maine Department of Transportation’s Proposal to Replace the Frank J. Wood Bridge.” 

 
NEW BUSINESS 
 
67. This item comes back to the Council after the required public hearing held at the last 

meeting.  It is to consider adopting on “An Ordinance Authorizing the Removal and 
Replacement of Exterior Trim Elements of the Brunswick Town Hall, with Total Project 
Costs Not to Exceed $200,000 (plus any other costs authorized hereunder), and Further 



7 
 

Authorizing Issuance of Bonds and Notes in an Amount not to Exceed $200,000 (plus 
cost of issuance), plus any Additional Appropriation Authorized Hereunder.”  At the time 
the Town acquired the McLellan Building from Bowdoin College, it was clear that the 
Town would need to address the building’s trim, as most of it was, and remains, in poor 
condition.  In 2014, to better assess the potential cost of replacing the trim and repairing 
the damage, the trim on two first floor windows was replaced.  The wood was replaced 
with a composite material.  During installation, water damage and rot were discovered 
behind the trim, necessitating additional repairs to the sheathing and vapor barrier.  
Warren Construction Group, LLC (Warren Construction), replaced the window trim and 
developed a specification for repairing the other windows.  At this time staff is 
recommending this repair work be done this year, and be done through a bond ordinance.  
Copies of a memo from Manager Eldridge, a cost estimate draft ordinance, and photos 
are included in your packet. 

 
Suggested motion: 
Motion to adopt “An Ordinance Authorizing the Removal and Replacement of Exterior 
Trim Elements of the Brunswick Town Hall, with Total Project Costs Not to Exceed 
$200,000 (plus any other costs authorized hereunder), and Further Authorizing Issuance 
of Bonds and Notes in an Amount not to Exceed $200,000 (plus cost of issuance), plus 
any Additional Appropriation Authorized Hereunder.” 

 
68. This item is for the Council to consider setting a public hearing for June 20, 2016, on 

amendments to the “First Amendment for the Brunswick Landing II Omnibus Municipal 
Development and Tax Increment Financing District.” There is an extensive packet of 
information on this item.  The packet pages are numbered.  The relevant documents and 
corresponding page numbers can be found in the memo that starts on the first page of the 
TIF packet. Copies of information for items 68, 69 and 70 are combined in your packet. 

 
Suggested motion: 
Motion to set a public hearing for June 20, 2016, on amendments to the “First 
Amendment for the Brunswick Landing II Omnibus Municipal Development and Tax 
Increment Financing District.” 

 
69. This item is for the Council to consider setting a public hearing for June 20, 2016, on 

amendments to the “First Amendment for the Brunswick Executive Airport II Omnibus 
Municipal Development and Tax Increment Financing District.”  There is an extensive 
packet of information on this item.  The packet pages are numbered.  The relevant 
documents and corresponding page numbers can be found in the memo that starts on the 
first page of the TIF packet.  Copies of information for items 68, 69 and 70 are combined 
in your packet. 

 
Suggested motion: 
Motion to set a public hearing for June 20, 2016, on amendments to the “First 
Amendment for the Brunswick Executive Airport II Omnibus Municipal Development 
and Tax Increment Financing District,”  

  



8 
 

 
70. This item is for the Council to hear information regarding changes to the MRRA Credit 

Enhancement Agreement (CEA).  There will be no action this evening, but it will come 
back at the June 20th meeting for adoption.  There is an extensive packet of information 
on this item.  The packet pages are numbered.  The relevant documents and 
corresponding page numbers can be found in the memo that starts on the first page of the 
TIF packet. Copies of information for items 68, 69 and 70 are combined in your packet. 

 
Suggested motion: 
There is no motion required for this item at this meeting. 

 
71. At this time the Appointments Committee will make nominations to fill vacancies on 

Town Boards and Committees.  Copies of the Committee’s report and the applications 
are included in your packet. 

 
Suggested Motion: 
Nominations will be made, with no seconds required, and the Council will then vote on 
the nominations. 
 
Suggested Motion: 

 Motion to adjourn the meeting. 
 


	Agenda Packet - June 6, 2016
	ca a  yes
	ca a May 12 2016 min ph budget
	ca b  yes
	ca b May 16, 2016 min
	ca c  yes
	ca c May 26 2016 budget adopt min
	ca d  yes
	CA d  B & L Hardwood Floors
	Managers report memo separator
	Memo Manager's Report 060616
	mr a  no
	mr b  yes
	mr c  no
	mr d  no
	mr e  yes
	mr e Memo Pleasant Street Signal Sync 060616
	65  yes
	65 special amuse app_20160524152038
	66  yes
	67  yes
	67 FULL trim town hall
	68 69 70  yes
	68 69 70 Memo MRRA TIF Packet 060116
	71  yes
	71 memo applications for boards
	71 applications for boards
	2016 Boulay A ZBA_20160425101240
	2016 Foushee Eric Rec_20160511134249
	2016 Donovan J Davis F_20160314100901
	2016 kniseley davis fund_20160415071203
	2016 Lyne M Rec_20160516082101
	2016 Rumpf T Conserv_20160422102003
	2016 Van Slyck Pers_20160331104539

	66 combined all materials.pdf
	66  a ZOamendmentmemoTownCouncil_6.6.16_FINAL
	66 b moratorium
	66 c Brunswick_FillingandEarthMoving Ordinance Edits for Council_PublicHearing
	66 d NRPZ_Ch1000Districts_Council.docx
	66 e NRPZpresentation_Council_6 6 2016


	Agenda - June 6, 2016



